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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting
Period"), the Group was principally engaged in three businesses: (i)
pharmaceutical products business; (i) finance leasing business; (iii)
genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services (ceased business
since 1 June 2024 and was reclassified as a discontinued operation).
The three businesses are stated as below:

Pharmaceutical Products Business

Since August 2022, Fujian Rui Chuang Health Industry Company
Limited* (fB2ImBlEREEZE AR A7) ("Fujian Rui Chuang”), the
Company'’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, has remained to be
the core production centre as well as the exclusive sales channel
of the Group's own developed pharmaceutical products during the
Reporting Period. The very substantial increase in the general cost
as well as a shortage in the volume of supply of traditional Chinese
herbal materials in the PRC since the start of the year of 2023 which
has adversely affected the gross profit margin as well as the volume
of the sales of our own developed pharmaceutical products continued
in the Reporting Period. In view of the continuous deterioration in
gross profit margin and the gradual decrease in the sales volume of
our own developed pharmaceutical products, the management has
decided to downsize the production capacity of Fujian Rui Chuang in
2025, as such a write-off of RMB1,780,000 and RMB731,000 of Fujian
Rui Chuang's property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
respectively have been made.

Fujian Zhixin Medicine Co., Limited* ({8 2 215 & %45 R 2 7)) ("Fujian
Zhixin"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
acts as a sales agent nationwide for herbal medical materials,
Chinese herbal medicine, Chinese patent medicine, chemical drug
preparations, antibiotic preparations, biochemical pharmaceuticals,
biological products, healthcare products and food products.

During the Reporting Period, the revenue derived from the
pharmaceutical products business decreased by 15.39% to
approximately RMB85.05 million (2023: approximately RMB100.52
million). The profit derived from the pharmaceutical products business
decreased to RMB3.68 million for the Reporting Period, representing a
decrease of approximately 81.43% as compared to RMB19.82 million
for the corresponding period in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED M

Finance Leasing Business

The operation of the finance leasing business has been centralized
in an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Union
Development Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (B
AEEMEMECRYNERLQF)("Union Development”). The
revenue derived from finance leasing business of the Group for the
Reporting Period was RMBO0.17 million (2023: RMB7.25 million) as
most of the subsisting finance leasing contracts have expired and
promptly settled before the beginning of the year 2024 and that the
Group, having adopted a more prudent and cautious approach in
the evaluation and granting of new finance leasing loans, had not
entered into any new finance leasing contracts in the Reporting
Period. Hence, the Group had nil customer as at 31 December 2024
(31 December 2023: 2 customers).

Business Model and customer Profiles

The Group's finance leasing business mainly provides financial leasing
services of medical devices and rehabilitation equipment which are
complimentary to the Group's existing pharmaceutical products
business. The business of the lessees of our finance leases were
generally in the medical industry, pharmaceutical industry and public
infrastructure industry. However, the Group's finance leasing services
are not intended to be limited to any particular business or industry.
Further, the products manufactured by the leased medical devices
and rehabilitation equipment are not related to the business of the
Group. The Group also does not preclude the possibility of providing
financial leasing services for other types of devices and equipments.

credit Risk Assessment

The potential lessee will first approach Union Development to
confirm whether the equipment or devices fall within the scope in
which financial leasing can be arranged. The management of Union
Development will conduct site visits and carry out due diligence
on the potential lessee, the equipment or devices proposed to be
leased, assess the risks of the potential lease and followed by seeking
the initial approval from the Group. The Group will further review,
inter alia, the credit quality of the potential lessee, the purpose and
value of the assets proposed to be leased, the financial conditions of
the potential lessee, the ultimate beneficial owner(s) of the potential
lessee and other relevant factors to assess the repayment capability
of the potential lessee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Approval Process

If the Group approves the finance lease in principle, the management
of Union Development will further negotiate with the lessee on the
terms of the transaction which include, inter alia, the lease terms, the
interest rate, the option to purchase the equipment or device upon
expiry of the lease term, etc. The Group will further check and seek
professional advice on the compliance requirements and will comply
with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), including making timely disclosures and
obtaining Shareholder’s approval, if necessary.

The Group has established several departments and committee
including, the business department, the risk department, the finance
department and the review committee to implement division of
work (approval, release and review of the lease). The Group has
also established lease approval procedures, internal guidelines
and standard forms for the finance lease business, including the
due diligence report on the lessees, lease approval checklist and
lease evaluation checklists. Further, the management has also
formulated pre-lease and post-lease administrative measures for
various departments of Union Development to follow up, including
the administration of guarantees and assets charges, monitoring
of overdue payment, handling of leased assets and post-lease
agreement follow ups.

The Board will be responsible for the final approval of material finance
lease agreements and delegate one of the executive Directors to
liaise with Union Development and directly monitor the finance lease
projects with the responsible staff of Union Development, including
the review of the due diligence report on the lessees, preparation of
the finance lease documents, examination of the assets to be leased
and registration of the charges thereto (if necessary), collection of the
rental income, review of the risks and assets portfolio of the finance
leases and regular site visits and reviews of the lessees. The Group
also regularly monitors its working capital ratio, quick ratio and other
relevant financial ratios in order to drive its finance leasing business
forward as well as to balance the risks and return of the Group and its
sustainability.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED M

Finance Lease Portfolio

The Group has not entered into any new finance leasing agreements
during the Reporting Period and hence the weighted average of the
term of finance leases entered into by the Group is not applicable for
the Reporting Period (2023: 1.6 years). In the past, in the event the
lessee breaches the finance lease contract, the Group has the right to
use or to sell the leased assets and to call for full or partial repayment
of the outstanding balance of finance lease receivables.

The Company will continue to manage and monitor its finance leasing
business with a prudent approach in order to maximise the long-term
interests of the Shareholders.

Genetic Testing and Molecular Diagnostic Services

On 31 May 2024, the disposal of 59% shareholding in Zentrogene
Bioscience Laboratory Limited (“Zentrogene”) at a cash consideration
of HK$22 million (the “Share Disposal”) was completed and has
become a 41%-owned associate of the Group. As explained in the
announcement dated 17 April 2024, the Board of the Company, after
a review of the performance and strategic positioning of Zentrogene,
believes that a partial divestiture would enable the management to
reallocate efforts and resources towards its core pharmaceutical
business and that this divestment would also provide additional
working capital for the Group.

Following the divestment of Zentrogene on 31 May 2024, the genetic
testing and molecular diagnostic services has been discontinued
as the main business segment of the Group with effect from 1 June
2024.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to the year of 2025, sustainable economic growth
in the PRC remains to be one of the key tones of macroeconomic
policies. The Group will study and evaluate the policies and
proactively adapt to the changes, consolidate and enhance its
competitive advantage and seriously looking for new promising
business investment opportunities in the PRC in particular.
However, the Group still expects that our business will continue to
face numerous challenges as the actual pace and progress of the
post-Covid Epidemic economic recovery in China has not been as
promising and encouraging as originally expected and forecasted
during the Reporting Period. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to rigorously implement our cost control measures, maintain a flexible
and prudent approach and allocate resources in an appropriate
manner to strengthen its revenue base and optimise its business and
financial performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For pharmaceutical products, the Group expects to achieve a stable
sales revenue. The Group will continue to expand its sales networks
in order to enhance its market penetration rate. However, as a result
of the significant increase in the cost of traditional Chinese herbal
materials in China, the gross profit margin of our own pharmaceutical
products will continue to be adversely affected as in the Reporting
Period.

For finance leasing business, the expected financial return from
interests to be earned in granting financial leasing loans in China
was not attractive and sometimes not well justified with the inherent
risks of the business. Hence, the Group will closely monitor the
development of the finance leasing market as well as the trend of
the interest rates in China and will continue to take a prudent and
cautious approach in the evaluation and the granting of new finance
leasing loans in the year of 2025.

For genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services business,
following the partial divestiture of the Company’s investment in
Zentrogene, adding the fact that the Company has been unable to
search/identify promising new business or investment opportunity in
this business segment, the Company has decided to discontinue this
as the main business segment of the Group with effect from 1 June
2024.

The Group will continue to closely monitor the market developments,
seek potential opportunities in existing business segments, explore
and expand into other industries or geographical regions at the
appropriate time and enhance the Group's future development. The
Group believes that the diversification of its business will facilitate
the Group's long-term development and business sustainability and
provide better returns for its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group generated a total
revenue from continuing operations of approximately RMB85.22
million, representing a decrease of approximately 20.92% as
compared to approximately RMB107.77 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily attributed to the
decrease in both the sales of self- manufactured pharmaceutical
products as well as the sales of pharmaceutical products of other
non-competing pharmaceutical companies, and the substantial
decrease in interest income derived from the financial leasing
business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED M

Distribution Costs

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the distribution costs of the
Group's continuing operations were approximately RMB6.25 million
(2023: approximately RMB0.78 million), representing an increase
of approximately RMB5.47 million, most of which represented the
distribution costs incurred by the Beijing Hangyang Group during the
Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses for the Group’s continuing operations
amounted to approximately RMB26.05 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately RMB13.39 million), representing
an increase of approximately RMB12.66 million, most of which
represented the administrative expenses incurred by the Beijing
Hangyang Group during the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit and gross profit margin of the Group’s continuing
operations for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately RMB16.86 million and 19.78% respectively (2023:
approximately RMB29.22 million and 27.12% respectively). Gross
profit decreased by approximately RMB12.36 million as compared
with the corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly attributable
to the decrease in both the sales volume of self-manufactured
pharmaceutical products and the significantly lower gross profit
margin recorded as a direct result of the very substantial increase in
the general costs of traditional Chinese herbal materials in the PRC in
the Reporting Period, and the substantial decrease in interest income
derived from the financial leasing business which contributed a nearly
100% gross profit margin.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group's continuing operations for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB2.20 million
(2023: approximately RMB2.03 million). The finance costs mainly
represented the interest expenses attributable to the convertible
notes issued by the Company on 9 February 2022 and the interest-
bearing borrowings.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Profit for the Reporting Period

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB4.89 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately 73.75% as compared with the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB18.63
million in the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease in both the sales volume of self-
manufactured pharmaceutical products and the decrease in the
resulting gross profit, and the very substantial decrease in interest
income derived from the Finance Leasing business in the Reporting
Period.

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB3.37 cent and RMB3.37 cent
respectively (2023: approximately RMB14.52 cent and RMB12.73 cent
respectively).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB340.43 million (2023: approximately RMB332.47
million) and most cash and cash equivalents were denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.

Capital Structure and Gearing Ratio

The consolidation of the issued and unissued existing shares in the
share capital of the Company (the “Share Consolidation”) on the
basis of every twenty-five (25) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each prior
to the Share Consolidation (the “Existing Share(s)”) into one (1)
ordinary share of HK$0.25 each after the Share Consolidation (the
“Consolidated Share(s)") became effective on 13 August 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, the total issued shares of the Company
was 152,898,695 Consolidated Shares (as at 31 December 2023:
3,210,222,500 Existing Shares).

As at 31 December 2024, the share capital and equity attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately RMB35.53
million and approximately RMB321.99 million respectively (2023:
approximately RMB29.87 million and approximately RMB264.45
million respectively).
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The Group had reviewed the capital structure by using gearing ratio.
The gearing ratio represents the total debt, which includes trade
and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings, lease liabilities and
convertible notes of the Group, divided by total equity of the Group.
The gearing ratio of the Group was approximately 32.97% as at 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately 39.23%).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

For the Reporting Period, the Group conducted most of its business
transactions in Renminbi. The Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or negative impacts on its operations as a result
of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates. As at 31 December
2024, the Group did not have any foreign exchange contracts, interest
or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging purpose.
Therefore, the Group was not exposed to any material interest and
exchange risks during the Reporting Period. The management,
however, will monitor and consider hedging foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any other
significant capital commitment (2023: nil).

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant contingent liabilities as at the date of this report (2023: nil).

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
INVESTMENTS

Acquisition of 51% equity interests of Beijing Hangyang
Health Technology Co., Ltd. (ItFfF¥REEHBRLF)
(“Beijing Hangyang")

On 1 March 2024, Beijing Bafuluo Technology Co., Ltd. it REE K2
B AR A A], an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as the purchaser, entered into a sales and purchase agreement with
Mr. Xie Haijing (%% =), as the vendor, pursuant to which the vendor
agreed to sell and the purchaser agreed to purchase, the sales shares
representing 51% equity interests in Beijing Hangyang, at a cash
consideration of RMB33.15 million. The principal activities of Beijing
Hangyang are research, production and sales of health products,
functional foods and skincare products in the field of soft capsule
dosage form. The management considered that such acquisition
will enable the Group to diversify the product portfolio, widen the
geographical coverage of products and lower the concentration
risk in the procurement of raw materials of the pharmaceutical and
healthcare products business. The acquisition was completed on 14
May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For further details of the aforesaid acquisition, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 1 March 2024 and 18 March
2024.

Disposal of 59% equity interests of Zentrogene
Bioscience Laboratory Limited (“Zentrogene”)

Sanai International Investment Company Limited (“Sanai
International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the
vendor, entered into a sales and purchase agreement with Merit
Investment Holding Limited, as the purchaser, pursuant to which the
vendor has agreed to sell and the purchaser has agreed to purchase,
the sales shares representing 59% equity interests in Zentrogene for
a cash consideration of HK$22 million upon the terms and conditions
set out in the sales and purchase agreements. The Board believed
that a partial divestiture would enable the management to reallocate
effort and resources towards its core pharmaceutical business and
provide additional working capital for the Group. The disposal was
completed on 31 May 2024.

For further details of the aforesaid disposal, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 April 2024.

Save for those acquisition and disposals disclosed in this report, there
were no significant acquisition and disposal of investments during the
Reporting Period.

As at 31 December 2024, none of each individual investment held by
the Group constituted 5% or above of the total assets of the Group
and thus no significant investment was held by the Group.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant
acquisition and disposal of investments held during the Reporting
Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS,
ACQUISITIONS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments, acquisitions and capital assets during the
Reporting Period.
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NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES

For the Reporting Period, the Group employed approximately 164
employees (2023: 68 employees) with total staff cost of approximately
RMB16.82 million (2023: approximately RMB8.14 million) from
continuing operations. The Group determined staff remuneration
with reference to the prevailing market salary scales, individual
qualifications and performance. Remuneration packages, including
performance bonuses and entitlements to share options, are
reviewed on a regular basis.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group had
no forfeited contributions under its retirement benefit scheme which
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, there was no
significant capital expenditure of the Group for property, plant and
equipment.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other assets of the Group have
been pledged as security for the borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has charged the entire issued
share capital of Sanai International, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as security (the “Share Charges”) for the convertible
notes issued by the Group in February 2022 (the “Convertible
Notes") and the Supplemental Deed executed on 3 March 2023. On
23 April 2024, the Convertible Notes was converted and 612,244,897
new ordinary shares were issued and allotted at the adjusted
conversion price of HK$0.098 per share, and the Share Charges was
released accordingly.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 13 January 2022, the Company as the issuer, Mr. Zhi Shao
Huan (“Mr. Zhi") and Mr. Jiang Heng Guang (“Mr. Jiang”) as the
subscribers (collectively, the “Subscribers”), and Fujian Sanai and
Fujian Zhixin as the obligors (collectively, the “Obligors”), entered
into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which, the Company has
agreed to issue, and Mr. Zhi and Mr. Jiang have agreed to subscribe
for, the Convertible Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$72,000,000 at the interest rate of 3% per annum and at initial

conversion price of HK$0.119 per share. The bank accounts of Fujian
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sanai and Fujian Zhixin were charged as security of the Convertible
Notes, and the entire issued share capital of Sanai International was
charged in favour of Mr. Zhi and Mr. Jiang. Completion of the issue of
Convertible Notes took place on 9 February 2022.

On 3 March 2023, the Company has entered into the Supplemental
Deed with the Subscribers and the Obligors to (a) amend the
conversion price to HK$0.098 per conversion share; (b) extend the
maturity date for 3 years to the fourth anniversary of the date of
issue of the Convertible Notes (i.e. 9 February 2026); (c) amend the
terms relating to the interest payment date due to extension of the
maturity date; (d) execute the deed of release of Account Charge; (e)
execute the supplemental deeds to the Share Charges as security
in the manner and on the terms set forth therein; and (f) make such
consequential amendments to the instrument due to the foregoing
changes. As at the date of the Supplemental Deed, the Company
has redeemed a total of HK$12,000,000 of the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes and paid all the interest accrued thereon. The
total outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes as at 31
December 2023 was HK$60,000,000.

On 23 April 2024, the total outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes were converted into ordinary shares at the
adjusted conversion price of HK$0.098 per share, resulting in the
issue and allotment of 612,244,897 ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the net proceeds have been utilised
according to the intention as stated in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 January 2022.

Further details of the Convertible Notes and the Supplemental Deed
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 13 January
2022, 26 January 2022, 31 January 2022, 9 February 2022, 9 February
2023, 3 March 2023 and 20 March 2023 respectively.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate
governance practice, such that the interests of our shareholders,
customers, employees as well as the long term development of the
Company can be safeguarded.

The culture of the Group is that the directors and management of
the Group are required to develop its business and operation within
the boundary of the applicable laws and regulations and the general
standards and expectations of the business community and society.
The Group is required to operate based on sound governance and
utmost integrity and prohibit all kinds of damaging, corruptive,
collusive, unethical and discriminative acts.

The Company’s corporate governance structure includes the Board
and three board committees under the Board, namely the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “"Nomination Committee”). The Board stipulates the terms of
reference of all board committees and specifies therein clearly the
powers and responsibilities of the board committees.

The Company has complied with the provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year ended 31 December 2024, except for deviation from
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as further elaborated below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s own code
for securities transactions by its Directors. In addition, the Company
has made specific enquiries with all Directors and all Directors
confirmed that during the year ended 31 December 2024, they had
fully complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2024, the Board consisted of eight members,
with five executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Chengging, Mr.
Yuan Chaoyang, Professor Zhang Rongging, Mr. She Hao and Mr.
Xie Haijing, three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun, Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex and Ms. Tsui Yuen
Tan. All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of professional ethics
and personal integrity. The biographical details of each Director are
set out in the section headed “Directors’ Biographies” of this
annual report. There is no relationship among the Directors.

The Board is responsible for planning and overseeing the overall
development and management of the Group with the objective of
enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board is responsible for the
approval and monitoring of the overall strategies and policies of the
Group, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the Company’s performance and oversight of the works of
management.

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and report to them
at general meetings. The day-to-day operations of the Group are
delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to review the overall
strategy and to monitor the operation as well as the financial
performance of the Company. The Chairman focuses on the
Company's strategy and is responsible for chairing and managing the
efficient operation of the Board and ensuring that all key issues are
considered by the Board in a timely manner. Notice of at least 14 days
has been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and the
Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda whenever
they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are dispatched
in full to all Directors within a reasonable time before the meeting.
Directors have to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in
any proposals or transactions to be considered at Board meetings
and abstain from voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board
meetings are circulated to Directors for comment within reasonable
time prior to confirmation. The Board meets at least 4 times a year, at
approximately quarterly intervals, to review the financial performance
and results of each period, material investments and other matters
of the Company that require the resolution of the Board. Conference
call may be used to improve attendance when individual Director
cannot attend the meeting in person. Opinions of the independent
non- executive Directors are actively sought by the Company if they
are unable to attend the meeting in person.
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Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of
the Company (“Company Secretary”). All Directors have access to
Board papers and related materials, and are provided with adequate
information in a timely manner. This enables the Board to make
informed decision on matters placed before it.

In respect of the corporate governance functions, during the year
under review, the Board formulated the terms of reference on the
corporate governance duties and performed corporate governance
duties in accordance with the terms of reference. The Board mainly
performed the following corporate governance duties during the year
under review:

e reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made recommendations;

e reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

e  reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices
to ensure compliance with applicable legal and regulatory

requirements,

e developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
applicable to directors and employees; and

e reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD ATTENDANCE

Corporate Governance Report

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had convened 5

Board meetings and 2 general meetings.

Attendance records of the Directors are as follows:

Directors
B=E

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengging

Professor Zhang Rongaing

Mr. She Hao

Mr. Yuan Chaoyang

Mr. Xie Haijing (Appointed with effect from
28 June 2024)

Mr. Gao Borui (Resigned with effect from
28 June 2024)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Xiu Yuan (Resigned with effect from
28 June 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex
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Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan (Appointed with effect from &t Z+ (8 —ZE - W4

10 December 2024)

Mr. Zhang Ruigen (Resigned with effect from

10 December 2024)

T-ATHEZE)
RInREE(B =T -MF
+=—A+H#HE)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

In respect of the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company shall be
separated and shall not be performed by the same individual. During
the Reporting Period, there is no Chairman of the Company and Mr.
She Hao is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company. On
the other hand, there are three independent non-executive Directors
in the Board, all of them are independent from the Company and
the Board believes that there is a sufficient check and balance
in the Board. Therefore, the Board considers the Company has
provided sufficient protection to its interests and the interests of
its shareholders. The Board shall review the structure from time to
time and shall consider appropriate adjustments should suitable
circumstances arise.
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Throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, which require at least
three independent non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. All independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed their independence, as required under Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, to the Company and the Board considers that all
independent non-executive Directors have satisfied the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. All independent non-executive Directors attended
the annual general meeting held on 21 June 2024 and the majority
of independent non-executive Directors attended the extraordinary
general meeting held on 9 August 2024.

All non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for a term between one and two years. The
appointment contracts will be renewed automatically every year
and they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by
shareholders in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company. The responsibilities of the non-executive Directors include,
without limitation: regular attendance at meetings of the Board
and of board committees of which they are members; provision of
independent opinions at meetings of the Board and other board
committees; resolution of or taking the lead where there is potential
conflict of interests; service on the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company, and
scrutinizing and monitoring the performance of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in August 2013 and such Board Diversity Policy
states the method by which the board diversity can be reached.

To the knowledge of the Company, the fact that the Board has
become gradually more and more diversified has helped the
Company achieved its strategic objectives and has provided support
for the Company'’s sustainable development.
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The Company aims at achieving board diversity by taking into
consideration of various factors including age, gender, culture and
educational background, race, professional experience, knowledge
and other qualifications of the members of the Board. When the
Company determines the best combination for the members of the
Board, it will, from time to time, take into consideration of its own
business model and specific needs.

The Nomination Committee has desighed measurable goals according
to four major aspects (namely, age, professional qualification, term
of service and independence) for the purposes of implementing
the Board Diversity Policy and considered that it has tried its best
endeavour to achieve such goals during the year under review. The
relevant goals will be reviewed from time to time so as to ensure
its appropriateness and its progress for achieving such goals. The
Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from
time to time (if appropriate) to ensure that such policy continues to
be effective.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprises 5 executive Directors
and 3 independent non-executive Directors, and the male Directors
represented approximately 87.5% of the Board and the female
Directors represented approximately 12.5% of the Board. The
Company has achieved the gender diversity requirement at Board
level pursuant to Rules 13.92 of the Listing Rules, which also sets as
the Company's internal target.

As at 31 December 2024, the male employees represented
approximately 59.76% of the all employees and the female employees
represented approximately 40.24% of the all employees. At overall
workforce level, the Company also takes into key consideration
of relevant measurements such as labour supply, staff turnover,
skill and experience, educational and professional background and
considers that the current gender diversity ratio commensurate with
the business model and operational practice of the Group.

DIRECTORS' TRAINING

Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code stipulates that Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remain informed and relevant.
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It is our pratice that for newly appointed directors, they will receive
induction and training upon appointment, to ensure that he/she has
a proper understanding of the Group’s operations and business and
is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statue and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Group's business and governance policies. Each of Mr. Xie Haijing
and Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan (all being directors appointed during the
financial year ended 31 December 2024) has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D on the date of each of their appointments
and such directors confirmed that they understood their obligations
as directors of the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development activities by way of attending trainings and/or reading
materials relevant to the Company's business or to the Directors’
duties and responsibilities. A summary of professional trainings
received by the Directors for the Reporting Period according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chen Chengging RER B B 5 A
Professor Zhang Rongaing KRB

Mr. She Hao REFE

Mr. Yuan Chaoyang REBGEE

Mr. Xie Haijing GRS E
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun ENEEE 6

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex AREABE ST

Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan R F Lt
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Any distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company and the distribution shall achieve
continuity, stability and sustainability. The recommendation of the
payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board and the Board shall take into account, inter alia, the Group’s
earnings per share, the reasonable return in investment of the
investors and the shareholders in order to provide incentive to them
to continue to support the Group in their long-term development, the
financial conditions and business plan of the Group, and the market
sentiment and circumstances. The dividend policy will be reviewed
from time to time and there is no assurance that a dividend will be
proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY

The Company has maintained and renewed Directors” and Officers’
liabilities insurance for all the Directors and the senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The insurance
covers them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred
arising out of the corporate activities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The monitoring and assessment of certain governance matters are
delegated to the three Board committees, each of which operates
under its defined terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The composition of
the Audit Committee and their attendance records for the year ended
31 December 2024 were as follows:
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Number of
Directors attendance of
BEE IR
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairmar) BB (EE) 3/3
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun REGEHI 3/3
Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan (Appointed with effect from A4 t(B-L_MWF+-_A+H
10 December 2024) EERE) 0/0
Mr. Zhang Ruigen (Resigned with effect from wmREE(BEZZT_WF+=A+H
10 December 2024) BHT) 1/3
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Each member can bring to the committee his valuable experience
in reviewing financial statements and evaluating significant internal
control and financial issues of the Company as each of them
possesses management experience in the accounting profession or
commercial sectors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Company’s financial reporting system, financial
statements, risk management and internal control procedures. The
Audit Committee also monitors the appointment of the Company’s
external independent auditor. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee are available for inspection on the website of
the Company at www.1889hk.com and the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the year
under review, three meetings were held and the Audit Committee has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function.
The Audit Committee together with the management of the Company
also reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed, among other things, the risk management and
internal control systems and the financial reporting matters of the
Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Remuneration Committee and their attendance
records for the year ended 31 December 2024 were as follows:
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Number of

Directors attendance of
BEE HERE
Executive Directors BITES
Professor Zhang Rongaing RSB 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BIkHTES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman) AR A (F ) 11
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun F NGRS € 11
Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan (Appointed with effect from %I ZEt(BE-_Z-_WF+_-_A+H

10 December 2024) EEE) 0/0
Mr. Zhang Ruigen (Resigned with effect from RinREE(BEZE-NF+=A+H

10 December 2024) BHE) 0/1

The Board has delegated the authority to the Remuneration
Committee to review and recommend to the Board the compensation
scheme of the Directors as well as that of the senior management
staff.
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The main function of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the
Board to oversee the Company’s remuneration packages, bonus and
other compensation payable to Directors and senior management
and establish a transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration. The Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee has been amended such that the Committee is also
responsible for reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Board shall
provide sufficient resources to the Remuneration Committee to
enable it to discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has
conducted one meeting. The Remuneration Committee assisted
the Board in reviewing on the remuneration packages, policy and
structure for the Directors and senior management of the Company
and the share scheme of the Company, and made recommendations
to the Board. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available for inspection on the website of the Company at
www.1889hk.com and the website of the Stock Exchange.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference. The composition of the Nomination Committee
and their attendance records for the year ended 31 December 2024
were as follows:
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Directors attendance of
BE= R B
Executive Directors HITES
Professor Zhang Rongaing R E IR 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman) STEAB S (EE) 11
Professor Zhu Yi Zhun RIKFZ R 11
Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan (Appointed with effect from %@tz (BT -_MNF+ -8 +H

10 December 2024) L) 0/0
Mr. Zhang Ruigen (Resigned with effect from wImREE(BEZZT_WE+_A+H

10 December 2024) BHE) 0/1
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The main functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to identify individuals
who are suitably qualified to become members of the Board, and to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
Having regard to the independence and quality of nominees, the
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
SO as to ensure that all nominations are fair and transparent.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
succession planning for Directors, in particular the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company, and reviewing
the objectives set for implementing and reviewing the Board Diversity
Policy, as well as the composition and diversity of the Board. The
Board shall provide sufficient resources to the Nomination Committee
to enable it to discharge its duties.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at least once every three years. The retiring Directors are eligible to
offer themselves for re-election.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee has
conducted one meeting in which the members of Nomination
committee has reviewed the composition of the Board, considered
the re-election of Directors, and reviewed the independence of all
of the independent non-executive Directors. During the year under
review, the Nomination Committee also monitored and reviewed the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the appointment
of new Directors during the year. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available for inspection on the website
of the Company at www.1889hk.com and the website of the Stock
Exchange.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of candidates
from Board members for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by Board members. The factors
which would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee in
assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate of director include,
inter alia, reputation for integrity, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company'’s
business and corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time
to discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the Board, and
such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance matters of the
Company. The Board has established its terms of reference, pursuant
to which the duties of the Board include, inter alia, (i) to develop,
review and implement the policies and practices of corporate
governance matters of the Company; (ii) to review, monitor and
implement the policies and practices of the Company on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (iii) to review, monitor and
implement the training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management of the Group; (iv) to develop,
review, monitor and implement the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees; and (v) to
review and ensure compliance with the CG Code by the Company
and proper and accurate disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S REMUNERATION

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the senior
management of the Company (including executive Directors), whose
biographies are set out on pages 32 to 37 of this annual report, for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The total remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, for their works in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2024 was as follows:

Audit services EET RS
Non-audit services in respect of interim results
Other non-audit services (Note)

Note:

Other non-audit services mainly include attendance at the annual general meeting
of the Company and agreed-upon procedures on preliminary announcement of
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibility for presenting a
balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the results and
cash flows for that period. In preparing these consolidated financial
statements, the Board has adopted suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently; made judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable; and have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which set out the
financial position of the Group with reasonable accuracy at any time.
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Forvis Mazars CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, has set out
their responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report as set out on
pages 59 to 66 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal
control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis. The
Board is also committed to review the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems at least
annually.

The Group established the risk management and internal control
systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses caused
by judgment in decision making process, human error, fraud or other
irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the
CG Code, the Board has engaged an independent professional firm
as an outsourced internal auditor to facilitate the Group’s internal
audit function in order for the Group to be equipped with adequate
resources in conducting reviews as required by the Stock Exchange.
The independent professional internal auditor firm also assisted
the Audit Committee and the Board in performing reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has conducted an annual risk assessment which identified
respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and
compliance risks for each of the major business operations of the
Group. Risk factors were analyzed and consolidated at the Group
level. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk based
methodology audit approach, an internal audit plan was devised
which prioritized the risks identified into respective annual internal
audit projects and manage the risks accordingly.

An annual review was performed by the independent professional
internal auditor firm according to the internal audit plan with a view
to assisting the Audit Committee and the Board to evaluate the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Company has
taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal
control systems according to some control weaknesses that were
found during risk assessment and examination of the internal
control system and strengthened the implementation of all the risk
management and internal control systems.
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The Company has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure manner
to avoid possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
Release of inside information is subject to the approval of the Board.
Unless duly authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not
communicate any inside information to any external parties and shall
not respond to any market speculation or rumours. In addition, all
external publications and presentation materials must be reviewed by
the management before release.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, and the work performed
by the internal and external auditors, the Audit Committee and
the Board performed an annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Audit Committee and the Board are of
the view that the Group has maintained effective and adequate risk
management and internal control systems during the year ended 31
December 2024.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the company secretary
of the Company was Ms. Li Yuen Shan. She undertook not less than
15 hours of professional trainings during the year under review in
accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The primary corporate contract person at the Company is Mr. She
Hao, an executive Director of the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that shareholders’ rights should be well
respected and protected. The Company endeavours to maintain
good communications with shareholders on its performance
through interim reports, annual reports, general meetings and
public disclosure on the website of the Company (www.1889hk.
com) and the website of the Stock Exchange, so that they may make
an informed assessment for their investments and exercise their
rights as shareholders. The Company also encourages shareholders'’
participation through general meetings or other means. Specific
enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be submitted in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 5, 7/F., Nanyang
Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company has reviewed its communication policy and given the
above measures, considered that it is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and putting forward proposals at general
meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, any one or
more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one- tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Any requisition to convene an extraordinary general meeting or
proposal to be put forward at the general meeting can be addressed
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
unit 5, 7/F., Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state in their request(s) the
objects of the extraordinary general meeting to be convened, and
such request must be signed by all the requisitionists. Upon receipt,
the Company will verify the requisitionists’ particulars and if the
request is in order, the Company shall convene the extraordinary
general meeting in accordance with its articles of association.

TEERBRE

B SR4EF

EHRERBFHINXERRERXE LR
HiREHEF

RBEARBNRARERZMA - EF—fL
F—NUAERNEZERKBHRFEIIR
ARADHRBAERARBBIR
RELERFEE) D2 —HERRREIM
RIROBREBMNEFTSH AR WEHE
HEEER  BREZSARAKRREH
RE - NEEBEBERPEANERNE
B BZARERMNEZZEFIEM () E
ARRIT - WEZ2R _-+—QNEA-
EZeARAAAZKRE  AIEZERA
THBAZEARETAELHILR - ME2
BRALHEFERBEARAEMARE
EENMBRXEHRARRBRES ER
ATAEHER -

T ERBRRFIASRERRAE £
REREEMNERAZEERNRRREEN
TESEWH  MURFTBNERES
BlES7mAES7TEE - RE2EX
AT HERMEBRERENAEHNE
B ZREXBHMBEZERALR
F o ARRRNEERZREZR  BREER
EBERALTER  MHREZ2FERE
RRABHRERRERAR A FBRE
BIRE e

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES

31



32

Directors’ Biographies
EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chengqing, aged 47, has been an executive Director
since 17 February 2017. Mr. Chen is an entrepreneur with more
than 20 years of experience in business management in the PRC.
Mr. Chen is currently the chairman of Guizhou Changtong Cable
Co., Ltd., the vice president of Pingba District Federation of Industry
and Commerce, the executive vice president of Anshun Zhejiang
Federation of Commerce, a member of Pingba District Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and the vice
president of Guizhou Wenzhou Federation of Commerce.

Professor Zhang Rongqing, aged 68, was redesignated from an
independent non-executive Director to an executive Director on 15
September 2017. Professor Zhang was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on 16 June 2017. He also serves as a member
of each the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. He graduated from Suzhou Medical College in 1982
with a Bachelor degree of medicine and received PhD in animal
physiology and biochemistry from Nanjing Agricultural University in
1993. Prof. Zhang has worked as professor in Tsinghua University
since 1998, and he has been the associate dean of School of life
Science in Tsinghua University. He is currently a director of the
Institute of Biomedical Research in Yangtze Delta Region of Tsinghua
University in Zhejiang, deputy director of the Teaching Guidance
Committee of Biological Technology and Bio-engineering of the
Ministry of Education, the member of the 3rd and 4th Advisory Group
of Experts of the “973" Plan in the field of agriculture of the Ministry
of Science and Technology. Prof. Zhang has received many awards
and patents in science and technology. He is a well-known senior
expert in the field of marine biochemistry & molecular biology, marine
natural drug & gene engineering, and marine biological enzyme.
Prof. Zhang has been an independent director of Shenzhen Hepalink
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002399), since May 2014. He is also an
independent director of Shandong Oriental Ocean Sci-tech Co., Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002086), since April 2017. He was interested or deemed
to be interested in an aggregate of approximately 0.16% of the total
number of issued shares in the Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Mr. Yuan Chaoyang, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 26 July 2019. Mr. Yuan has extensive
experience in business investment, development and management.
He has been the director of the strategic planning department
and project director of Delixi Group Co., Ltd.* (B HFAEBEERA
8]), a limited company incorporated in the PRC and responsible for
the strategic planning and project management for the company.
From January 2017 to January 2018, Mr. Yuan served as the vice
president of project development in AVIC Joy Holdings (HK) Limited,
an investment holding company principally engaged in natural
gas, construction material and property-related business, the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 260).
Throughout the period, Mr. Yuan was primarily responsible for project
development, operational efficiency, quality control and public
relations management. Mr. Yuan graduated from the People’s Armed
Police Command College, Fuzhou branch* (R %@ N8I ZF7) in
Fujian Province, the PRC, in 1991, majoring in Japanese Language.
Mr. Yuan completed his studies of enterprise management courses in
the Graduate School, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics*
(EBFEREMEAR) in July 2015 and obtained a certificate.
He was interested or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
approximately 0.78% of the total number of issued shares in the
Company as at 31 December 2024.
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Mr. She Hao, aged 41, was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 11 November 2019. He also serves as the deputy Chief
Executive Officer and of the Group. Mr. She holds a bachelor degree
in bioengineering from Xiang Tan University in 2005, and a master
of business administration from University of Electronic Science
and Technology of China in 2013. He served as a Research and
Development Engineer and project supervisor in Shanghai Biolaxy
Medical Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (E/&8 &R AR A
7)) (@ pharmaceutical Research and Development institute, which was
then acquired by Anbo Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (Z1BE A YRR ER A
ﬂ) a subsidiary of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.*

FHEEBEEE)RMNBR2AF)), responsible for matters relating
to pharmaceutical research and development from 2006 to 2011. He
served as a quality manager in Yifeng Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd.* (&
R BB HAR () AR A A)) (@ pharmaceutical circulation enterprise,
a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: SH603939), responsible for channel construction and
government relations from the end of 2013 to the end of 2014, He
served as an investment manager, senior investment manager and
investment director in Fortune Link Investment Holdings Limited*
(HAEZREERAR AR (a private equity investment institute),
responsible for mvestment matters in relation to pharmaceuticals
and other greater health projects from 2015 to 2017. He served as an
investment manager in the Investment and Development Department
of Jiangmen Sugarcane Chemical Factory (Group) Co., Ltd. (T PIH
{E TR (E B MDA A E]) (@ company whose shares are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: SZ000576), responsible
for investment matters from September 2017 to November 2019.
Mr. She has extensive experience in pharmaceutical research
and development, circulation and pharmaceutical investment.
He was interested or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
approximately 0.58% of the total number of issued shares in the
Company as at 31 December 2024.

Mr. Xie Haijing, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 28 June 2024. Mr. Xie currently holds the position of
the general manager and chairman of the Group's subsidiary, Beijing
Hangyang Health Technology. Co., Ltd.* At AL FEREEHEER A R)
("Beijing Hangyang”) and is responsible for the overall management
of Beijing Hangyang. Mr. Xie has over 30 years of experience in the
health product industry and he has served as the Marketing Manager,
Vice President of Marketing, General Manager, and Chairman of
Beijing Hangyang. In addition, Mr. Xie has been serving as the
president of the Beijing Health Products and Cosmetics Association
Jt R RIS E) since March 2015, responsible for the overall
management of the association. Mr. Xie graduated from the Beijing
Economics and Business School (4t 57 m a4 £267) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") with a diploma in marketing in July
1999.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Zhu Yi Zhun, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 31 December 2020. He also serves as a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Professor Zhu graduated
from the School of Medicine of the Shanghai Jiao Tong University
with a bachelor degree in Medicine in 1989, and then graduated
from the School of Medicine of the Heidelberg University with a
doctor’s degree in Medicine in 1994. Professor Zhu has been working
on cardiovascular and neuropharmacology research for nearly 20
years, and he is currently the first director and the chair professor
of the School of Pharmacy of the Macau University of Science and
Technology, and the Director of Zhuhai UM Science & Technology
Research Institute. Professor Zhu also had served as the Dean of the
School of Pharmacy of Fudan University for almost 10 years. He was
also appointed as the Changjiang Scholar Distinguished Professor
of the Ministry of Education of the People’s Republic of China, and
awarded the National Outstanding Young Scholars, the chief scientist
of the National Major Scientific Research Program, and was the
person in charge of platform of new drug creation in a major project
in respect of national science and technology.

Professor Zhu was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Green International Holdings Limited, the shares of which
were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2700) for the period
from 4 March 2016 to 30 June 2017. He was also appointed as an
independent director of ILPEFIRE && B R A7) (Shanxi C
& Y Pharmaceutical Group Company, Limited*) (stock code: 300254)
for the period from June 2010 to July 2016 and an independent
director of JTFIH E L TH(SE) I BBRAF (Jiangmen Sugarcane
Chemical Factory (Group) Company, Limited*) (stock code: 000576)
from August 2015 to May 2018; the shares of both of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 3 February 2021. He also
serves as the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Khor has accumulated more than
20 years of working experience in the field of finance, capital market,
financial reporting and financial compliance services. Currently, Mr.
Khor is a founding director of KBS Capital Partners (Singapore) Pte.
Ltd. ("KBS Capital”) since July 2004, principally providing accounting,
tax, company secretarial compliance services, and corporate advisory
services including IPO facilitation, M&A services and project financing
services. Since founding KBS Capital, Mr. Khor has completed various
IPO, M&A and project fund raising transactions for its clients from
Singapore, Malaysia and China. Mr. Khor has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of JLogo Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8527), a company listed on the GEM board of the
Stock Exchange, since 22 April 2024. Mr. Khor is also currently an
independent non-executive director of Xinming China Holdings
Limited (stock code: 2699), a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, an independent non-executive Director of Pa Shun
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 574), a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange and an independent director of
Davis Commodities Limited, a company listed on NASDAQ CM.

Prior to this, Mr. Khor was the Group Financial Controller of CFM
Holdings Limited between 2002 to 2004, the Group Financial
Controller of TEE International Limited between 2000 to 2002, and the
Regional Financial Controller of Showpla Asia Limited between 1997
t0 2000, all of these companies are listed on Singapore Exchange.

Mr. Khor was admitted as an associate and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 1999 and 2002
respectively. He graduated from his studies in Master of Business
Administration from University of Leicester, UK in 2004. Currently,
he is a Chartered Accountant of both of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants and Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
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Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan, aged 38, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 10 December 2024. She also serves as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. Tsui is experienced in the fields of business investment,
development, and management. Ms. Tsui has held the positions of
the Director and Partner of the Shanghai branch of Sunivers Group
(IRF£E)) since 2022, being responsible for the project management
and overseas asset management services. Ms. Tsui has also joined
AIA Company Limited in 2008 and currently serves as a marketing
director. In 2023, Ms. Tsui was selected for the “Hurun International
Financial Planning Advisor Top 100" list. Ms. Tsui graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University School of Design in Hong Kong in
2006, and graduated from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University (BAXH| T8 2 REFRAIE T KE) in Australia majoring in art
in 2010. Ms. Tsui has obtained the qualifications of Fellow Chartered
Financial Practitioner and the Certified Financial Planner.

*  For identification purpose only
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The Directors would like to present their annual report together
with the audited accounts of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its major subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 67 to 68 and page 69 respectively.

The Board of Directors does not recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil) to the
shareholders.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to RMB213,125,000 (2023: RMB167,524,000).
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 72 and in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year under review are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of associations or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the shares
in the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to
the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengging

Mr. Yuan Chaoyang
Professor Zhang Rongging
Mr. She Hao

Mr. Xie Haijing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor Zhu Yi Zhun
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex
Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan

Mr. Chen Chengging, Mr. Yuan Chaoyang, and Professor Zhu Yi Zhun
will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article 84(1) of
the articles of association of the Company and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Mr. Xie Haijing and Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan shall hold their office until
the annual general meeting in accordance with Article 83(3) of the
articles of association of the Company and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 37
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including Directors standing for re-election
in the forthcoming annual general meeting) has entered into any
contract of service, which is not determinable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation), with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the executive directors of the Company are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company's operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics. The remuneration of the non-executive directors
(including the independent non-executive directors) of the Company
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee. The details
of emoluments of the Directors are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company has renewed the Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The insurance
covers them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred
arising out of the corporate activities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the contracts of service entered into with the respective
Directors, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year under
review.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefits scheme is set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 the Group had
no forfeited contributions under its retirement benefit scheme which
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions as described
in paragraph 26(2) of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

EEERBER
MEER(BRXERERRAFASEER
BENES)BARRHEERAMEAT
AT HEEZN —FAKRIEMBAE
HEE 8 ORERERINRBEAR

&7 BN iy 3R
AEENREFMBERETFHEEER
BRENKER  BENMEDHE -

FNEZBERERARA 2K ERE
AR LA B LB TS BIRERR
EARBZHITESFHH - ARBIIEH
TER(BRBLFRTER)NMES T
MEFMEZEERE EHEFTHFMNF
BENEGRE P BEHRRME 1

EHEREE
KARCERBE_ZT-_NFE+_-A
Tt BULEFEARAZEEELSHR
EREZERERITRABZETRR -
REBERSROEETHREENK
X EH BAXREMR-

THES
BREZEFRITORB AR - RERE
FEARERBAARR 2R E
BEBIVHFEEERITRAR -

|

iR R 1 BB
BRERKENFENFBEERGZE YT
HARMESS -

HE_Z-_-—Fk-_F-_NF+=H
=+T—HIEFE  TNEEARARENG
218 T A TR RIM 82 D2 28 26(2) B¢
Firadi /9 °] AR PR JR A BR A8 SRk S 8908 Uk
o



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Approximate
Number of shares Total number of percentage of
held/interested shares held/ the total issued
Name of directors Capacity (Note 1) interested shares
e/ BAEER e,/ HERTROEH
Exps =27) ROHE (1) HERZROEH op N
Mr. Yuan Chaoyang Beneficial owner 1,200,000(L) 1,200,000 0.78%
RBEGEE ERBEAA
Professor Zhang Rongaing  Beneficial owner 240,000(L) 240,000 0.16%
REFHIR R 2N
Mr. She Hao Beneficial owner 880,000(L) 880,000 0.58%
REXE ERBEAA
Notes: BEE
1. The letter “L” denotes long position in the shares. 1. [LIFER B 2R -

2. The Share Consolidation on the basis of every twenty five (25) ordinary 2.
shares of HK$0.01 each prior to the Share Consolidation (the Existing
Share(s)) into one (1) ordinary share of HK$0.25 each after the Share
Consolidation) became effective on 13 August 2024. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 August 2024.

BOHAEHER -_Z-_NENA+=04%
W AHEEAET -+ T Q5 BN A G
AEREAECI BT EMKR(TRER
mheaR—(RERHa M EEREE
0258 Tz LRk - FFER2MARAR
HAEZTZMNFENANBZAE -

3. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 152,898,695 3. BEBDIE - E_ME+-_F=1+—

issued shares (the Consolidated Share(s)) of the Company as at 31 December BARQRABBEEITRMEHRKRSG)
2024. 152,898,695 B fEE#EA H -

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company is aware of any other Director or chief executive of
the Company who has any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation which were required to be recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Old Share Option Scheme (as defined below) and the
New Share Option Scheme (as defined below), at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES IN THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons, other than a director
or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or a short position
in the shares or underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO:

EFWMER MR REENER

BREBREAS(CERR T3 RHEBK
REABERR TN RBEE-F
“ME+ A=+ B ILFEAEME
- ARAHEEA 2B RER
VAERARHFAEES AR KEARR
AR AT EL A A BB A B0 Sk B HERE T
ERHE -

FERRERFLFZMRIEMR
BRiTHEZRKE

RZEZWNF+ZA=+—H WULTA
T(RRFEFHHZESITHRAERINR
ARG SIAEERDEFREZ SR
HEGROIFEIBIEAINARRBMFE
BaMevgEsmsoramT -

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shares Total number the total
held/interested  of shares held/ issued shares
Name of shareholders Capacity (Note 1) interested (Note 2)
HEBRITRG
FisE/ hE mEm
ERRAEE 2=V 2z] BABDH
REE®/HE (PF=E1) R0 EY (BH=E2)
Ms. Yang Youju Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 33,470,120(L) 33,470,120 21.89%
("Ms. Yang")
Yang Youju &£ SeEBER (E2)
(lYang&t])
Cyber Success Beneficial owner (Note 2) 33,470,120 (L) 33,470,120 21.89%
BRI ERAAAMET2)
Mr. Jiang Hengguang Beneficial owner (Note 3) 10,530,612 (L) 10,530,612 6.89%
("Mr. Jiang")
BEXEE(ERE]D) BB AMEI)
Mr. Zhi Shaohuan Beneficial owner (Note 3) 8,799,183 (1) 8,799,183 5.75%
("Mr. Zhi")
YHREEE(ZEE]D)  EBExn#AAMES)
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The letter “L" denotes long position in the shares of the Company.

According to the disclosure of interest form submitted by Ms. Yang on 12
January 2024 in accordance with Part XV of the SFO, 33,470,120 of these
shares are registered in the name of Cyber Success, which is wholly-owned
by Ms. Yang. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Yang is deemed to be interested in all
the shares in which Cyber Success is interested.

Mr. Jiang and Mr. Zhi were the Convertible Notes holders of the Company
with the total outstanding principal amount of HK$60,000,000. On 23 April
2024, the total outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes were
converted into ordinary shares.

The Share Consolidation on the basis of every twenty five (25) ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each prior to the Share Consolidation (the Existing
Share(s)) into one (1) ordinary share of HK$0.25 each after the Share
Consolidation) became effective on 13 August 2024. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 9 August 2024.

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 152,898,695
issued shares (the Consolidated Share(s)) of the Company as at 31 December
2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Company was not aware of any person,
other than the Directors of the Company whose interests or short
positions are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations”
above, who had an interest or a short position in the shares or
underlying shares in the Company which were required to be
recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) for, among others, the senior management and
employees on 8 January 2007, which serve as incentives or rewards
to attract, retain and motivate its staff. The Old Share Option Scheme
has already expired on 7 January 2017.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed on 16 June 2017, the
Company has adopted another share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) for, among others, the senior management
and employees, which serves as incentives or rewards to attract,
retain and motivate staff. The New Share Option Scheme will remain
valid for a period of 10 years commencing from 21 June 2017. Under
the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant options to all
full-time employees, Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) and part-time employees with weekly working hours of
10 hours and above, of the Group, substantial shareholders of each
member of the Group, associates of the directors and substantial
shareholders of any member of the Group, trustee of any trust pre-
approved by the Board, and any advisor (professional or otherwise)
or consultant, distributor, supplier, agent, customer, joint venture
partner, service provider of the Group whom the Board considers, at
its sole discretion, has contributed or contributes to the Group.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 5 January 2022, the scheme
mandate limits of the New Share Option Scheme were refreshed.
The said refreshed scheme mandate limits were solely used to grant
options to all full-time employees, Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) and part-time employees with weekly
working hours of 10 hours and above of the Group under the New
Share Option Scheme as incentives or rewards for their continuous
contributions and loyalty to the Group. Unless approved by the
general meeting, the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
scheme in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue. On 29 April 2022, 174,000,000 share options were granted by
the Company to certain eligible persons under the New Share Option
Scheme including 5 Directors at the exercise price of HK$0.084 per
share. Further details of the said share options granted are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 29 April 2022.
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ADJUSTMENT TO THE NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated
9 August 2024. As a result of the Share Consolidation (as defined
below), the number of the options available for grant under the New
Share Option Scheme was adjusted from 132,722,250 to 5,308,890,
and the exercise price and the number of shares of the Company to
be issued upon exercise of the outstanding Share Options already
granted were adjusted with effect from the effective date (i.e. on
Tuesday, 13 August 2024) of the Share Consolidation. The exercise
price was adjusted from HK$0.084 to HK$2.10 for the outstanding
Share Options (as defined below) and the number of shares of the
Company to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding Share
Options were adjusted from 31,000,000 to 1,240,000, on 13 August
2024.

The number of options available for grant under the refreshed
mandate of the New Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024 was 132,722,250 and 5,308,890 (as a result of the
Share Consolidation, the number of the options available for grant
will be adjusted to 5,308,890 with effect from the effective date (i.e.
13 August 2024) of the Share Consolidation) respectively. The total
number of Shares available for issue under the refreshed mandate of
the New Option Scheme was 12,268,890, representing 8.02% of the
total issued Shares as at the date of this of this annual report. Other
than the abovementioned share option schemes, the Company does
not have other share schemes. No Share Option was granted during
the Reporting Period.
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The following table sets out the movements in the share options of TEREFRREPARRF ERE(E

the Company (the “Share Options”) during the Reporting Period: RHE]) 228
Number of Share Options
BREYE
Closing price
Adjusted of the shares
At asat Granted Lapsed Exercised At immediately
Category of 1 January 13August  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31December  Date of Exercise Exercise before the
participant 2024 20249 year year year 2024 grant period price®  date of grant
R R
13 I a1 13 3
Z2-mE  \At=H t28 Bt A AT
SEALER -A-H B8 ERRH 1 =t-A 1 TEEY  RiWHE
Directors
£
Mr. Gao Borui (Note 2) 5,000,000 200,000 - (200,000) - - 9Apil2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 210 19
BlREE(H2) e Sl ZECZEMAZTNAZ
ME-+HE  ZB=4MA-tAR
Professor Zhang 6,000,000 240,000 - - - 240000 29 April 202 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 210 19
Rongqing S 3 S 1 bk 1=
RREHR MAZthE  —ZZ-FMA-1/A
Mr. Xiu Yuan (Note 2 10,000,000 400,000 - (400,000) - - 9 Apil 202 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 210 19
BiEsxE () kSt ZFZZERAZTARE
MA-+HhE  —Z=4MA-+NR
21,000,000 840,000 - (600,000) - 240,000
Other participant
EfgEAL
Employeesin 10,000,000 400,000 - - - 400000 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 210 19
agaregate Z5C ZECZERAZTABE
MA-+HE  -B=4MA-HAR
10,000,000 400,000 - - - 400,000
31,000,000 1,240,000 - (600,000) - 640,000
Note: /}/7‘ 2
1. The Share Options are not subject to any vesting period. 1. SRR R AR B AR -

2. Mr. Gao Borui and Mr. Xiu Yuan are former directors of the Company both 2. SEFELEERBELERNRARITE

of whom have resigned with effect from 28 June 2024. Accordingly, the EF-HURZEWFAAZTNBBE -
share options held by Mr. Gao Borui and Mr. Xiu Yuan have lapsed on 28 At - ®EmEERBERAEFBOER
September 2024. BER-ZZT-WFAAZ+T/\BRHY -

3. The Share Consolidation on the basis of every twenty five (25) ordinary 3. BHaHEER - E-_MENA+=84
shares of HK$0.01 each prior to the Share Consolidation (the Existing Share(s) W AHEERT =1 Q5 RBMHE G
into one (1) ordinary share of HK$0.25 each after the Share Consolidation) AEREENE Tz EBR(TRER
became effective on 13 August 2024. The exercise price was adjusted from mhEHR—(BRRNEHESREE
HK$0.084 to HK$2.10 for the outstanding Share Options on 13 August 2024. 0258 Lz ERmK - R _MFN\A
For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated +=H  BRITFEZEBRENTTEEDH
9 August 2024. 0.084 8 TR AE210# T - BRAE—F

5 F2HARRBEHAZT _IE)N\
ANB8RE -
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DIRECTORS' AND MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the directors” emoluments on an individual and named
basis and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration
policies of the Group are as follows:

The amount of remuneration for the Directors or the employees
is determined according to their relevant experience,
responsibilities, workload, contributions and years of service in
the Group and with reference to the goals and objectives of the
Group;

The non-monetary benefits are determined by the Board (or by
the relevant management after consultation with the Board) and
may be provided in the remuneration package of the Directors
or the employees; and

No person participates in the deliberation or approval of his
own remuneration package.

The Company'’s policies concerning remuneration of the Directors are
as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

the amount of remuneration is determined on a case by
case basis taking into consideration of the relevant Director’s
experience, responsibility, workload and the time devoted to
the Group;

non-cash benefits may be provided at the discretion of the
Board to the relevant Directors under their remuneration
package; and

the Directors may be granted, at the discretion of the Board and
in accordance with the requirements under the Listing Rules,
with share options under the share option scheme adopted by
the Company, as part of their remuneration package.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information of revenue and purchases attributable to the major
customers and suppliers of the Company for the year under review is
as follows:

Revenue from sales of goods or HEE MR
rendering of services PR 7% A 18 W &

The largest customer BREP

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAH

Purchases IBEXE

The largest supplier SAHIER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE &

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(who to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers and
major customers noted above.

PROVISION FOR LITIGATION AND AUDIT
QUALIFICATION

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the impacts of the litigation
on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company,
the Auditor had been unable to obtain supportable evidence for the
Auditor to assess whether any provision should be provided at 31
December 2024 and 2023 in relation to the litigation and whether the
profit or loss effect on the provision of litigation should be reported
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were properly
stated. The Auditor had issued qualified opinion on this matter.

There was no difference in view on this basis for audit qualification
between the Auditor and the Company’s management.

The details of the basis are as follows:

() Inlight of the fact that the hearing of the Retrial pertaining
to the Litigation, as elaborated under the section headed
“Litigation” on pages 51 to 53, is still in progress up to the date
of this Annual Report, the management has agreed with the
Auditor that the exact extent of financial impact arising from
the Litigation on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 cannot be
ascertained with reasonable accuracy and certainty, hence
the management is of the view that no provision should be
provided concerning the Litigation as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.
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(i) The Company, as one of the joint guarantors under the Finance
Lease Agreement 2016 (to be defined in the sub-section headed
“Litigation” in the Directors’ Report), is jointly liable together
with other joint guarantors in the Litigations. The extent of and
financial impact on the provision for Litigations on the Company
iS uncertain.

The Company has, through its PRC legal representatives,
endeavoured to liaise with the court as to when the trial could
proceed. However, the court replied that they were occupied
and would not be able to commit as to specifically when such
trial could be arranged at the date of this Report. As such, the
Company confirms that there is currently no concrete timetable
for the Litigations. Accordingly, the Company is of the view that
there is no certainty in the results of the Litigations up to now.

As mentioned above, the Company was not in control and not
in the position to provide any conclusive supportive evidence
to the Auditor regarding the assessment concerning the
Litigations. The Company will continue to liaise with the court
on the progress of the Retrial and further discuss with the
Auditors once any updates relating to the Appeal is available.

The management of the Company engaged a PRC lawyer to
issue a legal opinion on the likely outcome of the litigation
case to address the concerns of the Auditor. Nevertheless, the
Auditor considered that the said legal opinion is insufficient to
eliminate the uncertainties of the Litigations by contemplating
1) the fact that the judgement had been made by Beijing No.4
Intermediate People’s Court * 4t =R H & MU A RAFT dated
22 December 2020; and 2) the uncertainties as mentioned
above. The Company further understands from the Auditor that
they would likely to continue to issue qualified opinion on the
provision of litigation until the final judgement of the court on
the litigations is available whereby all uncertainties in relation to
such litigation will ultimately be removed.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and concurred with the
management’s view.

The Company understands that the Auditor could only remove the
qualification after the final judgement of the court on the litigations is
available. Even if the management is going to make a full provision in
the consolidated financial statements, the Auditors would still have
doubt and uncertainty on the truth and fairness of such provision
amount, which may result in substantial difference against the final
judgement to be ultimately handed down by the court, and as such
the qualified opinion will still remain.
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The Company also note that the Auditor is not in the position on
advising as to whether the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the financial year ending 31 December 2025 will be
free of the audit qualification specifically with respect to the subject
litigation at this juncture since, as explained above, the basis leading
to the qualification arose from the uncertainties pertaining to the
Retrial.

The Company understands that in the event that the Retrial will be
heard and the relevant judgement is made before the announcement
of the annual results of the Company for the financial year ending
31 December 2025, such uncertainties would no longer exist and,
given that (1) the management will take immediate appropriate action
to fully reflect the financial impact brought by the final judgement
of the court in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ending 31 December 2024; and (2) the Auditor
is satisfied with the supporting documents and audit evidence to
be provided by the management, such qualification would then be
removed accordingly.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the events disclosed below, there was no other major
subsequent events occurred subsequent to the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this annual report.

Capital reduction and Share sub-division

The issued share capital of the Company had been proposed to be
reduced by cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$0.24 on
each of the then issued Consolidated Shares such that the par value
of each issued Consolidated Share reduced from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01
and each of the authorized but unissued Consolidated Share of par
value of HK$0.25 each be subdivided into twenty-five (25) new shares
of par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Capital Reduction”). Immediately
following the Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued
Consolidated Shares of par value of HK$0.25 each be sub-divided
into twenty-five (25) new shares (the “New Share(s)”) of par value of
HK$0.01 each (the “Share Sub-division”).

On 24 January 2025 (Cayman Islands time), a copy of the order of the
Grand Court confirming the Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-
division and the minutes approved by the Grand Court containing the
particulars required under the Companies Act with respect to the
capital reduction were filed and duly registered with the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands.
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All the other conditions for the implementation of the Capital
Reduction and the Share Sub-division as set out in the circular of the
Company dated 24 July 2024 were fulfilled and the Capital Reduction
and the Share Sub-division became effective, both before 9:00 a.m.
on Monday, 3 February 2025 (Hong Kong time) and the dealing in the
New Shares commenced at 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 3 February 2025
(Hong Kong time).

Further details of the above are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 4 July 2024 and 9 August 2024, and the circular of the
Company dated 24 July 2024, and the update announcements dated
18 November 2024, 3 December 2024, 8 January 2025 and 27 January
2025.

LITIGATION

The Company has received a civil judgement (the “Judgement”)
dated 22 December 2020 issued by 1t &1 55 AR £ A RRSABR (the No.
4 Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing*) (the “Court”) in relation to
a civil litigation (the “Litigation”) brought by 1t = X (LRI RS E
ER AR A A (Beijing Cultural Technology Finance Lease Company
Limited*, the “Plaintiff’) against, among others, (a) the Company;
(b) BE=E&%¥AHE A5 Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical Company
Limited (“Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical”)(the disposal of which was
completed in April 2019); (¢) Lin Ouwen, a former executive Director;
and (d) Lin Min, a former executive Director.

The Plaintiff first filed a statement of claim (the “Statement of
Claim”) with the Court on 30 August 2018, whereby, among
others, the Plaintiff alleged that (i) Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical, a
then subsidiary of the Company, had entered into a finance lease
agreement (the “Finance Lease Agreement 2016") with the
Plaintiff on 21 March 2016, pursuant to which the Plaintiff agreed to
lease certain assets to Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical for a term of 36
months with a total leasing cost of RMB 134,954,600 at an interest rate
of 8.3%; (ii) each of the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min, entered
into a guarantee agreement with the Plaintiff respectively to provide
joint guarantee (the “Guarantee”) for the debts owed by Fujian Sanai
Pharmaceutical under the Finance Lease Agreement 2016, and (iii)
Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical had failed to pay the rent payable under
the Finance Lease Agreement 2016 since 20 August 2017, and the
Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min had failed fulfill their obligations as
guarantors. The Statement of Claim was received by the Company in
July 2019.
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As such, the Plaintiff demanded, among others, that (i) Fujian Sanai
Pharmaceutical immediately pays to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent
in the amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest accrued
thereon, undue rent in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21, default
payment in the amount of RMB4,759,298.22 (being 10% of the undue
rent), the legal fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the retention
purchase price of RMB100 and the cost incurred in relation to the
Litigation; and (ii) the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min be jointly
liable for the debts owed by Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical under the
Finance Lease Agreement 2016.

The Plaintiff also submitted to the Court a copy of the alleged
minutes of the Board meeting held on 22 March 2016, during which
resolutions were passed to approve, inter alia, the provision of the
Guarantee by the Company. However, only two of the then Directors,
Lin Ouwen and Lin Qingping, were recorded to have attended and
voted on the said resolutions.

Pursuant to the Judgement, among other things, Fujian Sanai
Pharmaceutical shall, within ten days of the Judgement, pay to the
Plaintiff the unpaid due rent under the Finance Lease Agreement
2016 in the amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest
accrued thereon, the accelerated due rent under the Finance Lease
Agreement 2016 in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21, the default
payment in the amount of RMB4,759,298.22, the retention purchase
price of RMB100, the legal fees in the amount of RMB800,000, the
announcement fees in the amount of RMB2,650, the preservation
insurance fees in the amount of RMB175,636.06 and the preservation
fees in the amount of RMB5,000 (collectively the “Judgement
Amount”); and the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min shall be jointly
liable for the Judgement Amount, and they are entitled to claim
against Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical after discharging such joint
liabilities.

The Company has lodged an appeal (the “Appeal”) against the
Judgement to bR = A ARERR (the Higher People's Court of
Beijing*) on 22 January 2021.

In the Appeal, the Company has pleaded to It =TSR A RET
(the Higher People’s Court of Beijing*) to rule that the Finance Lease
Agreement 2016 and the Guarantee were invalid, and to reject all of
the Plaintiff's claims.
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On 18 December 2023, the Company has received a REEEZ (civil
judgement) (the “Civil Judgement”) on the Appeal from the 16
=R ARERT (the Higher People’s Court of Beijing*). Pursuant to the
Civil Judgement, among other things, (i) the judgement of 1t =5
R ARERT (the No. 4 Intermediate Peoples’ Court of Beijing) (the
“Intermediate People’s Court”) was dismissed; and (i) the case

was returned to the Intermediate People’s Court for retrial.

As at the date of this annual report, the hearing of the retrial at the
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Retrial”) is in progress.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 18 January 2021, 4 February 2021, 1 June 2023 and
19 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report of the corporate governance principles and practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 16 to 31 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group did not make any charitable
donations (2023: Nil).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transaction
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Upon specific enquiries made by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or any of their connected entities had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to or
involved in at the end of the year under review or at any time during
the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any
time during the year under review, and no contract of significance for
the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year under review or at any time during
the Reporting Period.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors had an interest in a business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Company or has any other
conflict of interest with the Company during the Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
established an audit committee with written terms of reference on
8 January 2007. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review the financial reporting procedures and internal control and
risk management systems and provides guidance in relation thereto.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors as at the date of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Company as well as the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024
before recommending to the Board for approval.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
(“Forvis Mazars"). Forvis Mazars has been the auditor of the
Company since 11 November 2022 and the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 have
also been audited by Forvis Mazars. Forvis Mazars will retire, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution for its reappointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Performance and Future Development

The discussion on the Group’s business performance and future
development, being part of the Directors’ Report, is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

Key Financial Performance Indicators

The analysis of the Group’s key financial performance indicators,
being part of the Directors’ Report, is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

our newly launched products may not be well received
by the market.

The success of a pharmaceutical company depends, to a large extent,
on whether the products it introduces to the market are well received
by the market. The primary factors which may affect the acceptance
of our products by the market include efficacy, quality and price.
In particular, the introduction of new products requires substantial
investment of capital resources and research and development
efforts. If any of our new drugs is not well received by the market
because its efficacy is not as good as expected, it is too expensive
compared to other substitutes, or for any other reason, we may
not be able to recoup the investment we have made in developing
such new drug, in which case our financial condition and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
The pharmaceutical industry is extremely competitive.

Our business is subject to competitions from other pharmaceutical
manufacturers. Chinese and international pharmaceutical
manufacturers engaged in the manufacture and sale of substitute or
similar products to ours in China may have more capital resources,
better research and development capabilities and more experience
in manufacturing and marketing. Many of our competitors,
including large pharmaceutical companies and other generic drug
manufacturers, have employed various strategies intended to
maximize their market share for previously-patented products.
Competition is likely to intensify if (i) the number of manufacturers
or distributors of substitute or similar products increases due to
increased market demand or increased prices; (ii) competitors
drastically reduce prices due to oversupply of products; or (iii)
competitors develop new products or substitute products having
comparable medicinal applications or therapeutic effects that may be
used as direct substitutes for our products which are more effective
with prices comparable to or lower than our products.
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our Company is subject to environmental regulations
and may be exposed to liability and potential costs for
environmental compliance.

We are subject to the PRC laws and regulations concerning the
discharge of effluent water and solid waste during our manufacturing
processes. We are required to obtain certain clearances and
authorizations from governmental authorities for the treatment
and disposal of such discharge. Any violation of these regulations
may result in substantial fines, criminal sanctions, revocation of
operating permits, shutdown of our facilities and obligation to take
corrective measures. Our costs of complying with current and
future environmental laws and regulations, and liabilities which may
potentially arise from the discharge of effluent water and solid waste,
may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The PRC government may adopt more stringent environmental
regulations and there is no assurance that we will be at all times in full
compliance with these regulatory requirements. Due to the possibility
of unanticipated regulatory or other developments, the amount and
timing of future environmental expenditures may vary substantially
from those currently anticipated. If there is any unanticipated change
in the environmental regulations, we may need to incur substantial
capital expenditures to install, replace, upgrade or supplement our
pollution control equipment or make operational changes to limit
any adverse impact or potential adverse impact on the environment
in order to comply with new environmental protection laws and
regulations. If such costs become prohibitively expensive, we may be
forced to modify, curtail or cease certain of our business operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental protection
to the sustained stable development of enterprises. Striving to strike
the best balance between cost control and environmental protection,
the Group consistently executes various measures on clean
production, energy saving, reducing consumption, etc. The Group
also carries out regular reviews on various environmental protection
measures and routine jobs, to ensure that all environmental
protection permission and approval required by the regulatory
authorities of the PRC will be granted.

In the meantime, the Group endeavours to create an environmentally-
friendly work environment to promote the environmental awareness
to employees by encouraging them to use less electricity and paper,
and recycle office supplies and other materials.
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The Company shall issue the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report separately in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules in due course.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE SIGNIFICANT
IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing, marketing
and selling of branded prescription and non-prescription drugs as
well as Chinese pharmaceutical products in the PRC. The production
of all pharmaceutical products must comply with the current Good
Manufacturing Practice standard of the PRC, and be approved by the
China Food and Drug Administration. The Group also needs to comply
with the Production Safety Law, Law on Employment Contracts and
Company Law of the PRC. As the shares of Company are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Company is also required to
comply with the Listing Rules and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group is not aware of
any occurrence of material breach of laws or regulations that have
significant impact on the Group.

The Group acknowledges that as the PRC is in the midst of the critical
period for healthcare system reform, it is expected that relevant laws,
regulations and policies regarding the healthcare and pharmaceutical
industry will be updated frequently. Hence, the Group will pay close
attention to the updates and timely implement measures required by
the relevant laws and regulations so as to ensure the business and
operation are not adversely affected.

IMPORTANT RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

The Group endeavours to develop and maintain good working
relationship with the employees. The Group provides its directors and
senior management with continuous professional trainings, including
seminars and workshops, such that the latest changes of regulatory
requirements and corporate governance practices can be introduced
and considered. Aiming to raise the operational efficiency, the Group
also organises various pre-employment and on-the-job trainings to
deepen the employees’ understanding of its business objectives
and operation. For safeguarding the occupational safety and health
of employees, the Group spares no effort to provide employees
with a safe work environment and enhance their health and safety
awareness. In addition, the Group provides competitive remuneration,
rewards program, retirement and medical benefits to attract, retain
and incentivise employees.
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Suppliers

The Group selects the suppliers prudently and requires them to
satisfy certain evaluation criteria, including track records, experience,
financial strength, legal and regulatory compliances, reputation,
ability to manufacture high-quality products, etc. The Group has
developed long-term collaborative relationships with various suppliers
and endeavours to make sure that they comply with the Group’s
commitment to quality and ethics.

Sales Agents and Distributors

The Group sells pharmaceutical products to drug stores through
sales agents and distributors. The Group requires the sales agents
and distributors to comply with the relevant laws and regulations and
the Group’s marketing policies. The Group also collaborates with the
distributors by providing training for their frontline salespersons to
ensure that they provide high-quality sales services.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of the Directors subsequent to the date of the annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

- On 28 June 2024, Mr. Gao Borui and Mr. Xiu Yuan has

resigned as an executive Director and non-executive Director
respectively with effect from 28 June 2024,

- On 28 June 2024, Mr. Xie Haijing has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 28 June 2024.

- On 10 December 2024, Mr. Zhang Ruigen resigned as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
December 2024; and

- On 10 December 2024, Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
December 2024.

Further details were disclosed in the announcements of the Company

dated 28 June 2024 and 10 December 2024.

By order of the Board

SHE HAO
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 April 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

forvss
mazars

TO THE MEMBERS OF
SANAI HEALTH INDUSTRY GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sanai
Health Industry Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), set out on pages
67 to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2024, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B ZBERE

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
EEREEMERRERAT

42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BRBTBEE18RTIRES 4212
Tel 55 : +852 2909 5555

Fax {8E : +852 2810 0032

Email &S © info.hk@forvismazars.com
Website #4811t forvismazars.com/hk
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Basis for Qualified Opinion
Provision for litigation

Due to the uncertainties in relation to the litigation as disclosed in
Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements, we were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to assess whether
any provision should be provided in relation to the litigation at
31 December 2024 and 2023 and the profit or loss effect on any
provision for the litigation should be reported for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

We were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the
figures as described above were necessary which might have a
consequential effect on the Group's financial performance and the
elements making up its consolidated statement of changes in equity
and its consolidated cash flow statement for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 and the financial position of the Group at
31 December 2024 and 2023, and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the 2024 Annual Report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. As described in the“Basis for Qualified Opinion”
section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence about the provision for litigation. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the other information is materially

misstated with respect to this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

Acquisition accounting for it XA ¥R ERIBER L
7 Beijing Hangyang Health Technology Co., Ltd.*
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Beijing Hangyang Group”)
WEILEHMFREERBEERAGRENE L & (#E
[ RRFEEE ) e EE

REBEEEH(E)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EERETNNEERRETSE

The Group completed the acquisition of the Beijing
Hangyang Group on 14 May 2024 at a cash consideration
of approximately RMB33,150,000 (the “Acquisition”).
The Acquisition constituted a business combination for
accounting purposes.

EXEBER T ZNF R A +HH K AR 33,150,000
TH2HETKEILRIMFEENRBEKEE
) o BLEFTEREmMS - WESEBXESEE0 -

The initial accounting for the Acquisition requires the
Group to identify the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and measure their fair values and the resulted
goodwill upon acquisition. The Group has appointed an
independent professional valuer to assist in determining
the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable assets and
liabilities of the Beijing Hangyang Group where applicable.
WIHEEENVGEEHREEZR E5BERMKER
BERFAENEE Ui EEATERKEEED
HE. BEEBERZABYEXGEMBIETIE M
FEREETHIEEREENREBAFE(WER) -

Goodwill of approximately RMB1,732,000 was recognised
in relation to the Acquisition.
R EFEMRENE BN AR 1,732,0007T °

We considered this matter to be a key audit matter
because of the significant impact of the Acquisition on
the consolidated financial statements, and the inherent
judgement involved in estimating the fair values of the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed and the resulted
goodwill.

HRWBEENGSTBRREEATE - BYHMK
BEEMAAEBBANURALEENEEN R FEE
TR RAG  HESERRZEERERE
S

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 4, 18 and 31
to the consolidated financial statements.
THE R R E N R A I TS R MIE2 - 4 - 18 K31 ©

Our procedures, among others, included:
EEZENEFHPBE

e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer,
o HMEBMEHGEMBEN EORFBIE

e Understanding the valuation processes and
methodology, significant assumptions adopted and
key inputs used in the identification and valuation
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed;

e BHAKBEERAREABRNZRREERA
W ERE R E RANERREZ LG A
H

e Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodology and the reasonableness of
significant assumptions in determining the
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
including fair value adjustments as at date of
acquisition;

o MARMEEMKBEEKAEEENEE(REE
RUEB M AT ERAR)SATRAN T EEE
REBBRRENEEY

e Performing legal search on the Beijing
Hangyang Group to identify any contingent
liabilities and evaluating the impact (if any); and

o HItRMFREBETEERE - UHERIEMSA
BEVHEZE(NE) : &

e Assessing the disclosure of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in relation
to the Acquisition according to the applicable
accounting standards.

e WBEERMEHER T BEEBGEEHBER
RPN FENIREE -

* English name Is translated for identification only.
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Key audit matter

BARETEE

Impairment assessment of non-current assets
relating to the Beijing Hangyang Group

b T AF 5 B I B R (B AT A

Independent Auditor's Report
B 2B EN RS

REBEiEEH(E)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EEETNNEERRETSE

At 31 December 2024, the Group has goodwill of
approximately RMB1,732,000, property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB63,479,000 and right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB36,258,000 relating
to the Beijing Hangyang Group which were identified as
a cash-generating unit.
RZEBZWEF+ZA=+—H  E5EEFHEILRMH
FEERBEEENARK1,732,000T - M - WE
BN AR 63,479,000 RFRAEEEHARE
36,258,0007C * % FEERHNN B R SEEEL -

The Group performed impairment test for the non-
current assets relating to the Beijing Hangyang Group
(the "Beijing Hangyang CGU") at the end of the
reporting period. In performing the impairment test,
the Group’s management engaged an independent
professional valuer to assess the recoverable amount
of the Beijing Hangyang CGU using the value-in-use
calculation based on cash flow projections.
EXEERHEHAREEIEAMFER(LEEZMFRE
EEEN)BEBENERBEEET T RENR - BE
AR BEEETEEEEBEYEXMGERN  FARAE
REeRBANCEREEFERE  Hitr M TR
EEBEMHAIRE & FBEITM -

We have identified the impairment assessment of non-
current assets relating to the Beijing Hangyang Group as
a key audit matter due to significant estimates made by
the Group’s management in determining the recoverable
amount of the Beijing Hangyang CGU.
EEBEIEEMFEEMBENERBEERENER
REARENEFE RAA ESEEEELBRTILR
fFREEEBM A IRE S ERHEE AR -

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 4 and 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.
HEREEESHNGE N RERMF2 - 4218 -

Our procedures, among others, included:
EE2EFRFAESRBE

e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent professional valuer;
o  HMEBMEHEMERMES  BEHORFHIME

e Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies adopted in the value-in-use
calculation model;

o FAFEREEFEEMFPRANTENEE T

e  Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the underlying data applied in the
value-in-use calculation model,

o MRS FAEEERERF ERANBEEIRE
et R ABRAE

e  Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the industry and
market of the Beijing Hangyang Group;

o  REEFHITXERIRMFEETSHER  FFE
M REN SR

° Evaluating the sensitivity of impairment
assessment to changes in key assumptions; and
o FHMEREFHMEERERRREEHGURN &

e Assessing the relevant disclosure of impairment
assessment according to the applicable accounting
standards.

o REBEEANGFTER - FHHRE G ERBEE o

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

e (QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going
concern basis of accounting by the directors of the Company
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
BB R

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse conseguences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 April 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

BHMRERGEaMERRAR

EEREGE)

s REHEAH BEEERNERBXERSE
BHPBERNTDEE NETE
B SR EMBEREABERER -
BEFARES  EBERETRER
it o BENABESFNETERA
EEMEL-

BB (AR ERE)ET RSB E Kk
REBEBRETER(BEESEETTH
BB EARREE) ERIEEAR -

BEMARERE—HBY  RRE
SEMTEMBLILOEREEER
W HATRE SR B SBI MRS
P e B 75 BB 5 R (st R ) 25 58
B0 4 e R I S SRR T8 o

REHZAEESBANER BFRR/EA
MEREHBRTAPREEEMBERERM
EREENFE FHILBRNERE
FH - BFEAERBORETHAZZTS
B BRIFARIERELERAFARELZSF
B S(EEDBERT) AR EAFIE
REEFAHREBBLMABTBEMTROR
AN BEERRRERTEEESHN
WEPRE -

EEE RSN EKAMERAH
HED A
A —E-_RAFWMA-+N\H

REABIZBERENEER -

RSB
HEFERIT - P05510



Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Distribution costs

Administrative and other
operating expenses

Write-off of inventories

Reversal of (Provision for)
impairment loss on
trade receivables, net

Reversal of impairment loss on
finance lease receivables, net

Provision for impairment loss
on other receivables
Share of results of associates

Changes in fair value of convertible
notes designated as financial

liabilities at FVPL

Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Finance costs

(Loss) Profit before income tax

from continuing operations
Income tax expenses

(Loss) Profit for the year
from continuing operations

Discontinued operation

Profit for the year from discontinued

operation

Profit for the year

Cconsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEEK

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

FESEXER
Yezs
HERAR

EH
H A YA
TR R EAMEZFX

B 5 & WS IR R (B &5 18
B[l (B ) 58

MEHERYFIA
BB R IR m R
Hofth FEUGRIERL (BB 1R 4

FEIREE S N RIRAE
HBE/RAHER ABm
ZERAED
AMEREZ AP EES
HEHMBARERFRE
BUR DN

B PSS AT (&5 18) 8 A
PSR
FRICEED
FRER) R T
BRIEER
BERIERBFREF

FREF

Note
Bt

21

22

19

27
29
10

10
12

30

2024 2023
—E-MEF —ET-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
(Re-presented)
C =)
85,217 107,765
(68,353) (78,543)
16,864 29,222
4,483 462
(6,252) (779)
(26,054) (13,394)
= (52)
575 (478)
221 3,914
= (37)
(456) -
- 2,554
(124) -
(2,196) (2,028)
(12,939) 19,384
(968) (8,442)
(13,907) 10,942
17,308 2,425
3,401 13,367
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-mEF -
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
By &E AR¥T T ARETTT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Profit (Loss) for the year THALTELEER
attributable to: A (EE) -
owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ =N 4,892 18,633
Non-controlling interests VAR (1,491) (5,266)
3,401 13,367
(Adjusted)
(%)
Earnings per share from BELSERCHRILER
continuing and BRER
discontinued operations 14
Basic (RMB cent) EXR(ARES) 3.37 14.52
Diluted (RMB cent) HaE(ARES) 3.37 12.73
(Loss) Earnings per share BELESR(BER)ER
from continuing operations 14
Basic (RMB cent) ER(ARED) (8.54) 12.63
Diluted (RMB cent) HE(ARES) (8.54) 11.13
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
RelEnkEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive expenses:

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or 0SS

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Release of translation reserve upon
disposals of subsidiaries

Total other comprehensive
expenses

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income
(expenses) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note
Bt

FREF

Htb2HEBX :

HEHX BB DB LB am
ZIEH

BEBINEGZELER

W E A RIS RE R
bE W &1 29

Hith 2 HEBI X 48

FRAEZEWSAE

THALEREFAZEYE
(%)M :

ZA/NEIE? 2SN
TR RS
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2024 2023
—2-mE —F-=

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARETT

3,401 13,367

(2,628) (803)

(241) -

(2,869) (803)

532 12,564

2,023 17,830

(1,491) (5,266)

532 12,564
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

~ e B IR R

At 31 December 2024 W-Z_NFE+_-_A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Goodwiill

Investments in associates

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and other receivables

Finance lease receivables
Financial assets at FVPL
Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

Interest-bearing borrowings

Lease liabilities

Convertible notes designated as
financial liabilities at FVPL

Tax payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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W BB RRE
EREEE
BIZAE

kS

REE R BINERE

RBEE
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B 5 RGN
Hofth U FRIA
BEHERUIA

BAVEMARSZHEE
CIEACIES 2
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REAE
B SN RIE
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ATEEE
Tﬂ B8’
EBIEAFEABE
Zﬁmﬂlﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ—fﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬁ
eI R

FRBEE
HEERRBEE

FRBAEE
HEAE
SREE
BEEBEAE

FEE

Note
o EE

20
21
22
23

24

25
26

27

16
26
28

2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)

(geEah)

63,479 6,508
36,258 5,673
- 2,454

1,732 -
1,952 -
103,421 14,635
9,865 487
14,993 25,947
- 9,689

140 176

119 32
340,426 332,474
365,543 368,805
74,003 43,317
38,919 7,697
738 796

- 53,214

573 7,363
114,233 112,387
251,310 256,418
354,731 271,053
763 771
1,507 -
855 611
3,125 1,382
351,606 269,671




Cconsolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBRRR

At 31 December 2024 R-—ZE_WFE+_-_A=+—H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EERGEE

Share capital E&N

Reserves G

Equity attributable to owners RRTEE AR
of the Company

Non-controlling interests FEEAR M 2

TOTAL EQUITY MR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 200 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2025 and signed on
its behalf by

Yuan Chaoyang
=B
Director

=

2024 2023

—ECNE —E-=F

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)

(&)

32 35,534 29,865
286,453 234,584

321,987 264,449

41 29,619 5,222
351,606 269,671

FOTE200E MR BMRENR T -1F
WA+ N\BEESSHERRENE - Lh
ATAETHRERE

She Hao
RE
Director
EZ3
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REERBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

Non-
Share Share Translation ~ Accumulated Totd  controling
capial premium eserve losses reserves interests  Total equity
kx BhEE Effk  RitEE aEE  FERER fEs
Nore %) (Note 338) (Note 336)
Wiz) (i) (Hit33e)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-E-ZF-F-H 2,782 1,263,397 877 (1,059,964) 215847 10,488 256,077
Profit for the year ERET - = - 18633 18633 (5,266) 1337
Other comprehensive A2ERL:
expenses:
tem that mey be reclassified  Z#HEEHAE
subsequenty toproftorloss — ZEx2EE
Exchange differences on BERNERL
translation of foreign BHEE
operations - - (803) - (803) - (803)
Total other comprehensive 2 ERZ4E
expenses - - (803) - (803) - (803)
Total comprehensive FR2ERE(FR)
income (expenses) a8
for the year - - (803) 18633 17,830 (5,266) 12,564
Transactions with owners. SEEEARS :
Contributions and distributions - &R
Issue of shares Lpon exercise of AT ERIER
shareoptions Ao 20)  ERRAIEID) 3 907 - - 907 - 1030
Share options BRkERE
forfeited Mote 38) his) - - - 1647 - - -
Appropriation of BRIERE
statutory reserve - - - (2784) - - -
Total transactions with owners - B8 A2 545 3 907 - (1137) 907 - 1030
At 31 December 2023 RZB=zfF
+ZB=1-H 29,865 1,264,304 74 (1,042,469) 234,584 522 269671
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

Reserves
i

Share Statutory Non-
Share Share option Special surplus ~ Translation Accumulated Total  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses reserves interests  Total equity

EERh
RE  REBE BRERE  HARG fie  EXRE  ZHER ARE  FERED fEs
(Note 32)  (Note 33(a)  (Note 33(b))  (Note 33(c)  (Note 33(c))  (Note 33(e))
(Hit32) (Wi#3s@) (BEasm)  (BE3se) (BEase)  (HE336)
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARMTr ARETR ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARMTn  ARETR ARETn

A1 January 2024 RZE-ME-A-A 29,865 1,264,304 9,722 (10416) 13,368 74 (1,042,468) 234,584 5,222 269,671

Profit for the year FRER = - - - - - 4,892 4,892 (1.491) 3,401

Other comprehensive A2EEL:
expenses.

tems that may be reclessified Z# S Z577
subsequently toproftorloss — ZE#ZEE

Exchange differences on BERNER

translation of foreign BREE

operations - - - - - (2,628) = (2,628) - (2,628)
Release of translation reserve. HEMBLFE

upon disposal of subsiclaries  BRE R

ote 29) (Hit29) - - = - = (241) = (241) = (241)
Total other comprehensive 2 EE % 4%

expenses - - = = = (2.869) = (2.869) = (2,869)
Total comprehensive ERRENE(RR)

income (expenses) &g

for the year - = - - = (2,869) 4,892 2,023 (1,491) 532
Transactions with owners: SEEARE :
Contributions and distributions - #£R7F

Issue of shares upon conversion REA T ERZ ik

of convertible notes (ore 27 EAR (Wit 27) 5,669 49,846 - - - - = 49,846 = 55,515
Disposal of subsiciaries Mote 29) HERB A (H:229) - = = = (4,537) = 4,537 = (4.967) (4.967)
Acquisiton of stbsidiaries  WEHBAF

Mot 31) (Wits1) = = = = - - - - 30,675 30,675
Capital inection from FrlhERE

non-controling nterests - - - - = = = - 180 180
Share options forfeited BRNERE

(ote ) (i) = - (4,704) - - - 4,704 - - -
Appropriation of statutory  EEETEE

reserve - - - - 462 - (462) - - -
Total transactions with owners B AT 548 5,669 49,846 (4,704) - (4,075) - 87719 49,846 25,888 81,403
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mE
+ZB=1-H 35534 1,314,150 5018 (10,416) 9,293 (2,795)  (1,028,797) 286,453 29,619 351,606
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Cconsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEBRERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

cash flow from RETH I HERE
operating activities
(Loss) Profit before income tax from 34548 & 275 %

continuing operations Frig®iar (1) & H
Profit before income tax from B E TR FTS B ADE T
discontinued operation
Adjustments for: BTYEIRFE -
Interest income FEHA
Finance costs [ELEEND PN
Write-off of property, plant and ME - BRE KRR
equipment
Write-off of right-of-use assets 5 AR EEME
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - &= M RETE
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FAEEENTE
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEE

Write-off of inventories FEMH
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B 7] 25558
Changes in fair value of financial BRAFEGTABRZ
assets at FVPL, net TREEDN
N EZEFE
Changes in fair value of BT AR A A AERE
convertible notes designated as ZEEEENTIR
financial liabilities at FVPL BEEZ AT EES
Rent concession received BEGSHESER
Reversal of impairment loss on ELEME R W IR RE
finance lease receivables, net sgicbed EIbE
Provision for impairment loss Ho b fE W sk I8
on other receivables B E BRI
(Reversal of) Provision 2 5 FIA R EE B
for impairment loss for (BEE) BT
trade receivables, net
Share of results of associates JE(LEEE RN A EE
Exchange difference IE =5

Operating cash flows before EEESRBAIZ
movements in working capital RKEESHRE

Changes in working capital: EEEeE
Inventories rE
Trade and other receivables 2 5 REINEIE K
HoAth fE Y 5RIR
Trade and other payables B PR FHIER
H At FERT5RIR
Finance lease receivables EE R E W RIE

Cash generated from operations K& ZEFERE
Income tax paid BATATER

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

2024 2023

Note —E-NE —E-=F
MIE RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETFIT
(Re-presented)

C=0))

(12,939) 19,384

30 17,483 2,980
(574) (445)

2,225 2,052
1,780 -

731 -

1,777 1,171
1,044 926

332 1,965

- 52

(17,109) -

36 19

- (2,554)

(21) (68)

(221) (3,914)

- 37

(703) 1,514

456 -

(366) 1,543
(6,069) 24,662
(3,558) (101)
8,998 (14,824)
7,538 (2,110)
9,910 326,270
16,819 333,897
(5,018) (13,210)




Net cash from
operating activities

Cash flow from
investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash inflow from disposal
of subsidiaries
Net cash outflow from acquisition
of subsidiaries

Net cash (used in) from
investing activities

Cash flow from
financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercise of share options

Inception of interest-bearing
borrowings

Repayment of interest-bearing
borrowings

Partial redemption of
convertible notes

Capital injection from
non-controlling interests

Payment for lease liabilities

Interest paid

Net cash used in
financing activities

Net increase in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the
reporting period
Effect of foreign exchange
rates changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the reporting period,
represented by bank balances
and cash

consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
e

BERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

Note
P &

REEBFTE
REeFHE

REZBFRERERE

B UL
BEYX  BEREZE

HERBQARELD
RERNFEE 29
g DpE=RNGIL:|
REMHFEE 31

RAEH () F18
ReHE
RAEH A ERSTE
BT RS 31T
Bt 2 B3R
AR B
42(0)

\H

\ﬂﬂ}

EEFTEE
42(b)
o & O A A R R
42(b)
e DT E

XNEHERE 42(b)
EfNFE 42(b)

BMEEBA
REeRHE

Re MREeFEWRINFE

BEHMIORERREEEY

INEEEBE Y HE

BEHARREER
RE%EY -
LURITREBRR B EFIR
24

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBEFIT
(Re-presented)

(& E5))

11,801 320,687
574 445
(1,174) (82)
27,866 -
(28,190) -
(924) 363

- 1,030

6,816 4,291
(8,387) (1,247)
- (10,864)

180 —
(783) (780)
(795) (2,033)
(2,969) (9,603)
7,908 311,447
332,474 21,839
44 (812)
340,426 332,474

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

76

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the
“Group”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 March
2006 and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Cayman
Companies Law"). Its shares were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 1 February 2007. The address of the registered
office of the Company is Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, P.O. Box 31119, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is Unit 5, 7/F.,
Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 40
to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB"), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company. All
amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise stated.

—REH
—ERREFEEERAR(ERA
Al ZREMBRARSREAIK
B ))REFASHES EE(H
ERBRARNENE2E(—NR—
FENREN - BERE RIERT)R
ZEEXRF=A-t—BEHSH
EAME T ELASREERA
Bl ERMHR _ZEZT+FE-A—H
REBBERZFABRAB([HR
Fr ) ER BT o AAQ BRGNS
B A Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, P.O.
Box 31119, KY1-1205, Cayman
Islands > A QX R H)E B & E i 26
it BB B NEBRIEBREBES7 R
F¥ESTESE o

ARRREEERRARENB A
GIESESEE 039S TR=Np v e}
FE40 © R E M HR AR QAL
BREBARB(TAR®DEZS - K
SAEFEIN  MBERBECOEAA
ERE T -

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FETHEK
Statement of compliance &l 52 e

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“"HKICPA"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group is set out below.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") and
convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL,
which are stated at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the
2023 consolidated financial statements except for the adoption
of the new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards and effective
from the current financial reporting period as detailed below.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to
HK Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

2.

EREABRGR)

BHIEEA (1)

IR FHER AR ([RAFES
AB#DNSREE EHE/RA
FEFABRENEHB A AN]SR
SBINT XSt BORAEE 2
BRHEREIN  RmERA MR
RIVABE LA BETEEE -

ZEFAEMBRRORREERR
BT —FREVBERERAER
VEETBOR — B RS T 3G
Z BN BAERA B B AR B R R
BRI ER 2 FTa]EIETT BB
B s R G T ERIBRSN o

BRAMEETEEMBEE
ER e at2ER

AEEEBREA T &E
Rl BB RE LR S LR

BAEHEE AENERRY
TSRZERTAR  IERB

BRI ELFE MHREN
1RZERIA  FERBAR

FERBEST MBHRRZ
ZIERTR 25 -ERA

HERRER
BB R
EHERZ
S

TERHER  HEERE R

B7HRBEE

B

L

ZHERTAR

FrEMBHRE SRALW
ERIFE 1658 HERE
ZIERTAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as
current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the
statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with
an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current
(due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-
current. The amendments include clarifying the classification
requirements for debt a company might settle by converting it
into equity.

The adoption of the amendments results in restropective
reclassification of the convertible notes designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL of approximately RMB53,214,000 (previously
under non-current liabilities) as current liabilities in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2023. The Group's consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2023 was not presented as the restropective
application has no material impact on the information in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the beginning of
the preceding period.

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with
covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with
after the reporting date do not affect the classification of debt
as current or non-current at the reporting date. Instead, the
amendments require a company to disclose information about
these covenants in the notes to the consolidated financial
Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5: Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

This interpretation is revised as a consequence of Amendments
to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change
in conclusion.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements and
their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback in
a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements
do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in profit or loss
any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a
lease.

Except for the effect of “Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” mentioned above,
the adoption of the above amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
equity holders of the Company, in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and within equity
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice
of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are initially
measured at fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS Accounting Standards.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
is attributed to the owners of the Company and the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost. The
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the holding company
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts
owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a
financial asset or liability, an associate, a joint venture or others,
as appropriate, from the date when control is lost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the
Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added
to the cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
in the subsidiary were recognised in other comprehensive
income (for example, equity investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income), the amount that was recognised
in other comprehensive income is recognised on the same
basis as would be required if the previously held equity interest
were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated
in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that
comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly
distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes,
from the rest of the Group. It represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of a
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as
a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the
operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if
earlier. It also occurs when the operation is abandoned.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, interests in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amounts of the
interests are reduced to their respective recoverable amount on
an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates

An associate is entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention
and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment in an
associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure
the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interests
in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associate have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, over their
estimated useful lives at the annual rate as set out below from
the date on which they are available for use and after taking
into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:

Buildings 3.33% or over
the unexpired
term of lease,

if shorter

Leasehold improvements 10% t0 33%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

10% to 33%

Motor vehicles 12.5% to 20%

Plant and machinery 3.33% t0 33%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

construction in progress

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction. Construction in progress is stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The cost includes cost of construction
and other direct costs plus borrowing costs which include
interest charges and exchange differences arising from foreign
currency borrowings used to finance these projects during the
construction period, to the extent that these are regarded as an
adjustment to borrowing costs.

Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time
as the assets are completed and substantially ready for their
intended use and transferred to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or
when there is any indication that intangible assets has suffered
an impairment l0ss.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Derecognition of other intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of
the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory
FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI”); or (iv)
measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected financial
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVPL:

() itis held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or l0ss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
finance lease receivables, trade and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)
2)  Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at FVPL, financial assets
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies
and financial assets that are otherwise required to be
measured at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss, which
does not include any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets. Dividend or interest income is presented
separately from fair value gain or l0ss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in
the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective hedging
instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B R AR B

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)
2)  Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:
(Continued)

The Group's financial assets at FVPL include listed equity
securities.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are direct attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowing, lease liabilities and convertible
notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL. All financial
liabilities, except for financial liabilities at FVPL, are recognised
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the
effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain
and loss (excluding interest expenses) recognised in profit or
loss, except for the portion of fair value changes of financial
liabilities designated at FVPL that are attributable to the credit
risk of the liabilities which is presented in other comprehensive
income unless such treatment would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

(i part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or
not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if:

(i)  the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different
bases,

(i) they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management
strategy; or

(i) they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

FEEHE(E)

®MTR(E)

2R 7 (1)

DER A E (E)
TRAEGBNBATEE  RIDER
FHEEE :

) AREHANDEZZZEEHN
MELE :

(il BREX&ETEENDZII
MIAHEAW—#n BF
R BN BN 00 R I
HIREE IR e B AR
%

(i) W BERE ORI IFE
ERMEPTANITAETA -

SHEARERA TR ENHRR
B IR R A FEE AR -

() HETEBIARAERE
RARERHEAELEME
o R S ATAT B 4 2
SHEARRLER

i) HA—EeBABERLBE
EARHS  LeBEEZ
EIRBE AT EEATE 2
KRB HR-ERBZAR
EIREIEIT | X

(iiy EBE—BEXZEHRANLT
ETHE: ABEREEAHNK
AiEEARAFEFAER
ZEBBE BIERMARXST
STETMERBERNEZBEESN
ENEOPEEIEDBERA
RPTETE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

The convertible notes issued by the Group (including related
embedded derivative) are designated as financial liabilities at
FVPL on initial recognition. Subsequent to the initial recognition,
the entire convertible notes are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise except for the changes in fair value attributable
to the changes of the credit risk of the liabilities.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that
is not an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as
separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a
derivative, their economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to those of the host, and the hybrid contract is
not measured at FVPL.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost issued to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
= SRR M AT

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) pastdue information

(i nature of instrument

(i) industry of debtors

(iv)  geographical location of debtors

(v)  external credit risk ratings where available

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss

with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
iS more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

e the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

e Qactual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet
its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, except
for the receivables for which the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that previous non-
payments were an administrative oversight, instead of resulting
from financial difficulty of the borrower, or that there is no
correlation between significant increases in the risk of a default
occurring and financial assets on which payments are more
than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

Cash and cash equivalent are determined to have low credit
risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without significant financing components,
the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL.
The Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date and has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower'’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
The Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount
based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount
written off. However, financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group'’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account
legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
net of bank overdrafts, if any.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, costs of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
Costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

(@) sales of pharmaceutical products; and

(b) rendering of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic
Services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@ agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b)  aseries of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(@ the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced; or

() the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continuea)

Sales of pharmaceutical products and other goods are
recognised at a point in time at which the customer obtains
the control of the promised asset, which generally coincides
with the time when the goods are delivered and title has been
passed.

Rendering of genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services
is recognised over time when the services are rendered. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the services are
rendered to the customers at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is required
before payment is due.

Revenue from other sources
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company'’s functional currency is
Renminbi (‘RMB") and majority of its subsidiaries used RMB as
their functional currency, except for the subsidiaries operated
in Hong Kong and adopted Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$") as their
functional currency. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the Group's entities
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at
the end of the reporting period.

e Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are translated at the
average exchange rates.

e All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

e On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

e On the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

e On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that its property, plant and equipment (including
construction in progress), right-of-use assets, intangible assets,
investment in an associate and the Company’s investments
in subsidiaries may be impaired or impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated, based on the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of
assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior periods. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised as an
income in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account/recognised as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease
at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

FEEHE(E)

£

EAREERCBAENEHAAER
BEESHEEEET  METEESR
AREYEaRENENERR
- BRIAEMGEREESR - AR
REE - BREEINOL - B
AR A E RS T
kR - BN ZHRERREETR
AWEL TR - URIE ATE & E
et - WEENEREESEA - Al
Bz R IRBEMANERZE
ezt 2 BB - HAKEE
MR EREEN  RENERER
AEESEENZBESEBEE

=7
s °©

T FF5 6 B

11 BE & B2 OR 78 35 RJ W R 75 B B 5 45
BFTAME R - AT BN IR E
RFEER - WA EMANIAR
BR - BIRARGEERHEE
HEE XA S 2 FEERR
WA - B EREERR - AAF
Bt ABIERARR R RERE
EREE IR YNEREEL
B AERPREEFLBER

NV
S o

I

HER

REBREHRBRTIGEGHOES
REEEHE - MKW KBRIKE
s FE-BREEREH 2 HFIE
EERNERN - AZEHNARER

HE -

EBREA
rEBYEHEEMEEEEEM
ERAERH R - xEFHEMRBN
HEMRIRERZREEHAER
R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which case
depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) at the annual rate as follows:

Land use rights 2% t0 10%
Leased properties 20% to 50%

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(@ the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(@ the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above;

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract;

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term;

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to
the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss;
and

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a
short-term lease to which the Group has applied the recognition
exemption. Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance
or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components
of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on a relative stand-alone
price basis.

As lessor - finance lease

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded
as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases. The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the net investment in the finance
lease.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a
separate lease if both:

(@ the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group accounts for the modification as
follows:

(@) if the lease would have been classified as an operating
lease had the modification been in effect at the inception
date, the Group:

(i) accounts for the lease modification as a new lease

from the effective date of the modification; and

(i) measures the carrying amount of the underlying
asset as the net investment in the lease immediately
before the effective date of the lease modification.

(b)  otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 9.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as expenses in profit or l0ss
as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior the contributions are
vested fully in those employees. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settied transactions

The Group's employees, including the directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby the employees rendered services in exchange for
shares or rights over shares. The cost of such transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity.
The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking
into account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the
date on which the entitlement of relevant employees to the
award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-
market vesting conditions (“vesting date”). During the vesting
period, the number of share options that is expected to vest
ultimately is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited to profit or
loss for the year of review, with a corresponding adjustment to
the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits/losses.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
any deferred tax arises from initial recognition of goodwill; or
other asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
interest in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
consolidated financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose
of allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the holding company of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the holding company of the
Group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FTESHRKE(E)

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued) RREAL(#)

Close members of the family of a person are those family RAANTBHEZINREKEIBT

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced HAEEETRSNABRFETE

by, that person in their dealings with the Group and include: HEZANTHIZEZENREER

8 B

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (@) ZALHTFLZMEBFEFE
#1a

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and by ZALTHEEBXFEEHED
T K

() dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or (©0 mALTHELRBHRAEMNAE

domestic partner. RSB A ©

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes HREATHERF  BEQAE

subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes FHMERNFINNEBAR A&

subsidiaries of the joint venture. BREaEENMBRGR -
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FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are not yet effective for the
current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Volume 11 @

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity @

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements @

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures @

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture @

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
@ The effective date to be determined

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRS Accounting Standards in
future periods will have any material impact on the consolidated
financial results of the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the Group’s management in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. They
affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,
and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of revision
and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty B TP RERZEERE
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right-of- Y¥E BERBRE EHESELR
use assets and intangible assets WEEERAIEHER

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets of similar
nature and functions. The Group’s management will increase
the depreciation and/or amortisation charges where useful lives
are less than previously estimated lives. It will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in useful lives and therefore affect the related depreciation and/
or amortisation charges in future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets, including property, plant
and equipment, construction in progress, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets, at the end of each reporting period in
accordance with the accounting policies as disclosed in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements. In determining
whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing
the impairment no longer exists, the management has to
assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has not
been in existence. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amounts of the asset would be determined as the greater
of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, the
calculations of which involve the use of estimates. Owing to
inherent risk associated with estimations in the timing and
amounts of the future cash flows and fair value less costs of
disposal, the estimated recoverable amount of the asset may
be different from the amount actually received and profit or loss
could be affected by accuracy of the estimations.

Impairment of investments in associates

Investments in associates are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The estimation
of recoverable amount of requires use of judgments and
estimates.

The Group’s management judgment is required for assessing
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related carrying amount of
interests may not be recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying
amount of the investments in associates can be supported by
the recoverable amount. Changing the estimations used by
management in assessing impairment could materially affect
the recoverable amount used in the impairment test and as
a result affect the Group’s consolidated financial position and
consolidated results of operations.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. Details of the
impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for inventories

The Group's management reviews the condition of inventories,
at the end of each reporting period, and makes allowance for
inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving or
no longer recoverable. The Group carries out the inventory
review on a product-by-product basis and makes allowances
by reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions.

Allowance for impairment loss

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
financial assets at amortised costs including, trade and other
receivables and finance lease receivables, by using various
inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and expected
loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty
which is based on the Group's historical information, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade and other receivables and finance
lease receivables.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

The initial accounting on the acquisition of subsidiaries involves
identifying and determining the fair value to be assigned to
the identified assets and liabilities of the acquired entities.
The fair values of the identified assets and liabilities are
determined by reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional valuer where applicable. Any changes
in assumptions used and estimates made in determining the
fair value will impact the carrying amount of these assets and
liabilities.

4.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of financial
assets at FVPL, cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing
borrowings, convertible notes designated as financial liabilities
at FVPL and lease liabilities. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise and maintain finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial instruments
such as trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables
and trade and other payables, which arise directly from its
business activities.

MEREEE

AEENTESRTABREAYF
Bt ABGZzEREE R LB
EEY  AHEEER BE/RA
FEFABS 2 ERAERNA]RR
REFHERE HFERMTAE
EARRARENEEERRER
BEg-AKENERAMBSRT
B (& 5 & Wk I8 S B b & WK
B BMEMERWIE  BEHEN
RIEREMBEMN KBS ERRELE
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EEEEL -
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been CRTAMNSTBREEANUT
applied to the line items below: £IF :
2024 2023
—E-_F —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AREFIT
Assets EE
Financial assets at FVPL BAFEFTABZZEREE
Listed equity securities in HongKong &8 kAN B H 140 176
Financial assets at amortised cost RE#EKATEZEREE
Finance lease receivables B E T & W EIE - 9,689
Trade and other receivables B 5 e Wk I8 K Bt i UL SR IE 12,843 24,865
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 340,426 332,474
353,269 367,028
Liabilities =K
Financial liabilities at FVPL BRATEFAEZZSRERS
Convertible notes designated EEREATFEFAERZ
as financial liabilities at FVPL B EN AR ER - 53,214
Financial liabilities at REBHERATTEZSRAE
amortised cost
Trade and other payables B 5 FE 3R IE Ko H At FE < RRIB 69,249 42,016
Interest-bearing borrowings AEEE 40,426 7,697
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,501 1,567
111,176 51,280
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk and price risk. The Group generally adopts conservative
strategies on the Group’s risk management and limits
the Group's exposure to these risks to a minimum. The
management of the Group reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.
The Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all
financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to (i) cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate and (ii)
the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings with variable interest
rate. The Group has not used any derivative contracts to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk.

cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank balances
carried at prevailing market rate

The Group has not formulated a policy to manage the interest
rate risk as the management do not expect the interest rate
for bank deposits would be significantly changed in the next 12
months from 31 December 2024.

Interest-bearing borrowings with variable interest rate

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-bearing
borrowings are disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

If the interest rate for those interest-bearing borrowings with
variable interest rate had increased/decreased by 1% and all
other variables held constant, the Group's results for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would be decreased/increased by
approximately RMB270,000 (2023: Nil) as a result of changes in
variable interest rate.

The above sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the reasonably possible changes in the interest rate has
occurred at the beginning of the reporting period and has been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk in existence at the
end of the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings with variable interest rate
(Continued)

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk because
the exposure at 31 December 2024 do not reflect the exposure
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
Group entities. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other receivables included in
the consolidated statement of financial position represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets at amortised cost.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit-rating agencies.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as approximately 71% (2023 36%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest trade debtor and
approximately 99% (2023: 77%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's five largest trade debtors.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its
finance team to develop and maintain the Group's credit risk
grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of
risk of default. The finance team uses publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own historical repayment records
to rate its major customers and debtors. The Group's exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously
monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises
the following categories:

M EEREE ()

S5 (1)
RTHEERRBRERE  KNEE
EREEM BB HE R FAE
B EERBRR - UREREY
[\ B A2 T P B L PR 1T D 4R o
MBS ER QY HER RAE
EARSHBEERCEAHETE
B MEBAELRA - NEERR
R R N 5 F 77 M E B R
BEE - TERNRSRERY S
ERMENETFT -

AEBERTEERRFRERERE
AT&%E

Basis for recognising
expected credit loss

Category Description ("ECL")
BREHEEESE
(EHEEBERED

il ik W%

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12 months ECL
any past-due amounts for other receivables and finance lease
receivables.

Ruf HREMEUGIEARBERERKRIENS - ¥FANELN 12EABBEEEE
[ B 1 1 B2 I 8 AT {r] 20 HA SRIE o

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial ~ Lifetime ECL — not
recognition for trade and other receivables and finance lease credit-impaired
receivables.

A&t HRESRAMBRREUALBRERSRKFIENS - BYR 2HRBEEER
BERUREERBBEZEILM —EEERIE

In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired for trade  Lifetime ECL — credit
and other receivables and finance lease receivables. impaired

EH HRESREMBRRBUALBRERSRKFIANS - AFE 2HBRBEEER
XABECHREERE - —EHREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial ~ Amount is written off
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery for
trade and other receivables and finance lease receivables.

g HRESREMBRFIBUALBERERKFIAMS - AFE WHEAENE

RPEBABARENERE - B AEEKREIFKIBNATSOPE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. For finance lease receivables, the Group has applied
the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on
the past default experience of the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics.

The Group considers that the other receivables have low
credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
low risk of default. No impairment on the other receivables is
recognised based on the measurement on 12-month ECL.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term. The Group finances its working capital
requirements mainly by the funds generated from operations
and external financing.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. MERMEEE(E)

Liquidity risk (Continued) mEE SR (HE)

The Group's financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period RFEHARAEERE S KRR
based on contractual undiscounted payments are summarised MRS aE#RRnT :

below:

Total
Total  contractual  Less than 1
carrying undiscounted  year or on
amount cash flow demand 1-2 years 2-5 years

BENARE  OR-£9
REAE RERELE BEX —8zF ZERF
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARMTR

At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-m%
IS ERSS:
Trade and other payables B ENTERE RN 69,249 69,249 69,249 = =
Interest-bearing borrowings GEEE 40,426 41,704 40,053 121 1,530
Lease liabilities MEaRE 1,501 1,569 785 620 164
111,176 112,522 110,087 M 1,694
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=t-H
Trade and other payables Bk ﬁ FEREMENTE 42,016 2,016 42,016 - -
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 7,697 8,082 8,082 - -
Lease liabilities HEBE 1567 1,668 849 328 491
Convertiole notes designated as & ARATE AERZ
financial liabilities at FVPL SRARNITAREE 53,214 57,763 1,630 1630 54,503
104,494 109,529 52,577 1,958 54,994
Note: The amount repayable under bank loan agreements that included a Htet - BEETERBH(BEETER
clause that gave the lenders an unconditional right to call the loan at ABER G HREHDKODE R Z G
any time are classified under the category of “less than 1 year or on ) EEENSEIEAI DR —
demand”. However, the management of the Group does not expect FRIRBR] - A - AEEER
that the lenders would exercise such right to demand the repayment EBEFERATSITE L EEERA
and thus the borrowings, which included the related interests, would ERhER AEZSEE(BEME
be repaid according to the below schedule as set out in the loan B R ERERBEPEHIGOT
agreements. PRSI REE o
2024 2023
—E-mF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARETT
Less than 1 year or on demand DR—FHIREK 16,037 8,082
1102 years —E=F 24,622 -
2 to 3 years —E=F 1,530 -
42,189 8,082
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. AFHEHE
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset RNEEAMS2EENRGTEANE
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between BRFRXSHH HEEER LU s i
market participants at the measurement date. The following EEEAREINZERE - TXEY
presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value or BATFEFEIERIL ST BRE
required to disclose their fair value in these financial statements FIREE A ERER SRS
on a recurring basis across the three levels of the fair value LEAE13HEIAFEFEINART
hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, ATEER=—EBREEATEZ
with the fair value measurement catergorised in its entirety BERAE ETEREEHEAT
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the entire B2 A ERFEZRRBAER
measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows: BREREBEAFEFEDSE - HATEE
ZERATEWOT

e Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active e F—Efw AHEES

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group ®) - AEBRFTEH ARG

can access at the measurement date. ZHEREEXBENERT

52 WECRERHE) -

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within e ZE_ERBWAEE:REE
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either NEGEEEXHEENBEE 2
directly or indirectly. BASB(FE—EREE W

BRI o

e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or o F="BHEmAZHEBEEIEK

liability. B BEXEEZ TABE
5 AU o

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair BAFEHENERNEERAR

value

Fair value measurements At 31 December 2024 using
RZB-ME+-A=+-AMAATEESR:

Quoted prices Significant
Fair value at in active market other Significant
31December  for identified observable  unobservable
2024 underlying items inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERAIREER BEAREAM EX
WERH S If 1 FABE
WHRE BAYE BABE
(B-4) (B=%) (F=1)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARETR N B

Recurring fair value measurement &% #AFEE
Assets gE
Listed equity securities inHongKong &8 EmRAZEH 140 140 - -
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (Continued)

6. LFHETE(HE)

BOFEMAENEMREERAR

(%)

Fair value measurements At 31 December 2023 using

RZB_=F+_A=+—HAMAATEER

Quoted prices Significant
Fairvalueat  inactive market other Significant
31 December for identified observable unobservable
2023 underlying items inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
RZBZ=F CHEEEE EXEM EX
+-A=+-H RERMS EEES FAHE
ZBVE K E GARE BARE
(BF-H) (F=H) (=)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR
Recurring fair value measurement £E#ATENE
Assets BE
Listed equity securities in HongKong & ERAZEH 176 176 - -
Liabilities =4
Convertible notes designated as EEBEATES A BSEY
financial liabilities at FVPL PRARNITARSE 53,214 - - 53,214
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements: BEMAVFEEZHE
2024 2023
—E-lEF —ET=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETTT
At 1 January R—H—H 65,089
Redeemed during the year RERER - (10,864)
Changes in fair value N EEE - (2,554)
Conversion into ordinary shares it AT R (55,515) -
Exchange difference EHER 2,301 1,543
At 31 December R+—A=+—H - 53,214

Except for the conversion and redemption of convertible
notes, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3 during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Bresit K fE O] n] B IR AN - BB
ZENERZT_=F+=A
—+—HIEFE  FEBREEC
B MBI meEs  JRmes Ao e
HE=ER - XEBZBXARR
LHRAFERBREAEEEZET
VAR ©
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure,
but not measured at fair value

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at
amounts not materially different from their fair values at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the executive
directors of the Company, being identified as the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

()  Pharmaceutical products segment. development,
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical
products, sales of pharmaceutical related software and
provision of consultancy services;

(i) Finance leasing segment: provision of finance leasing
services; and

(i)  Genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services
segment: provision of genetic testing and molecular
diagnostic services (which was reclassified as
discontinued operation (Note 30)).

segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the CODM monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, goodwill
and current assets with the exception of financial assets at
FVPL, investments in associates and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and certain other payables
attributable to the activities of the individual segments.
Convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and
other liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as these
liabilities are managed on a corporate basis.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the executive
directors of the Company, being identified as the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group
has presented the following three reportable segments. No
operating segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

()  Pharmaceutical products segment: development,
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical
products, sales of pharmaceutical related software and
provision of consultancy services;

(i) Finance leasing segment: provision of finance leasing
services; and

(i) Genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services
segment: provision of genetic testing and molecular
diagnostic services (which was reclassified as
discontinued operation (Note 30)).

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the CODM monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, goodwill
and current assets with the exception of financial assets at
FVPL, investments in associates and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and certain other payables
attributable to the activities of the individual segments.
Convertible notes designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and
other liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as these
liabilities are managed on a corporate basis.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment results is adjusted
earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and
amoritisation (“Adjusted EBITDA"), where “interest” includes
interest income from bank and finance costs and “depreciation
and amortisation” includes depreciation/amortisation of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets. To arrive at adjusted earnings, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as remuneration of the Company’s
directors and auditor, gain/loss on disposal of subsidiaries and
other head office or corporate administration costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted profit or loss, the CODM is provided with segment
information concerning revenue, interest income, depreciation
and amortisation, write-off of property, plant and equipment,
write-off of right-of-use assets, write-off of inventories,
provision for/reversal of impairment losses, finance costs,
additions to non-current segment assets and gain/loss on
disposal of subsidiaries relating to the respective segments.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out below.
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BEBEERE R BB
FRBOBEERENLEENH
BRANHENBLRKE B -

WD AN G BR BER S MR
KM FE2R AT AR E AN S5
BRMAR o

BE_Z-_NFR-_ZT-_=F+=
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ERDE2EREINNT - ZEE
RRETFEBLERBEUSE
BREFTED IR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. #EBEHEGE)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) SWER FERARBGE)
2024 —EEF

Discontinued
operation
BRIEEK

Continuing operations

Reportable segment revenue
from external customers

Reportable segment profit
(Adjusted EBITDA)

Reportable segment assets
Reportable segment liabilities

Other segment
information (Note):

Bank interest income

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation

Write-off of property, plant and
equipment

Write-off of right-of-use assets

Reversal of impairment loss on
finance lease receivables

Reversal of impairment loss on
trade receivables, net

(Loss) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B2 8] (E18) =

Additions to non-current assets

REMBEFZATLH
2B

AE2HABEF
(#RAZEBITDA)

AEHRSBEE
2K HAE
Hitp AR (HE) -

RITAEMA
BIERA
e s

A A E M

REREEKHRERE
BEEE

B RAGORBERE
BEFEE

NEFRBEE

Pharmaceutical
products

BRER
RMB'000
AR®T R

Finance
leasing

MERE
RMB'000
AR®ET R

Genetic
testing and
molecular
diagnostic
services
EERA
RA2FEY
D E R
RMB‘000
AR%T R

Consolidated

&%
RMB'000
AR®T R

85,047 170 5,721 90,938
3,683 65 637 4,385
132,699 801 - 133,500
55,480 936 = 56,416
355 202 8 565
(939) = (29) (968)
(2,782) = (366) (3,148)
(1,780) - = (1,780)
(731) = = (731)

- 221 - 221

575 = 128 703
(370) 246 17,233 17,109
1,229 = 2,238 3,467

CERBELEEARAT « —R-METERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
= SRR M AT

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. SWBEEGE)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) SRR BWERARE)
2023 —E=F
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
FECEER BERIEEB
Genetic
testing and
molecular
Pharmaceutical Finance diagnostic
products leasing services Consolidated
EE A
RaFHEY
BEER mMEHEE PR A5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFT ARBFT ARBFT
Reportable segment revenue REINIEP 27 2
from external customers 7 ab e 100,517 7,248 14,333 122,098
Reportable segment profit A2HDHEF
(Adjusted EBITDA) (K5 FAEEBITDA) 19,818 10,355 3,665 33,838
Reportable segment assets AERHBEE 33,937 337,414 9,206 380,557
Reportable segment liabilities AEBHHERE 16,492 1,919 7,126 25,537
Other segment information (Note):  EA D BVE R (H1) -
Bank interest income ﬁEﬁﬂ%H&)\ 81 356 2 439
Finance costs TN (57) - (24) (81)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (3,143) @3) (667) (3,807)
Write-off of inventories FEMH (52) - - (52)
Reversal of impairment loss on BAMRERKFIERE
finance lease receivables BEER - 3914 - 3914
Provision for impairment loss on BN IERERE
trade receivables, net BiEEE (478) - (1,036) (1,514)
Provision for impairment loss on Hi IR EBE
other receivables BB (37) - - 37
Addition to non-current assets REFTBEE - - 1,001 1,091
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue T2 n B EIEINIRPEE
generated from external customers. There were no significant zuﬂz/\ o Eﬂz ZE_MER=E

inter-segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2024

and 2023.

Note:

Any difference between the total amounts set out in the above segment
information and the amounts reported elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements represented the unallocated portion for the corporate

office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue,

result, assets and liabilities

Revenue from continuing and
discontinued operations

Reportable segment revenue
from external customers

Total reportable segment
profit from continuing and
discontinued operations
(Adjusted EBITDA)
Other income
Depreciation and amortisation
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Share of results of associates
Finance costs
Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses
— staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)
— changes in fair value of convertible
notes designated
as financial liabilities at FVPL
— others

Consolidated profit before
income tax, from continuing
and discontinued operations

REFFEAKERELLE

EB KW
KBEIBEFZ
A 2% Bl

KEFELERELIL

7. DEWEEE)
AE2RSBKE X8 EER
BEZYHIE
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT

90,938 122,098

FEGE R 28 B A

(4 A#LEBITDA)

H A YA

e R
ST R B e H R
R UNEIE S

BRSO
RABAEMER K
RARAX

4,385 33,838
3,381 445
(3,153) (4,062)
17,109 -
(456) -

(2,225) (2,052)

— BIRA(BRERHE)

(5,457) (3,769)

— HBERBRAHEFABRZ

SEE B ATRR
=2 ATEED
— Ef

REFHEALEER
SR EBH
BRATS B A ERF

= 2,554
(9.040) (4,590)

4,544 22,364

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. SEMEE(E)
Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, AE2ENHBKE XK EER
result, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZHIEE)

132

2024 2023

—E-ME B

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFIT

Reportable segment assets AIZWRHHAEE 133,500 380,557

Financial assets at FVPL BEAFEFAEBZZ EMEE 140 176

Investments in assoicates REE R AR E 1,952 -
Unallocated head office and ROMBRBERAREE

corporate assets 333,372 2,707

consolidated total assets REHMEE 468,964 383,440

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFIT

Reportable segment liabilities AIZwRHHaE 56,416 25,537

Convertible notes designated EERBRATEFABR SR

as financial liabilities at FVPL BEMITBRRKRER - 53,214
Unallocated head office and FOMEREBERAFEE

corporate liabilities 60,942 35,018

consolidated total liabilities mesas 117,358 113,769
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographic Information
Revenue from external customers

The following sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group's revenue from external customers, based
on the location at which the services were provided or the
goods delivered.

Continuing operations BEREER
The PRC =8
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Hong Kong B

Non-current assets

No non-current assets information is presented for the Group's
geographical location, as over 90% of the Group’s non-current
assets are located in the PRC.

7. SBREGE)
MERH
KESBEEZ W2
TRBIBBARERBINDES
Z Wk P IIE 2 ERL - BT
TR IR H RS R E R E

[P

2024 2023
—E-WEF ZEZ=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTF T
(Re-presented)

(&E51)

85,217 107,765
5,721 14,333
90,938 122,098

FiBHEE

AEEYEZINEREIFRDEERN
ol B R B S 5K B 4B 90% B
FERBEEMNTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. SEBEE(E)
Information about major customers FREEERZEH
Details of the customers (including entities under common REEEA - ERME RN EE B =S
control) individually accounting for 10% or more of total revenue (RERELCERDRIEER) 10%
of the Group (from continuing and discontinued operations) S EMEF(BREARZESITH
during the reporting periods are as follows: BEEFIBOT -

2024 2023
—BomF —F-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTIT
(Re-presented)

(&&&:7))
Continuing operations FERSEER
Pharmaceutical products segment HEBHEEMD I
Customer A BEPA 39,903 40,604
Customer B =FB 9,422 13,358
Customer C EFC 9,756 Note i3
2024 2023
—EBMMF —TEC-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETT
(Re-presented)
(&&E7))
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Genetic testing and molecular ERBA RS FED
diagnostic services segment ZERB D E
Customer D ZFD Note FfizE 13,806
Note: i ora
These customers contributed less than 10% of revenue of the Group (from HE-_Z_NHEFRER_ZE-_=F+=A
continuing and discontinued operations) for the years ended 31 December =+ BHLEE  ZEFFEHRERASE
2024 and 2023, respectively. Erl=(REHELCERBRIEER)K

R 10% ©
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are the development,
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical
products, provision of finance leasing services and provision of
genetic testing and molecular diagnostic services.

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised

during the reporting periods are as follows:

Continuing operations BEKSEER

Revenue from contracts with BEEMBREEAEISHER
customers within HKFRS 15 REEFEHZHE

At a point in time RE R

— Sales of pharmaceutical products —— $HEEEE T

— Sales of other goods

Revenue from other sources
Finance leasing interest income

Discontinued operation BRIEER
Revenue from contracts with ERAMBBREEAEISHER
customers within HKFRS 15 REEEEHzZWE
Over time & Py
— Provision of genetic testing — ?;E'ET LR E R &
and molecular diagnostic services o FEMDE R

— HEEMER

B H A RIF 2 Wi
BMEHEFBUWA

For sales of pharmaceutical products and other goods, revenue
is recognised when control of goods has transferred, being

&=

RAEEMEZXBAME - 8E -
iR R HEEEE R - R
B E R A RAR A A RO & o
FHEYZE R -

WMEHAERZ SEXRER 2 W
SEMT

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
(Re-presented)

(&&=E7))

81,984 100,517
3,063 -
85,047 100,517
170 7,248
85,217 107,765
5,721 14,333
90,938 122,098

when the goods have been accepted by customers (acceptance)
after goods delivered to the specific location or picked up by
customers. Following acceptance, the customers have full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell the
goods, have the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bear the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. The normal credit termis 30 to 365 days (2023 30 to
180 days) upon acceptance.

?fﬁﬁ%@;ﬁ%uuﬁﬁm mmsE -
RNEMTEHREERR(AERR
NEFTHMdREPRNERER
PEKER(EBRK)) FEREE -
RBIIE - BEFAIZENERESD
HAAREREE  WHAEHEESR
MZEBETUNERIRENIE
KRB - RBE - ERHEEH
B30EIGSH(ZFE==4F :30F
180 H) »

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. W)

The Group provided genetic services and molecular diagnostic AEERZFPIREEE®RIN S F
services to the customers. Genetic services and molecular EVZE R o EERA RS FE
diagnostic services income was recognised when the genetic Y132 B RIS WA R SR EE R 08 &
testing and molecular diagnostic services were rendered DFENDE R RER - BHEA
and there was no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the FERPEIRE CABITRE -
customer’s acceptance of the service.

9. OTHER INCOME 9. EHftlgA

2024 2023
—E-@mEF =%
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
(Re-presented)

(g&=71)
Continuing operations FHERSEER
Bank interest income RITHBWA 566 443
Exchange gain, net e H e - JFER 2,516 -
Government subsidies (Note) T B (f1aE) 982 -
Sundry income I 419 19
4,483 462
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Bank interest income RITH BUA 8 2
Rent concession received BEWESER 21 68
sundry income FIEW A = 4
29 74
4,512 536
Note: Biet -

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

AEBERERR  ZEHBLBEAAR
ER G ARR -
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e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss) Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging

(crediting):

Finance costs

Continuing operations

Interest on convertible notes
Interest on borrowings

Finance charges on lease liabilities

Discontinued operation
Finance charges on lease liabilities

B R A

Bz es: Silbs)
BEHNE
HEREBE/REER

BRIEER
HERBE/REEN

10. FRFFSIMAT(EIR)EF

B P S35 A (&5 18 )i A 2 F0 Bk (R
AVATIER :

2024 2023
—E-lEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
(Re-presented)

(&)

415 1,683
1,729 287
i 58
2,196 2,028
29 24
2,225 2,052
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mE M BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

Staff costs BI A

Continuing operations BEREER

Directors’ emoluments (Note 71) EEHM(ME 1)

Other staff costs B = N

— Salaries, wages, allowances and ~ — & - T& ~ 28
benefits in kind LEWEF

— Discretionary bonus — MIBIEA

— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

— EREHEFERNG B ZHE

Discontinued operation BRIEER

Other staff costs Hth 8 TR

— Salaries, wages, allowancesand ~ — & - T& - 728
benefits in kind REDREAF

— Discretionary bonus — MIBTEAL

— Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

— EREHEFERNGEZHE

Other items Hig B

Continuing operations FEREER

Depreciation of property, plant and W - BEREETE
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets mREEMEGIA
(included in “Cost of sales and [$HE RIBHRS
services rendered”) AR ])

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE

Changes in fair value of financial BRAFEFABRZE®
assets at FVPL, net BEMNAFEZBFH

Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &

Exchange (gain) loss, net b 5 (Yezs) B518 - V558

Expenses relating to short-term leases

EREREEZMAX

Write-off of property, plant W BEK
and equipment (included in A
“Administrative and other (GEATTTE R
operating expenses”) HEmEEms )

Write-off of right-of-use assets & A E M
(included in "Administrative and (T AT R
other operating expenses”) HitnEEM=])

Research and development expenses A 2% A sz

Cost of inventories (Note) GFEEXAR(HZE)
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10. BRFFSIRAT(ESIR)EF ()

2023

—E-=F

RMB'000

AREFIT
(Re-presented)

(&E5)

2,324 1,881
12,372 5,634
2,122 628
16,818 8,143
2,612 3,200
79 96
2,691 3,296
19,509 11,439
1,703 1,015
332 1,965
752 421

36 19
1,290 1,537
(2,516) 230
395 222
1,780 -
731 -
1,710 -
67,069 77,508




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. BRFR{SIRAI(E51R ) 2% (48)

2024 2023
—E-IEF o=
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTFT
(Re-presented)

(5 &%)

Other items (Continued) Hhg B (&)
Discontinued operation BRIEER
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN & 155 -
Depreciation of property, plant Wz - BERERETE

and equipment 74 156
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 292 505
Cost of services rendered (Note) RERRTE 2 B (H17E) 3,076 8,370
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries SRk =N gy

(Note 29) (Btet29) (17,233) -
Note: Mt
For continuing operations, cost of inventories includes approximately MBECLERME  FERABRIER
RMB4,697,000 (2023: RMB3,464,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation ETA - TEREBHEEBYRELYA
and amortisation which amount is also included in the respective amounts R¥4697,0000(ZFE=-=ZF: AEK
disclosed separately above. 3,464,0005T) * #Z&FEINET A L X BB

BENEEERASRE -

For discontinued operation, cost of service rendered includes approximately MERIEEBEME  BREREZKAS
RMB1,776,000 (2023: RMB2,846,000) relating to staff costs and depreciation HEBTITKRARITEEENREHOAR
which amount is also included in the respective amounts disclosed ¥1,776,000(Z FE == F: AR K
separately above. 2,846,000T) * #ZEREINET AL EBH

BEMEREERASE -
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 11. EERAEEEBSHFALTZHE
INDIVIDUAL'S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIEE AN B D2 383(1) BRE A
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the A ESNREERE)ERE-D
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of DB EZHMEIIWT
Directors) Regulation is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-Z-_m&E+=-A=+—HL

FE

Salaries,
wages, Contribution
allowances, to defined Equity-
bonus and contribution settled
benefits Discretionary  retirement share-based

in kind bonus plan payment

¥ 1% mER  UEREE

A AL SRR URG R
we RENEAN BETA sEfR ERZAR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®TR AR¥TT AR®TR AR¥TRT AR®T=®

Executive directors YITES
Chen Chengging BRIk 221 - - - - 221
Zhang Rongging REE 111 - - - - 111
Gao Borui (Note () R @) 109 - - - - 109
Yuan Chaoyang =85 553 - - - - 553
She Hao RE 552 - - - - 552
Xie Haijing (Note (b)) HERMEW) 281 - - - - 281
Non-executive director FHTES
Xiu Yuan (Note () BRI () 109 - - - - 109
Independent non-executive BIFHTES

directors
Zhu Yi Zhun Rk 1M1 - - - - 1
Khor Khie Liem, Alex it 166 - - - - 166
Zhang Ruigen (Note () RinlR(Hi ) 102 - - - - 102
Tsui Yuen Tan (Note (g)) R (HEe) 9 - - - - 9

2,324 = = = = 2,324
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e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUAL'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023

Salaries,

wages,

allowances,

bonus and

benefits

Fees inkind
e I8

AL - TEAT

we REWER
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR

1. EERABEEFALTZE

& ()
EFme(E)
BE-ZE-=f+=-HA=t+—HL
FE
Contribution
to defined Equity-
contribution settled
Discretionary retirement  share-based
bonus plan payment Total

MEE AEREH

HAERK  ARDR
WIsfA SR ERZMX st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

Executive directors HITES

Chen Chengaing TBREk B 217 - - - - 217

Zhang Rongging REE 109 - - - - 109

Gao Borui (Note (8)) 2R E) 217 - - - - 217

Yuan Chaoyang R85 325 - - - - 325

She Hao RE 415 - - - - 415

Non-executive director ~ ¥#{TE%

Xiu Yuan (Note (c)) BE(MH () 217 - - - - 217

Independent BUkGnES

non-executive directors

Zhu Yi Zhun Kz 109 - - - - 109

Khor Khie Liem, Alex B 163 - - - - 163

Zhang Ruigen (Note (@) FRB (M) 109 - - - - 109
1,881 - - - - 1,881

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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11. DIRECTORS’' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUAL'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
the directors of the Company or its holding company, or their
connected entities that were entered into or subsisted during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

After consideration, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Company's business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. None of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Notes:

(a) Mr. Gao Borui resigned as an executive director on 28 June 2024.

(b) Mr. Xie Haijing was appointed as an executive director on 28 June
2024.

(c) Mr. Xiu Yuan resigned as a non-executive director on 28 June 2024.

(d) Mr. Zhang Ruigen resigned as an independent non-executive director
on 10 December 2024.

(e) Ms. Tsui Yuen Tan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 10 December 2024.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

11.

EFERLAR
&(#8)
EFME(E)
BE_ T -_NEER-_ZT-_=F+—
A=+—B1tFE  @EIvkF
BUARNBEFREITRAAF i
HEHBEEREATEANER
UEFSEMZS -

SBFEALTZH

AARIEELEERRAE  REE
TECNFER-ZT_=F+=H
=+ — B IEFEFREFANTE
M MEFEAQG AR RER
FTaIsr » MARREREEREE
REFHEBEEAEZIEARS

THERAEH -

REBEE-_Z-_NMFEFR-_FT_=F
TZRA=+t—BLHFE x&H
MERETMNESMEMME - 1F
REMAREE S EEMAREE
R R SRR BRI - RBE-F
“HER-FE_=Ft-A=1—
BILFE  BEEEREXRENR
ZEMME -

wizt -

@ SEBEER-_ZT-MNEXA
—t+NBEIHRTES -

)y MEREER-_ZT_OEXRA
ZHNAEZERNTES -

(© BEEER-ZB-WENA-TN
ABHEIERITES -

d) EREBEEAR-_Z-_NNE+—A+
ABEE L IERITES -

e) HBEALETR-_ZET-_MNFE+_A+
AEZTABUYIENTES -
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e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

11. DIRECTORS’' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUAL'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, included
two (2023: one) directors of the Company whose emoluments
are disclosed above. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the remaining three (2023: four) individuals were as
follows:

e ITE 2B
REWEHN

BB TEAT

) 7E BB fHt FUR IR AT B SR

Salaries, wages, allowances
and benefits in kind
Discretionary bonus
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

The emoluments of the three (2023: four) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

£ % 1,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 #LE
1,500,000 7% 7T

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. None of the above individuals
waived or agree to waive any emoluments for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

11.

EFRIBERHFALTZH
& ()
AEREFRAL

hEAEaHFALH  BEMRAC
Eo=ZF . —F)KRAES K
ECHMEEERLEX - BT =%
(ZF=—=4F : E) NS 8
EEP N

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T

2,730 2,619

45 40

2,775 2,659

—HR(CE-=F OE)EEEFA
TZ2BE N T TH4ER

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=

2 3

1 1

REBEZZ_WOEFR_T-_=F
+T_AZ+—BHILFE £&£H
MEL e EmAL - 15
ABEMARAEESEENARES
R REISKEERAE c REBEZT
TMEN_ZE-=F+-A=+—
HIEFE  BE Ll A THRERR
BRETME -

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE M BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Continuing operations FREREER
Current tax EHRHE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")

— Current year — RAFE

Deferred tax ELER IR

Deferred taxation (Note 28) EIETRIE (A75728)

Discontinued operation BARIEER

Current tax EH%E

Hong Kong Profits Tax EBNEB

— Current year — RAARFE

— Under-provision in prior years — BEFERETE

Total income tax expenses for BELCERCHRILEL
continuing and discontinued WS AH

operations

For PRC subsidiaries of the Group, PRC EIT is calculated at
25% (2023. 25%) in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC except for it R F R ERER AR A
Al (Beijing Hangyang Health Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Beijing
Hangyang"”) which was acquired by the Group in the current
year (Note 37) and has been recognised as High and New
Technology Enterprise (the “HNTE") and is entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% during the year ended 31 December
2024. The entitlement of the HNTE is subject to renewal by the
tax bureau in the PRC every three years. The latest approval of
the HNTE for Beijung Hangyang was obtained in October 2023
for the three years ending 31 December 2025.

Under the two-tiered profits tax regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be tax
at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.
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. B RAX

2024 2023
—EMmEF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
(Re-presented)

(&=71))

727 8,932
241 (490)

968 8,442

28 555

147 -

175 555

1,143 8,997

RAEBTEMBARTMS » BA
EBMPAFEZWENEI1) B
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E - RIS ENER AR
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E-RE+-A=+—RHIt=/E
B b EMEN SR 2SR
MER-—E-—=&+ RS-

RAEE B TS F AW TS
B AEREEBEENE2EES
T A 812 8.25% MO Fi R EL -
HBiBE2H &8 TR M IE16.5%
MR - TRHAZMBFE
TR G| EERNEBE TR 2 %A
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12.

13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

Reconciliation of income tax expenses for continuing
operations:

(Loss) Profit before income tax BB E R
from continuing operations FriSFiRT (BB mF

Notional tax on profit before tax,
calculated at the rates applicable
in the countries concerned

Effect of preferential tax treatments

Tax effect of expenses not
deductible for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose

BRELATS B B R BIA

BBEB IR E
TAIRERZRGE &

FRRATBRAZ R E

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERFIBEGE 2 RS2
REREREHE BT E

Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses &/ 5t Bl A FE R F 1E B 18
not previously recognised 2B

Additional tax deduction for research
and development expenses (Note)

Others E

Income tax expenses for REBECEEBEHAX

continuing operations

Note:

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC, an enterprise engaging in research
and development activities is entitled to claim 200% of its qualified research
and development expenses incurred as tax deductible expenses when
determining its assessable profits for the relevant year.

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment
of any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

EREBERZERREAE

B8 B S Y DN FOORR (A a7 )

12.

13.

FRiGIBASZ (18)

REBEFASESZHARRH - A%
EHABNEARSHEEMER

ST S < HER
2023
—E-lmF —TI=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBTIT
(Re-presented)
(&=E75)
(12,939) 19,384
(2,412) 5,258
(230) -
3,624 4,792
(683) (1,400)
1,158 9
(86) -
(146) (234)
(257) -
= 17
968 8,442

ws -

REH BB KGR RRMANEEEE
B NERHEHNCREETERFE
ERBENE  BRBEELENTEK
1 B0 T B 8 F 42 200% 51 1 AT H1 050 8 78 59
¥ o

;30
AAREETEEREBEEZ T -
FRZIFZ=F+ZA=+—HL
FERERRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
attributable to the owners of the Company are based on the
following data:

14. SEREF(EHE)
RATHEE ANEGTIRER R #E
ZF(EE) IRBEA TE8IETE -

2024 2023
—E-_UF TEC=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBT T
(Re-presented)
(&=71))
Continuing and discontinued BERERTKRILER
operations
Profit for the year from continuing Rt EERERZFETA
and discontinued operations RARER AEEER
attributable to the owners of the REABELER
Company for the purpose of basic [RESIE=F= o)l
earnings per share 4,892 18,633

Change in fair value of convertible EERBRATESABRZ

notes designated as financial TRIBENITBRRER 2

liabilities at FVPL NFEEE) = (2,554)
Exchange difference on convertible  15ERAFEFAEZRZ

notes designated as financial CRBENTIRREE

liabilities at FVPL MEH Z5E = 1,543
Interest on convertible notes AR R EER R = 1,683

Profit for the year from continuing Bt EEREEE N A

and discontinued operations RATEEAEEER
attributable to the owners of REFERLER

the Company for the purpose of B #& IEEIEHEF]

diluted earnings per share 4,892 19,305
Continuing operations FERSEER
(Loss) Profit for the year from M ESRER(ER) AT

continuing operations attributable FrAARARHAE AEEEA

to the owners of the Company for REAERECEH(BE) R

the purpose of basic (loss)

earnings per share (12,416) 16,208

Change in fair value of convertible EEREBEATEFABRZ
notes designated as financial TRIA BN TR EE
liabilities at FVPL Z N EEE - (2,554)

Exchange difference on convertible 5 F A AT EFAEBZREZ

notes designated as financial TREEN

liabilities at FVPL AR AR IE W =5 = 1,543
Interest on convertible notes BIES i ES TN = 1,683
(Loss) Profit for the year from MITEERBE(FR)BFAMA

continuing operations KATEEAEEER

attributable to the owners of REFELLEN(ER)RR
the Company for the purpose of

diluted (loss) earnings per share (12,416) 16,880
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

14. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (Continued)

14. SEEF(ER)(E)

Weighted average number of ordinary it & &R ERZF| (E518) A

shares for the purpose of T hntE ISR
basic earnings (loss) per share
Effect of conversion of

convertible notes

BMABRERZZE

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose
of diluted earnings (loss)
per share

FERINEFIH

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share was on
the basis as if the Share Consolidation (as defined in Note 32)
had been effective on 1 January 2023.

Potential ordinary shares arising from the assumed conversion
of convertible notes and the assumed exercise of outstanding
share options have not been included in the calculation of
diluted earnings (loss) per share because they have anti-dilutive
effect on loss per share from continuing operations for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume
the exercise of the outstanding share options since the exercise
price per share option was higher than the average share price
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

145,338

128,332

= 23,367

BRI ESREERNUER) A

145,338 151,699

BHE_ZT-_NFR-ZFT-_=F+=
A=+—BHIEFE  RFAHEERA
R REERF| (F18) P & @A
BB IERBOBDE HOE
EZRMMFER)ER =T -_=F—A
—BABZREEL -

MR RE R EREER R ERH
MARTTEZ BRI EMEEZ
BELTRREBEE_T-_NF+=
A=+ RHIEFERELCEERN
EREBEAARBEFE  HGTH
GREE RN (BB IET AZ
ZRAD o

ME-T-=£t-A=t+-AL
FE - HEEREERNE LER
BRI 2 IR T - R
AERBRENTEERRAAR
ZFHBRE -

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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cosT

At 1 January 2023
Additions

Exchange realignments

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 31)

Written-off (Vote (3)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Vote 29)

Exchange realignments

At 31 December 2024

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

At 1 January 2023

Charges

Exchange realignments

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Charges

Written-off (Vote (@)

Disposal of subsidiaries Note 29)
Exchange realignments

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

A
R=E==F-f-A
e

EHA¥

RZE-ZF
TZA=T-8R
ZEIRE-A-H

RE

REMBARMH1)

st G)
HERBARHZ29)
Bz

e g -3
t=A=+-A

RATERAEER

W-ZE-=%-F-H
35
S

i
TZh=1+-8Ek
—“Z-mE-A-A

B

W2 e)

HERBRREHE29)

Eiaz

RZB-RE
t=A=t-H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

15. W% - BE KA

Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold office Motor Plantand  Construction

Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles ~ machinery in progress Total

#a.

g BEHER
BT NEZB BAERE hat: REREE ERIR at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT
6,175 1273 405 9 4,865 - 12727
- - 9 - 73 - 82
- - 6 - 2 - 29
6,175 1273 420 9 4,961 - 12,838
- 37 27 - 910 - 1,174
16,741 323 443 2,810 4,953 39,278 64,548
- - (117) - (3,935) - (4,052)
(6,175) (1,273) (352) (10) (1,914) - (9,724)
- - 2 - - - 2
16,741 360 623 2,809 4,975 39,278 64,786
2329 314 27 1 2221 - 5137
501 80 49 - 541 - 117
- - 5 - 17 - 2
2,830 394 326 1 2,779 - 6,330
605 116 67 327 662 - 1,777
- - (25) - (2,247) - (2,272)
(2913 (408) (250) - (956) - (4,527)
- - - - () - (1
522 102 118 328 237 - 1,307
16,219 258 505 2,481 4,738 39,278 63,479
3345 879 9% 8 2182 - 6,508
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15.

16.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15.

Notes:

(a) In view of downsizing pharmaceutical business located in Fujian,
the PRC, the Group has written off the related non-financial
assets including property, plant and equipment of approxmaitely
RMB1,780,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately RMB731,000.

(b)  The Group has performed impairment assessment of the Group's
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB63,479,000 at 31
December 2024 (Note 18).

LEASES

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leasehold lands HELTH
Lease properties HEME
Lease liabilities HESE

Current BN ER
Non-current JEENER

The Group leases various land use rights, warehouses and
production sites in the PRC. Lease agreements are made for
initial fixed periods of 5 to 50 years (2023: 5 to 50 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In addition, the Group
leased properties for its operation during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023. Lease of the office has initial
lease term for 2 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

Mk - BB RS (E)

() ERERELNTERERZNEEE
% AEECHIEABIESRE
E - BREME BERRBEOAR
1,780,000 T &2 fE B REEEL A
R# 731,000 7T ©

by AEBER-_Z-_WMNE+-A
ST HHAEEHARY
63,479,000 TR ¥ « BB KRB
EITRERH S (M 18) »

2024 2023
—E-FE T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
35,545 4,145
713 1,528
36,258 5,673
738 796

763 771

1,501 1,567

AEBAEPHEEZE L FER
EREREES HEWES
ZAEEFHASEOF(=F
Z=F 5250F) c MEKRIZ
BRI E AR - WA LB TNEIF
FRME - o REEREZE
ZECNFER T _=F+=A
S+ HLEFEREMERLE
B - WAZEHENNRFEAE?2
Fo—MiME - AEETAEAE
EEEEELDTHTAREBUINA
i °
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16. LEASES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the reporting periods are as follows:

At 1 January 2023
Additions
Depreciation
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Additions

Acquisition of
subsidiaries (Note 31)

Depreciation

Disposal of subsidiaries
(Note 29)

Written-off (Note 75 (a))

At 31 December 2024

Notes:

(@)  The Group has performed impairment assessment of the Group's
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB36,258,000 at 31 December

2024 (Note 18).

() At 31 December 2024, one of the Group's leasehold land with a net
carrying amount of approximately RMB12,325,000 (2023 Nil) was

=
e
i H
RZEBE—_=F
+-—A=Z+—HK
—F-_Mm&—A—H
RE
WM B R R (M et 31)
e
HEMB AR (AE29)
WS (B e 15(a))
R-ZE-MF
+=A=+—H

pledged to secure the banking facilities of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

16. HE (&)
FHESEE
AEEFERAREENEISELR

LHRNEOT ¢
Leasehold Lease
lands properties Total
HELTH HEWE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEF T AREF T AREFT
4,274 1,315 5,589
- 1,009 1,009
(129) (797) (926)
- 1 1
4,145 1,528 5,673
- 2,293 2,293
35,810 - 35,810
(286) (758) (1,044)
(4,124) (1,619) (5,743)
- (731) (731)
35,545 713 36,258
Wist -

AEBER _Z-_NFE+ = A
T+t HHAEEHARE
36,258,000 7T B {5 FA 8 & EE 1T R

B (A 18) »

R-ZE-_WNE+=—_A=+—8"
AEEB-—RE@DFEHNARE
12,325,000 0( = F = =14 : #)W
AELMBEREEAAEBERITE

BERPER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BRI R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. HE (&)
Lease liabilities HEAR
The present value of lease liabilities is summarised as below: MEABCRESRNT

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F
Present Present
value of value of
Lease lease Lease lease
payments  payments payments payments
HENR HESRERE HEMK HEMNFRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR%TrH NSNSy

Amounts payable: FERTFRIE
Within 1 year 1FR 785 738 849 796
More than 1 year i1 FER2 £R
but within 2 years 620 601 328 298
More than 2 years HBiE2 FERS FR
but within 5 years 164 162 491 473
1,569 1,501 1,668 1,567
Less: future finance charges & : RREFH > H (68) = (101) -
Total lease liabilities MEaERE 1,501 1,501 1,567 1,567
The operating lease expenses on short-term leases recognised REBEE-_Z-_NWF+-_A=+—H
in profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2024 IFFEREEAERNEIEED
amounted to approximately RMB395,000 (2023: RMB222,000). LETER T 45 AR 395,000
T(ZFEZ=4F - AR K222000
L) e
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 REZ-_ZE_NF+_A=+—H
December 2024 was approximately RMB783,000 (2023: IFFEHEReREBEANAR
RMB780,000). #783,000(ZF=Z=F: AR

#780,0005T) °
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COST
At 1 January 2023,

31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Disposal of subsidiaries (Mote 29)

At 31 December 2024

ACCUMULATED

AMORTISATION
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

At 1 January 2023
Amortisation

At 31 December 2023

and 1 January 2024

Amortisation
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 29)

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

RZE-ZWE+—A=1—
A

R BELRERR

R-ZE-=%—H—H
B

NZE-=F
+ZA=+-8k
—E-N¥—-HA—H

3

HEMBAR (29

RZE-mF
+-ZA=+—H

RZEZWF
+-R=+—-H

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

17. EEE
Good
Manufacturing
Customer Practice
Software relationship License Total
RIFEE
g4 EFBE RERR Foh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETL AREFL AREFL
(Note a) (Note b)
(Krzta) (Hrsth)
33 2,717 11,753 14,503
- 2,717) (11,753) (14,470)
33 - - 33
21 2,717 7,346 10,084
6 - 1,959 1,965
27 2,717 9,305 12,049
6 - 326 332
- (2,717) (9,631) (12,348)
33 - - 33
6 - 2,448 2,454
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

The customer relationship derived from acquisition of Zentrogene
Bioscience Laboratory Limited (“Zentrogene HK") during the
year ended 31 December 2019 and is allocated to genetic testing
and molecular diagnostic services segment. The useful life of the
customer relationship is 6 years.

Impairment loss were made in previous years in reducing the carrying
amount to be zero. The customer relationship was derecognised
upon disposal of Zentrogene HK during the year ended 31 December
2024 (Note 29).

The license represents the Good Manufacturing Practice license
derived from acquisition of &k & &#EAH R A E)(Fujian Yongchun
Pharmaceutical Company Limited*) (“Fujian Yongchun”) during the
year ended 31 December 2019 and is allocated to pharmaceutical
products segment. The useful life of the license is 6 years.

The license was derecognised upon disposal of Fujian Yongchun
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (Note 29).

English name Is translated for identification purpose only.

18. GOODWILL

Reconciliation of carrying amount REEZHER

At 1 January n—H—H
Additions (Note 37) NE(H1aE31)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Cost D%
Accumulated impairment loss ZEHREBE

17. EEE(#E)

(@

18. W&

ZEFHERERBEE=_ZT—N
F+ZA=tT—HIEFERE
Zentrogene Bioscience Laboratory
Limited ([Zentrogene HK]) © i
AEZERBRB RS FEMZER
BoE - EFBEAERNAERFEHAR
6 ©

WEBED RN BEEETRAEE
EETHREZ HE_ZT_NF
T-RA=+—BLLFE BEF@EE
W& Zentrogene HK S 42 | FHERR
(K15t 29) -

BEREHE-_Z—NF+=ZA
=t BIEFEKEEEKER G
BRAR(RBEBXEERIOE
EREER  THREBHERD
o RRAERAFHACE -

BHE-_ZT-_MF+=-A=+—H1t
FE - BBREEREKRERKLE
R 29) »

HXGESE ST

2024
—B-mE

RMB’'000
ARBT R

1,732
1,732

1,732

1,732
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. EE(#E)

154

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of 51% equity interest
in the Beijing Hangyang Group (defined in Note 31) at cash
consideration of approximately RMB33,150,000 on 14 May
2024. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred
over the acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of approximately
RMB1,732,000 was recognised as goodwiill.

Impairment assessment of non-current assets of
the Beijing Hangyang Group

The Group's management considers the Beijing Hangyang
Group represents a separate cash-generating unit for the
purpose of impairment testing in respect of non-current assets
of the Beijing Hangyang Group (the “Beijing Hangyang CGU")
including goodwill of approximately RMB1,732,000, plant,
property and equipment of approximately RMB63,479,000 (Note
75) and right-of-use assets of approximately RMB36,258,000
(Note 16). The Group has engaged an independent valuer to
provide assistance in assessing the recoverable amount of the
Beijing Hangyang CGU at 31 December 2024 with reference to
a value-in-use calculation based on the cash flow projection
of the Beijing Hangyang Group. The value-in-use calculation
adopted a cash flow projection based on financial budgets
approved by the directors of the Company covering a 5-year
forecasted from 2025 to 2029. Cash flows beyond the 5-year
period have been extrapolated using a 2.0% long-term growth
rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the relevant industry.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment assessment of non-current assets of

= E B Rk M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZF _NF+_A=+—HIFE
18. W (48E)
b = M A 5 B JE T B F 2 R (B A
& (#8)

the Beijing Hangyang Group (Continued)

Based on the assessment, the recoverable amount of the
Beijing Hangyang CGU at 31 December 2024 based on the
value-in-use calculation exceeds the carrying amounts by
approximately RMB9,579,000 and therefore no impairment loss
on the non-current assets of the Beijing Hangyang Group is
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Key assumption used and approach in determining the key
assumptions

BRI - REAEEE - bR
MAERSELABUR_T_MF
TZTA=tT—HBEmMAE S ERE
IREEHARKE9,579,0007T @ E
I BE_Z_NF+_A=1T—
AIEFE - R FEENIERE
BETEBRREEE -

B RS R N i B S AR T

2 H%
2024
—B-mE

Average gross profit margin FHER & 39.6%
Average revenue growth rate T s R R 29.9%
Long-term growth rate REPIE R & 2.0%
Pre-tax discount rate TATHTIR = 19.8%

The Group’s management determined the budgeted gross profit
margin and revenue growth rate based on past performance
and the expectation of market development. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Beijing
Hangyang Group.

The Group's management considered that any reasonable
possible change in the key assumptions used in the value-in-
use calculation on the Beijing Hangyang Group would not cause
an impairment loss to be recognised.

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Unlisted equity investments
in Hong Kong

AEEERERBBERRNETIS
BREH  BEREEMNXR KSR
BRER - FIRATRESBATITR
xR REREAL T 5 B AE R R4
E R

FEBERERS  HELRME
£ E A BRBRE
AR TR BT &SRR
fasiE -

19. RBIELAFMHERE

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

REBEBZIFLTEARE

1,952 -

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the associates of the Group at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

19. RBIELFMRE ()

R R AR E 2 BB A TS
T :

Place of Proportion of registered capital/
establishment/  Issued and fully issued share capital/equity
incorporation/ paid ordinary interests and voting power
Name of associates operation share capital held by the Group Principal activities
HI/HMRL,/ BEARAR FEEFEIRER/ERORE/
HENRER Tghs EERE BERRERELD TREY
2024 2023
“ECRE I

Directly held:
EERR
Zentrogene HK Hong Kong HK$2,000,000

Zentrogene HK A 2,000,000 7

Indirectly held:

RIERE

Zentrogene Bioscience Cambodia United States
(Cambodia) Co., Ltd. Dollars 50,000
("Zentrogene Cambodia”)

Zentrogene BioscienceRHE 50,000%7T

(Cambodia) Co., Ltd. ([Zentrogene

Cambodia))

Remark: The entity was newly incorporated in 2024.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements. There are no material
capital commitment and contingent liabilities in relation to the
associates themselves.

Relationship with associates

Zentrogene HK and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Zentrogene
Cambodia (collectively referred to as the “Zentrogene Group”)
are engaged in provision of genetic testing and molecular
diagnostic service which allows the Group to diversify the
business risk.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

41%

41%

Note 29 Provision of genetic testing and
molecular diagnostic services

W29 REERBRRDFEY
PEIRT

Remark  Provision of genetic testing and

molecular diagnostic services

#E REERRAIRD FED
i PR 7%

f#

AT SR T Z W F MK

o mk

SRR

B AR A BB RR R R
WAERH - BEARKSLMEA
EARAERSRERE -

HEBE NTIME

Zentrogene HKE HE 2 E M E A
m)Zentrogene Cambodia (&
[Zentrogene &£ B ) =RHER
BRI RS FEMDERT - A%
ESADBEEBRRE
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

= E B Rk M EE
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—ZF _NF+_A=+—HIFE
19. RBIELFMNRE(HE)
ZentrogenefkEZ B #HEH

Financial information of Zentrogene Group

Summarised financial information of the Zentrogene Group from
1 June 2024 (since the date of disposal of 59% equity interest
as disclosed in Note 29) to 31 December 2024 is set out below,
which represents amounts shown in the consolidated financial
statements of Zentrogene Group prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards and adjusted by the Group
for equity accounting purposes including any differences in
accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

T X &l Zentrogene EEH B — &
ZHHENRNA—B(B W29
BOHE%RELBR)ZZE
M+ A=+—HILHNEKE
BHEZE - W RBEE BV SRS E
Bll& 5T % B 47 A9 Zentrogene £
BERAEMBEREMTEE  TAHAX
EEMESAEL AR  BEgR
BORZE RN FEHE -

At 31 December

Summarised consolidated statement
of financial position

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

For the year ended 31 December
(from the date of initial recognition
as associates)

Summarised consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Revenue

Loss for the period

Total comprehensive expenses

Reconciliation:
% of ownership interests/voting
rights held by the Group

Group's share of net assets
Group's share of loss

Group'’s share of total
comprehensive expenses

2024
—EmEF
RMB’000
ARET T
R+=—B=+—8
AR A B AR T A
FERBEE 4,881
MENVEE 9,738
nENEE (9,213)
ERBEE (645)
BEE 4,761
BHE+-A=+—HLEE
(BYRERBHEATZHE)
a1 e R B 2 E Y a5 A BE
A 8,751
BRAE1E (1,112)
2EMZER (1,132)
ey
rEEBEEERES
EEEFES 41%
AEBEGFEE 1,952
REBEMLEE (456)
AEBEEEEHEBZHALE
(464)
—EREEXEEERAT c —E-MEFERE
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

20. INVENTORIES
2024 2023

—EMmF —EZ=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFT

Raw materials R 1,551 480
Work-in-progress R 836 -
Finished goods BURK (B 7,478 7
9,865 487
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. BHERKRIER L MEKRIE

2024 2023
—BopmF —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT

Trade receivables B 5 WA 9,561 24,613
Less: Provision for loss allowance B sHRE IR E (At c)
(Note ¢) (1) (1,663)
9,560 22,950
Other receivables (Note d) H b W ERIB (M5t d) 3,190 1,727
Amount due from a related U — BB A R IE (M it e)
company (Note €) 3 3
Deposits b 90 185
Prepayments TETRIR 1,742 841
Other PRC tax receivables R B R U R IR 408 241
14,993 25,947
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the trade and other receivables
are expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within one
year.

The Group normally grants credit terms of 30 to 365 days (2023: 30
to 180 days) to its customers. Further details on the Group's credit
policy are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables presented based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance is as follows:

Within 30 days 308A
310 60 days 31E60H
6110 90 days 61290H
9110 120 days 91&120H
121 to 365 days 121E 365 H

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

At 1 January n—A—H

Disposal of subsidiaries KB QA

(Decrease) Increase in loss EREECRD)EINFRE
allowance, net

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide
for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the ageing. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward looking information.

21. BHEBREAR H M EKRIA

(#&)
At :

(@

R-E-_NMEER-_T-_=F+_A#
=+—R  EHMEESEKRIE
MEAMEKFIEE SR —FRKE
SERABHAX ©

REE—RAEZFET30ZE 365
A(ZZE == 302180 A)W1{=
BH - AASBEEEBRRNE—
BSHBHNIER A T EREMEES ©

R|ERR - RBERAH LIRS
BEREBRZ7INE S RYIEREK
DT

2024 2023
—EC_UE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTFT
4,739 10,503
4,821 10,896

- 523

- 508

- 520

9,560 22,950

B o RS REREE ER

2024 2023
—E-mE T =F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
1,663 149
(959) -

(703) 1,514

1 1,663

AEEERAEEVHRSEFE9

St B - WA MENERR

BT B S ERFIENEREER

EEFHEEE - RAERBERERD

B BSRUFRERAEEERR

R KRR DA - HREEERTT
ERMEMER -

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes. (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: (Continued)

At 31 December 2024
Weighted average

expected loss rate
Receivable amount (RMB'000)
Loss allowance (RMB'000)

At 31 December 2023
Weighted average

expected loss rate
Receivable amount (RMB'000)
Loss allowance (RMB'000)

Not past due
Esal

R-B-mE+=A=t-H

21.

Within
30 days
past due

0 50 R e R T R L it FE MGy SR TR
(#)
ERECY

(€

365 days
past due

BORBFEBBEBRBZEHKE:

(&)

31to Over
365 days
past due

BH30AKN BHM31ZE365H AHBA365H

MEFHEASEE Nil N/A N/A
2 2.50% T T 0.01%
EYFEARETT) 9,521 40 - - 9,561
BREBARETT) - (1) - - (1)
9,521 39 - - 9,560
RZBZ=%+-A=1-H
MEFEREEX N/A
2.00% 594% 100.00% TEH 6.76%
ERFEARETT) 21,835 1,649 1,129 - 24,613
BREEEARETT) (436) 98) (1,129 - (1,663
21,39 1,551 - - 22950

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the significant changes
in loss allowance were mainly contributed by (i) the derecognition of

trade receivables upon the disposal of subsidiaries, (ii) decrease in

gross balances and past due balances of the trade receivables and (iii)
drop in the weighted average expected loss rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the significant changes in

loss allowance were contributed by the deterioration of the business
environment in the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(d) Included in the other receivables of approximately RMB19,000
represents interest receivables from finance lease receivables at
31 December 2023. No interest receivables from finance lease
receivables was included in the other receivables at 31 December

2024.

(e) The amount due from a related company is unsecured, interest-free
and has no fixed repayment term.
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(€)

BE-ZT-_MF+=-A=+—H1
FE - BEBENEAEHEIEE
R () HEHBRARSRIEERE
SERFKE: (VBRI FHEBEE
R s A ERR D 5 T (i) InE
FIIFEHEIE R ER -

BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—H1t
FE - BEBENEZSARE
ZEoFE-=F+-A=+—HILF
EREEERERL -

RZTEZ=F+=A=+—8 &
A E fth FE U SR IB A 49 A R 5 19,000
T B B E T S R U ERTE A FE IR
B -RZT-_MFE+_A=+—
A EMEHEERENER
B EF A E AL B U -

U — I REE R B IR R K
- R REEEERY



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

2024
—EmEF
RMB'000
AR¥ T

22. RHEREKRREA

Gross amount

Present value
HE

2023 2024 2023

—E—=F Pt —E = F
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETIT PNGEaw ARET T

Less than 1 year —F R 10,090 - 9,910
Less: Unearned finance B RERP Bk
income (180) - -
Present value of lease HEMNFIRE
payments 9,910 - 9,910
Less: Loss allowances e = b - (221)
- 9,689
Analysed as: DA
Current RED - 9,689
Non-current IR B - -
- 9,689

At 31 December 2023, the finance lease receivables are secured
over the leased assets represented mainly by machineries and
equipment. During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the
finance lease receivable were settled and therefore the pledged
leased assets have been released.

The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral
of finance lease receivables in the absence of approval by
the lessee. All the Group’s finance lease receivables are
denominated in RMB, the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The weighted average term of finance leases outstanding during
the year ended 31 December 2023 is 1.6 years and all the leases
require repayment by installments. In the event the lessee
breaches the lease contract, the Group has the right to use or
sell the assets leased and to call for full or partial repayment of
the outstanding balance of finance lease receivables. At the end
of the finance lease term, the lessee will be able to purchase
the leased assets at nominal price.

WZZZ=F+=-A=+—18 " @
BHERUGAMEBERZEEEE
TERRSERRE - BE_T =
F+-A=1T—HULFE A&
BHERIGRIRHCEHES  HEE
HHEEEECHE -

EABEANRBHENERT A&
B AR E S BRI R A THE R
RAZERGD - AEEZFAERE
HERYRBHUAREE - A
RESHESEER KRS -

HE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—AH1t
FE WAEEREREZ NEF
HEE16F  FTEHEASH
B EABAEREY  £A£H
EEGAKEERHHEEEL A
TREERI DO EREREK
B2 REEES - RBATHES
K ERBABRIEZEZEERBER
EEE -

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract
date for the entire lease term. The average effective interest
rate is approximately 5.4% per annum at 31 December 2023.
The finance lease receivables at 31 December 2023 are neither
past due nor impaired.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for finance lease receivables:

At 1 January w—H—H
Amount recovered and reversed B Uzl & B 6] & 58
Decrease in loss allowance BB B &R

At 31 December BR+=ZHA=+—H

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong &6 _E R AEFH

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At 31 December 2024, the bank balances carry interest
at average market rates ranging is 0.1% (2023. 0.2%) per
annum. Conversion of approximately RMB340,245,000 (2023:
RMB328, 150,000) into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.
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22,

23.

24.

MERERERREE)
REEBEEHRRK - HEWSEF X
NERBHETERE - RNZF
—ZF+=-—A=+—H "  FHER
FRERLE54% - R-TE =4
+ZA=+—H #EREEUK
TERT AR @ B TR (B o

BMEHSRUKRIAERE G Y
B -

2024 2023
—EMEF ZE-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT

221 4,135

(221) (3,769)
- (145)
= 221

BRAFEHGARGZEMEE

2024 2023
—ENE —EC=F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

140 176

ReRBE&EEY
R-ZE-_MF+-_A=+—H &
THRBIVZFEMHERE01% (=
FZ=F :02%)71 8 - HARE
340,245,000 C( ZFE-=4F : AK
M5 328,150,000T ) 7,32 B INEE 78
ST AR B SNE E KA o
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Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Payroll and welfare payables

Accrued expenses

Other payables

Other PRC tax payables

Contract liabilities (Note (a))

Interest payables (Note (b))

Amounts due to directors (Note (c)
Amount due to an associate (Note (d)

The trade payables were unsecured,

25. BHEARR[RAMESRTR

B 5 EMNFR

FEfS 3 & K AR F

fEET & A

HoAth FE A 5RIR

H b B BIR
BRREMRZ @)

FERF S (BTaZ (b))
FENEEFIAMZ ()

F& - — e} Bt &~ RIS IR (AL (@)

interest-free and with

normal credit terms up to 60 days (2023 60 days).

The ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61to 90 days
91 to 120 days
121 t0 365 days
Over 365 days

30HA
312 60H
61290 H
912120 H
121&2365H
#3365 H

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTFT
14,285 9,250
5,755 4,922
3,924 2,877
36,322 22,626
434 935

4,147 366
3,100 1,751

590 590

5,446 -
74,003 43,317

BHRNFEREERR - BRI
EEENRZOB(ZE-=4F
60H) °

RBERR  REZAHEINE
SEMNRIARRE DM T

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTF T
6,607 7,518
6,628 1,577

292 3

20 -

551 -

187 152
14,285 9,250
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Year ended

31 December 2024 HE—_ZT_UF+_A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Movement of the contract liabilities (excluding those arising from
increases and decreases both occurred within the same reporting
period) of contract liabilities within HKFRS 15 during the reporting
period:

At 1 January n—A—H
Additions NE

Acquisition of subsidiaries A=)
Disposal of subsidiaries I EHT B AR
Recognition of revenue during the year RENERU &=
At 31 December BRt+=—A=+—H

The contract liabilities of approximately RMB4,147,000 and
RMB366,000 at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively,
represented the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated
to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied at the end of
the reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price of
approximately RMB4,147,000 and RMB366,000 at 31 December 2024
and 2023, respectively, allocated to the unsatisfied performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue in one year or
less when the obligations are performed.

Contract liabilities primarily represent advance payments received
from customers for goods that have not been transferred to the
customers. The changes in contract liabilities during the year ended
31 December 2024 were mainly due to the effect of acquisition of
subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Interest payables at 31 December 2024 included approximately
RMB1,828,000 (2023: approximately RMB1,353,000) related
to convertible notes and approximately RMB1,272,000 (2023
approximately RMB398,000) related to interest-bearing borrowings.

The amounts due to directors are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount due to an associate is non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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25. RHEMARARAMESRR

()
wist -

@)

NREA - EEBMBHIREER
FISHAGNEBENENEEED

(T BER R — S BN E R A
EEHE)

2024 2023
—E_gE T =45
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%T AREBTFT
366 360

2,972 366
4,268 -

(20) -
(3,439) (360)
4,147 366

RIZTZZNMFER=ZT_=F+=A8
—t+—HB SEIRNNBARE
4,147,0007T &2 A R #366,0007T )
ERNEBBEEIREZERSHRKRE
THEHNEENR HEMETE - A%
BEREHAR_Z_NER_ZT ==
FH+ZA=+—BOBRERETT
BHABEANZSZEIHNARYE
4,147,0007T & A R#366,0007T 78
HREERITRR —F S ARTRER
B -

ARNRBEIRERNARATFEER
mEERBIZ BEFPANTIR - BE
—E_WME+ZA=T—HIF
B AHaBEEHEEaNENR
BAR (MAREGA B RBIRAR M EST
PIREE) MRBRTEL -

RIE-_NF+—_A=+—HHE
NRERERATRKRELEHEN
RIBHARKE,828,0000T (=F
—ZF AR KT1,353,000T)
M EEBEERNKBEHARE
1,272,000t (ZF==%F : AR
#398 0007T) -

ENEEFRARFESHEL - B
- 2B RERBEREEE -

e —Fl S R RIFRRIEE HIE
B EER RS RANRERKE
8o
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e BRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 26.

Unsecured borrowings EIRFEE
— Fixed-rate other borrowings — TEREMEER
— Fixed-rate bank loans — ERIRITER
Secured and guaranteed BHEAREREBE(HFE (@)
borrowings (Note (a))
— Variable-rate bank loans — FRIRITER
Carrying amounts of ERUTHEAAEERZGEREE

the interest-bearing borrowings HERE £ (F#E) :
are repayable (Remark).

— On demand or less than 1 year — RERS DR —F
—1to 2 years ——FE_fF
—2to 3years — —E=F

Less: Amounts shown in B RBAREMYEE
current liabilities

Amounts shown in kRBEEMYSEE
non-current liabilities

Denominated in: BUTE®EE :

HK$ BT

RMB AR

Remark:

At 31 December 2024, the interest-bearing borrowings of approximately
RMB27,000,000 (2023: Nil), with a clause in the loan agreements that gave
the lenders an overriding right to demand repayment without notice or with
notice period of less than 12 months at their sole discretion, were classified
as current liabilities even though the directors of the Company did not
expect that the lenders would exercise their rights to demand repayment.
The amounts due were presented based on scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements.

FERfES
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBEFIT

8,426 7,697
5,000 -
27,000 -
40,426 7,697
14,919 7,697
24,000 -
1,507 -
40,426 7,697
(38,919) (7,697)
1,507 -
8,426 7,697
32,000 -

ATEE -

R-ZE-_WNFE+_A=+—8  81&E
B4 ARB27,000,0007T (—FE-=4:
)  BRMETEGRRBETERATE
EMBEEREEmMEARNSBABAIR
1218 B &0 & B I1ERER) - BMEARARIEETE
HERATSITHELEREENET - Z
SEBEMEIEARBERE - HHSFER
BERIHZEPTIANEERB RS -

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

26.

27.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued)
Remark: (Continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group's borrowings are as
follow:

Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

The interest-bearing borrowings were collectively secured by:

(a) The bank borrowings of approximately RMB27,000,000 (2023: Nil) are
guaranteed by a financial institution (an independent third party) and
the Group has pledged the right-of-use assets with carrying amount
of approximately RMB12,325,000 (2023: Nil) to the financial institution.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 13 January 2022, the Company, Fujian Sanai Biotechnology
Limited* (&= £ WEH AR A7) ("Fujian Sanai”) and
Fujian zhixin Medicine Co., Limited* (BEE={EREHRE A
8l) ("Fujian zhixin"), both being indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company (collectively as the “Obligors”) and
two independent third parties being Mr. Zhi Shao Huan (2 483g)
(the “Subscriber 1”) and Mr. Jiang Heng Guang (E18¢) (the
“Subscriber 2") (collectively as the “Subscribers”) entered
into the subscription agreement, pursuant to which, on the
terms and subject to the condition therein, the Company has
agreed to issue, and the Subscribers have agreed to subscribe
for, the convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$72,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB63,677,000)
which are convertible into the Company’s ordinary shares at the
conversion price of HK$0.119 per share (subject to adjustment).
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26.

27.

RERGE)

AEBEEENERFIXEENT :

2024 2023
—EMF =

% %

% %

2.45-12.00 5.00

3.25-3.35 -

SHEREEAUTRRARER

(@ RITEBEEHARME27,000,0007T
ZE-=F ) L—Hemk
B (—R2BUE=F) EER &
SEE RS REBEFRMENA
R#12,325,0000t (ZF==4 :

) MEREEE -

CIE: Y 8
RZE-_—_F—A+=ZH ' &R
Al ARREEE2EWBARGERE
—EEYBEERAR(ERE=
BOREREEERBEERAB(TE
EZED)(ABZEEEADR
MEBYEZ AR BLEENR
BAMDEBEEXEE(RBA
2N B ZERBADIILR
Bz - Bt BEEFEREZ
HEEHAR AR aREZETH
ZERBARERBERCHLEA
72,000,000 7T (F8 & R KA R #&
63,677,000 7T ) & Al #2 i 3= 4% (P] 8
BAERARREBRR)  BREAST
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

As security for the due and punctual payment of the convertible
notes and performance by the Company of its obligations
under or arising out of the subscription agreement, the
Company would execute the charges (the “Share Charges”)
in respect of 57% and 43% of the entire issued share capital
of Sanai International Investment Company Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to be executed by
the Company in favour of the Subscriber 1 and Subscriber 2
respectively as security of the convertible notes. In addition,
each of Obligors would execute the charge (the “Account
Charges”) to be executed by the Obligors in favour of the
Subscribers over the bank accounts in the name of the Obligors
as a continuing security for payment and discharge of the
outstanding principal amount of the convertible notes and
performance by the Company pursuant to the subscription
agreement.

Convertible notes with coupon interest rate of 3% per annum
payable semi-annually in arrears would mature on the first
anniversary of the issue date.

On 9 February 2022, convertible notes with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$72,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB63,677,000) was successfully issued with maturity date of 8
February 2023.

The convertible notes were recognised as financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition at FVPL.

* English name Is translated for identification purpose only.

On 3 March 2023, the Company entered into the supplemental
deed (the “Supplemental Deed") with the Obligors and the
Subscribers, pursuant to which, on the terms and subject to
the conditions therein, the Company, the Obligors and the
Subscribers conditionally agreed, among others, to amend
the conversion price at HK$0.098 per share and extend the
maturity date for 3 years to 9 February 2026 and make certain
related changes under the convertible notes (the “Proposed
Amendments”). The Subscribers have agreed to execute
the deed of release in respect of the Account Charges upon
satisfaction of the conditions precedent under the Supplemental
Deed by the Subscribers as charges in favour of the Obligors
as chargors to terminate the Account Charge and release the
Obligors from their obligations under the Account Charges. The
Share Charges remain fully effective and are not released or
diminished by any provision of the Supplemental Deed.

27. "RERTREE (&)

1E A AT R AR SR IR B ) R a0 8 S A5 LA
RARRBIBITERRBEWAE AT
EREFIEENEENER A2
ARRARBNERZ2ENE A
AIZEERREARAREIDE
17 BN 89 57% K2 43% & 1 (1R 48
BERD  MARFUZBBAILR
BA2DRIER AT BREROEA
fn e Lo REBHASAREL
RITARPEM(RRFER ) (LK
HHZEEBAUNRBARX @
A AZEEBAZERL)  F
BRI REHARERERREE
AEBARARRIRIERE AN
R FFEHEIR o

AR N BT B A —
EBEFRH  EEFMNERZ3%
BELEIN—IR -

R —F-AhHB  A&4E%
472,000,000 L(HHERHAR
#5 63,677,000 70) AT R EEE
KIHEETT BB AT - =F—
ANH -

AR AR X A 00 R AR B AR S 1
ERBAFEFABRDZZEREA
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27. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 27. "RRRRIE(48)

On 20 March 2023, the Company has partially redeemed the
convertible notes in the principal amount of HK$12,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB10,668,000). The Proposed
Amendments have become effective on 20 March 2023 and the
maturity date of the convertible notes has been extended to 9
February 2026.

Details of above have been disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 13 January 2022, 26 January 2022, 31
January 2022, 9 February 2022, 9 February 2023, 3 March 2023
and 20 March 2023.

On 23 April 2024, the remaining outstanding convertible notes
were fully converted into 612,244,897 ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.098 per share.

The movements of the convertible notes for the reporting
period are set out below:

At 1 January R—H—H
Partial redemption E‘B%‘EEE
Changes in fair value credited RIEBEHFTFTANRAFEEZD

to profit or loss

Conversion into ordinary it BT (M2 32)
shares (Note 32)

Exchange difference charged RIBZEOBRAVEE 5 £ 58
to profit or loss

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

RZEZ=F=ZA=+8 " AR
A)E BB & A8 £ %8 & 12,000,000
BT E R & A R 10,668,000
TR AR R - BFEBIIER
TR =F A TRERKAI#
BEEMEHHEERE-_Z =N
FZANA -

T EEHFBEREERNARAAR
AT -_—_F—A+=H =
- —F—A=-+RH - ZE=—
F—HA=+—8" _?__E ﬂ
AWB - ZEBE-_=%F—AhH -
—=ZF=ZA= E&fzf_i H
Z+HZzRE -

RZZEZWFEA=Z+T=8" &%
THEARTEZATBEEENGR
0.098 & JTHy 83 A (B AR 818 B 7R
N 612,244,897 R @R -

WEHARRERNE ST R

T
2024 2023
—EMmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETTT
53,214 65,089

- (10,864)

- (2,554)
(55,515) -
2,301 1,543
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. RERIA

The movements in the Group's deferred tax assets (liabilities) R EHHASEREERIEEE
during the reporting period were as follows: (BE)WNEFHNT

Revaluation
of assets
upon
acquisition of
Tax losses subsidiaries Total
L2 B Ff B
BEFE QRREMEE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBEFIT ARBEFIT ARBTIT

At 1 January 2023 RZE—=F
—H—H - (1,101) (1,7071)
Credit to profit or l0Ss FFAEE = 490 490
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F
at 1 January 2024 +—A=+—HXK
—EMF
—H—H - 611) 611)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B B B A )
(Note 37) (H1a£31) 2,212 (2,746) (534)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR
(Note 29) (H1a£29) - 531 531
(Charge) Credit to profitor loss (1B 8 )it A%
(Note 12) (Hat12) (321 80 (241)
At 31 December 2024 R=Z-MF
+=—A=+—H 1,891 (2,746) (855)
For presentation purposes, deferred tax assets and liabilities BLERIBEENRBEDRNGE MK
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial MORRE S - LA 25 - AT AR
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax B 7& ER SR /B AY AN EE BIE IE R 18
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: SEEADAT -
2024 2023
—E-FE —F=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARETTT
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 1,891 -
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIAA R (2,746) 611

(855) 611)
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28. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of approximately RMB38,850,000 (2023:
RMB38,120,000) as at 31 December 2024 as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the tax losses can
be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and
entity. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation
except for tax losses of RMB5,452,000 (2023: RMB46,000) in PRC
which is available for carry forward to set-off future assessable
income for a period of five years, as follows:

Tax losses will be expired in:

2025 TR
2026 —EREF
2027 .
2028 —EN\F
2029 ZEZNF

At 31 December 2024, there were undistributed profits of the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC amounted to approximately
RMB67,684,000 (2023 approximately RMB75,304,000).

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB6,768,000 (2023:
approximately RMB7,530,000) have not been recognised in
respect of the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as the Company controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and the directors of the
Company have determined that these profits are not likely to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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28.

EIERIA ()

AEBPR _Z_MNF+-_A=+—
ATERRAFEBEBROARE
38,850,000 L(ZFE==F : AR
#38,120,000C ) ERIELE TR B E
E REANBEBAREIERRER
BT A A ] B AR IEE BN
HSE AR PR ERBORE A o B BEAH
TE 518 A R#5,452,000L(= F
T =4 AR#46,000T) T 4k EE
AR SE A B A F 0 R R ERRUA
S IRIBIRITRUE - BIEEETS
mHE - AR

B R EAE LA TR R RIH

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETF T
1,074 10

834 36

3,544 -
5,452 46

RZZ2E-_mM&F+-_A=+—H" 'R
SEAP B A RRERD IS A
AR 67,684,00070( —F =
F A B 75 .304,000T) °

WER D IRZERE &M 2 ETE
MRERECERBAGEHOARE
6,768,000 L(ZF==4F : AR
#7,5630,0007T) » TyA A A
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29. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Continuing operations

@)

On 27 February 2024, the Group disposed of its entire 51%
equity interest in 8K FREE G R A 7 Fujian Yongchun
Pharmaceutical Company Limited* (“Fujian Yongchun”)
to an independent third party at a cash consideration of
RMBA4,800,000, which is largely equal to the net carrying
amounts of equity interest attributable to the Group, in
accordance with the share transfer agreement dated 27
February 2024.

Details of the consideration received for this disposal and
net assets of Fujian Yongchun at the date of disposal are
summarised as follows:

Consideration received, satisfied by:

29. HEMRBLT
REERY

(@)

RZEZMFE-_A=++
H AEEREAHAE-F
“WFE-A=-++EBENEG
EERER—RZBLFE=S
HEERBEXKERERR
NEIE-F: 5 - Ivdk:
51% it - BEREAAR
¥ 4,800,000 7T+ EARERA
EEEGERE ZREFE -

RARHEERBBNKE
KAEZKERHE B HrF
BEMFBHRADT

2024
—E-MmEF

RMB’000
ARBT R

BURAE  UTHEESH -

Cash received BUIER 4,800
Net assets disposed of: FIHEFREE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BE K& 4,210
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 4,124
Intangible assets mEEE 2,122
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries JE Wy [B] B B A R 5RIE 4,800
Trade and other receivables B 5 e MR IR B Ho b E R IR 6
Cash and bank balances e RIRITEEER 80
Trade and other payables B 5 e FRIA fe Ho b JE < FIE (2,187)
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FE B 2 M8 AR FUAE (62)
Tax payables FERIHIIR (2,425)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFTREE (531)
Net assets at the date of disposal REEBHNFEE 10,137
Non-controlling interests AR (4,967)
Consideration RE (4,800)
Loss on disposal of Fujian Yongchun HEREKENEE 370
Net cash inflows from disposal HEBBXKENEERAFE
of Fujian Yongchun
Consideration received BUWRE 4,800
Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of & : FTH&EE 4 MIRTTAE (80)
4,720
* English name is translated for identification purpose only. * HXELEBHAS
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29. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) . HEMEB AT ()
Continuing operations (Continued) FEEERS(HE)
()  On 19 January 2024, the Group disposed of its entire by M-ZT-_WMF—F+hH"

100% equity interest in Z J W Electronics (Hong Kong)
Limited together with its wholly-owned subsidiary,
EEpmERECRYNAERAEF Zhonghuixin Financial
Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.*, (collectively referred to
as the “Z J W Group”) to 4 independent third parties at
total cash consideration of HK$3,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB3,300,000), which is largely equal to
the net carrying amounts, in accordance with the share
transfer agreement dated 17 January 2024.

Details of the consideration received for this disposal and
net assets of the Z J W Group at the date of disposal are
summarised as follows:

AEBREARR TN
i Attt BoRmnERED
BAALBLIE=ZTHEH
REBEF(ERB)BERA
AERHEZEME QA H
EZREHECRN)AR
AE(E R EDE])
100% M # - @REKER
3,600,000 JL(HH & 1 4 A
K #3,300,0007T) - EAX%H

REREHE °

FLAR & FIRMEE B
Ko gl B S BN & B H e %
BEFBHMRMT

Consideration received, satisfied by:

Cash received

Net assets disposed of:
Other receivables

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Cash and bank balances
Tax payables

Net assets at the date of disposal

Release of exchange reserve
Consideration

Gain on disposal of the Z J W Group

Net cash inflows from disposal

of Z J W Group
Consideration received

Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of

EWRAE AT IBIERAM -

2024
—EmF

RMB’000
ARMBT

BUE ¢ 3,300
FIHEREE -
o e U IR 1
S EE N EPNGIE S 3,303
Re RIRITHES 7
FE LA (256)
RHEHEBHNFEEE 3,055
TERRIE i (1)
RE (3,300)
HES B EE WS (246)
HEMREBNREESRAFE
BRE 3,300
B TR ER S RIBITAR (7)
3,293
HXEELEHRBT

* English name Is translated for identification purpose only. *
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29. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Discontinued operation

©

On 31 May 2024, the Group disposed of its 59% equity
interest in Zentrogene Group to an independent third
party (the “Purchaser”) at a cash consideration
of HK$22,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB20,469,000) in accordance with the share transfer
agreement dated 17 April 2024 (the “Zentrogene
Disposal”). In the opinion of the Group’s management,
the consideration for the Zentrogene Disposal was
determined after arms’ length negotiations between
the Group and the Purchaser with reference to, among
others, (i) the business development opportunity and
prospects of the Zentrogene Group; (i) the financial
status of the Zentrogene Group; and (iii) the estimated
market value of 59% equity interests of the Zentrogene
Group with reference to the valuation carried out by CHFT
Advisory and Appraisal Ltd., an independent valuer.

The Zentrogene Disposal constitutes a disclosable
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules.
Details of the Zentrogene Disposal were set out in the
Company's announcement dated 17 April 2024.

Following the completion of the Zentrogene Disposal
on 31 May 2024, the assets and liabilities of Zentrogene
Group were deconsolidated from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position and the Group's remaining
equity interests of 41% in Zentrogene Group have been
accounted for as an associate using equity method. In
the opinion of the Group’s management, the fair value of
the 41% equity interest of the Zentrogene Group at the
date on which the control was lost is approximate to the
proportion of the Group's equity interest in net assets of
Zentrogene Group as the cost on initial recognition of the
investment in Zentrogene Group as an associate.

* English name is translated for identification purpose only.

29. HEMBELTF ()

ERILEER

©0 R-ZZT-_MWFRA=+—
H A&SEREBEEHR=
ZMNENA+TERABNRK
NEEHBERN 2B LR
=HUTEARDHDHEHEHER
Zentrogene £[# 59% i
¢ K 8 522,000,000 7% 7T
(FAE R H AR 20,469,000
7t )([Zentrogene & =
B AEBEEERE
Zentrogene it & = 18 1 1%
BEIYHASERE LKL E
(EFREIE)IUNTEEEATF
FERE T ¢ () Zentrogene &
EMEBEREERATR
(i) Zentrogene &= B K BA F§ A
St K(ii)Zentrogene &
59% B #E 45 2 2 B S & B RD
EYEATHBRARET
B EREETTE

Zentrogene H & F1EE MK L
MFBIETARRAIA—IAA
FHERZ S - Zentrogene
EEEMNFBEHNRARTAR
HAZT-_MFMNA+LtA

RS o

Zentrogene ! & FIE N =
Z_MERA=Z+—BEK
1% - Zentrogene = @M K E
SE=R A= s F SR
BRRAKRBUBERS AR R
% B R Zentrogene & & F
BRABIRECEAERIAA
BRI A—MEEE AR - AE
EEEER A - Zentrogene
£ E A% AR E LTS
BEAMNAFTEHEAEER
Zentrogene S BB E FEA
FRAELL BIARE - I 1F A ¥ B
N A Zentrogene £ H R E
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29. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 29. HEREB AT (#E)
Discontinued operation (Continued) SR (HE)
()  (Continued) () (#&)

Details of the consideration received for the Zentrogene
Disposal and net assets of the Zentrogene Group at the
date of disposal are summarised as follows:

Bt Zentrogene & = 1E Y AL
B (B & Zentrogene = E 7
HE R FEEF B
T

2024
—E-mE

RMB'000
ARBT R

Consideration received, satisfied by:
Cash received

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Inventories

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables

Cash and bank balances

Trade and other payables
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary
Tax payables

Lease liabilities

Net assets at the date of disposal
41% equity interest retained in the Group
Release of exchange reserve
Consideration

Gain on disposal of the
Zentrogene Group

Net cash inflows from disposal

of the Zentrogene Group
Consideration received
Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of

BRARE AT HFRXZA
BEWHEE

FrHEREE !

MR - BE k&

EREEE

T8

JEUs [R) 2 P /B8 2 RISRIA

B 5 & WA B oAt 8 W 5RO
R RRITHREG

B 5 e IR B B A R R
FEASF 1B) 5 Y /B8 2 R 0R

R BEIR

HERE
REERHNFEE
RERBORE HY) 41% A
FEDNIE X i R

RE

H £ Zentrogene £ E Uk &

£ Zentrogene &£ E /Y
HERABE
EHRE

B T ER e MIRTTHES
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842
6,419
3,320
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(895)
(255)
(1,636)

5,892
(2,416)
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(17,233)

20,469
(616)
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30. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Genetic testing and molecular diagnostic service
business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group ceased
to carry on genetic testing and molecular diagnostic service
business upon completion of the Zentrogene Disposal on 31
May 2024 (the “Disposal Date") as disclosed in Note 29(c) to
the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the Group’s
genetic testing and molecular diagnostic service business
was classified as discontinued operation (the “Discontinued
Operation”).

The results of the Discontinued Operation have been presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the
period from 1 January 2024 to the Disposal Date and the year
ended 31 December 2023 as follows:

Revenue &

Cost of services rendered IR Z B
Gross profit EH

Other income H A
Administrative and other TEREEMEERS

operating expenses
Reversal of (Provision for)

B 5 RS R R E &R

impairment loss on R () 558
trade receivables, net

Finance costs B TSR AR

Profit from operations KRR

Gain on disposal of the & Zentrogene & &
Zentrogene Group EolEian

Profit before income tax R AT 18 %% AlDas F

Income tax expenses FriSfimx

Profit for the period up to RDTFHEE AEMN
the Disposal Date/year BEZEHERAHN
attributable to the owners  Hipn “FREF

of the Company

30. BEHRILER

Note
B aE

10

10

29

10

12

BEEBARS FEMRERRE X
%

BHE-_Z_M&E+-_A=+—H
IHFEE AEER-_ZT-NFH
A=+—R(HEB#M ] TK
Zentrogenetﬂ’%$lﬁ?§fﬁﬁﬁé$

E RO KD F W2 15 5 5%
(ANAER & B A5 ¥R 2R M 5 29(C) PR
%)l% AEEERRA &
DTEMDERERBC D ER—
HERLEB((BRIEEK] -
BERIEEHR_F_MFE—HF—H
EHERMBREkEE ?__ﬁ
TZA=Z+—HLEFEMNFRED
RERm §$%ﬁiﬂ'ﬂ%w
™
2024 2023
—EB-mF —EF=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
5,721 14,333
(3,076) (8,370)
2,645 5,963
29 74
(2,523) (1,997)
128 (1,036)
(29) (24)
250 2,980
17,233 -
17,483 2,980
(175) (555)
17,308 2,425

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES

175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZ=—MF+=-_A=+—HIEFE

E#IEER(])

30. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 30.

Genetic testing and molecular diagnostic service
business (Continued)

The cash flow information of the Discontinued Operation for the
period from 1 January 2024 to the Disposal Date and the year
ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

BEEBAR Y FEMRBERRTE
H(\)
BEEEBR_ZT-_MF—H—AH
EHERPHEEEE S -_=F
ToA=t+—HIEFEMNBESRE
B

Net cash (used in) from LEEB(FTA)MSRESFE

operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

REEBMAREFER
BMERSDTAR S FE

The earnings per share information of the Discontinued
Operation is as follows:

Basic HAK

Diluted e

The basic and diluted earnings per share for the Discontinued
Operation are calculated by dividing the profit for the period
up to the Disposal Date/year of the Discontinued Operation
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic
earnings per share computation and weighted average number
of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share computation
respectively. The denominators used are the same as those
detailed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETFT
(2,302) 3,726
(831) (80)
(312) (444)

ERIEEHHSBOZNERAT

2024 2023
—EMF —EC=F
RMB cent RMB cent
AR®ESD AREED
11.91 1.89
11.91 1.60

BRI 2 BRERREE RN TR
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 March 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party named Xie Haijing
(the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally
agreed to acquire and the Vendor conditionally agreed to
sell 51% equity interest in It =L FREE AR A A Beijing
Hangyang Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Beijing Hangyang")
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Beijing
Hangyang Group”) at a cash consideration of RMB33,150,000
(the “Acquisition”). On 14 May 2024, the Acquisition was
completed.

The principal activities of the Beijing Hangyang Group are
research, production and sales of health products, functional
foods and skincare products in the field of soft capsule dosage
form. As soft capsule dosage form has become increasingly
popular among pharmaceutical and healthcare products,
the existing technology and established production base
possessed by the Beijing Hangyang Group in respect of soft
capsule dosage form shall allow the Group to further develop
more pharmaceutical and healthcare products in the future.
The Acquisition is also in line with the development strategy
of the Group to expand its existing product portfolio in the
pharmaceutical and healthcare products industry. It will allow
the Group to utilise the existing technology and production base
of the Beijing Hangyang Group in future development of new
products.

The Acquisition constituted a business combination and had
been accounted for using the acquisition method under HKFRS
3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”.

The Acquisition constitutes a disclosable transaction for the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the Acquisition are
set out in the Company's announcements dated 1 March 2024
and 18 March 2024.

* English name Is translated for identification purpose only.

31.

BB AR
RZE-_MF=A—H  K~EBEHE
—RBUE=ZFHEBRAEE(E
FDEAILEE WS Bt ~%
BEEEHRZEWERE B IKER
EHEEEMFREERBEERA
AT EMFE]D) REWEB AR5
AL EAFERE])51%M#E -
H& R EAARE33,150,0007T
([Wg=EE]) - RZZE_WF A A
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 31. BB LT ()

The following summarises the consideration paid and the TR R B R A RE A R
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities Ui B o s RS E SR N FTAAIER
assumed at the date of acquisition: BEeRE

Consideration paid, satisfied by:

EMNRE > UTNIFEXM :

2024
—E-NEFE

RMB’000
AR®TR

Cash paid BNEE 33,150
Recognised amounts of identifiable AR EER
assets acquired and liabilities assumed: FrAEEBENCRERESE .
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KRB 64,548
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 35,810
Inventories FE 6,663
Trade and other receivables B 5 MR IA T H A JE R TE 3,013
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHERR 4,960
Trade and other payables B 5 FET 308 e H M FE S FIR (17,893)
Tax payables FEfSFIIR (174)
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE (34,300)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFTEAE (534)
Total identifiable net assets AERFEESATE 62,093
Non-controlling interests recongised BRI Rk (30,675)
Goodwill recognised on the Acquisition W EBEERNEE 1,732
33,150
Net cash outflows from the Acquisition WIHEENRSREFE
Net cash acquired from the Beijing WAL R F S B FT 1538 2 % 58
Hangyang Group 4,960
Consideration paid EARRE (33,150)
(28,190)
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e BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ-NF+—A=+—HIEFE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The directors of the Company have engaged an independent
valuer to provide assistance in determining the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the Beijing Hangyang Group
at the date of acquisition in accordance with HKFRS 13.

The Group has selected to measure the non-controlling
interests at its proportionate interest in the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the Beijing Hangyang Group.

Goodwill arising from the Acquisition represents the excess of
the fair value of the consideration paid by the Group over the
fair value of identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities (if
any) of the Beijing Hangyang Group.

The goodwill arising from the Acquisition is attributable to
the growth and profit potential as a result of benefiting from
expansion of core business of the Group. None of the goodwill
recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purpose.

The fair values of trade and other receivables acquired included
trade receivables with fair value of approximately RMB631,000
and other receivables with fair value of RMB2,382,000. The total
gross contractual amounts of the trade and other receivables
are approximately RMB3,013,000, of which no provision were
made against trade and other receivables.

Since acquisition and up to 31 December 2024, the Beijing
Hangyang Group has contributed revenue of approximately
RMB32,535,000 and contributed a loss of approximately
RMB1,174,000 to the Group.

If the business combinations effected during the year ended 31
December 2024 had been taken place at 1 January 2024, the
revenue and profit of the Group would have been approximately
RMB112,646,000 and approximately RMB1,825,000, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZ=—MF+=-_A=+—HIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BB*E
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZBEREE ok
('000) HK$'000
(F%) ARETT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R—ZE-=F—HF—H *
1 January 2024, ordinary shares —E-=F+-A=+—8-
of HK$0.01 each —E-MFE—H—H -
HFREEO.01 BRI TR 10,000,000 100,000
Decrease in number of authorised I8t & PHEEE
shares upon the Share & B R (Mt @)
Consolidation (Note (a)) (9,600,000) -
At 31 December 2024, ordinary RZZE-_WF+—_A=+—H"
shares of HK$0.25 each BREEOC.25 B TR B 400,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAE
At 1 January 2023, ordinary R-ZZE-_=F—H—8 "
shares of HK$0.01 each SREE0.01 ST L imAR 3,196,223 31,962
Issue of shares upon exercise TR I
of share options (Note (b)) MmETTRD (A5 (b)) 14,000 140
At 31 December 2023 and RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2024, ordinary shares —F-mWFE—H—H "
of HK$0.01 each FHEE0.01 8 T Ay @A 3,210,223 32,102
Issue of shares upon conversion HEB R ERm 7RG
of convertible notes (Note 27) (Mtet27) 612,245 6,122
Decrease in number of issued f& & PHEE BT
shares upon the Share RRDEB R (K777 (@)
Consolidation (Note (a)) (3,669,569) -

At 31 December 2024, ordinary R-Z-_WE+=-A=+—H"
shares of HK$0.25 each BERHEEQC25BTHNIZER 152,899 38,224

2023
TEC=F
RMB'000
ARETTT
Shown in the consolidated and RARTR+T=ZA=+—8H
Company'’s statement of 2 EE MR RTIR
financial position at 31 December 35,534 29,865
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ-NF+—A=+—HIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

a)

On 4 July 2024, the Company, among others, proposed to impose (i)
share consolidation on the basis that every twenty-five (25) issued and
unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company into one (1) share of par value of HK$0.25
each (“Consolidated Share(s)") (the “Share Consolidation”);
(i) capital reduction (following the Share Consolidation) that the
issued share capital of the Company will be reducted by cancelling
the paid up capital to the extent of HK$0.24 on each of the then
issued Consolidated Shares such that the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share will be reduced from HK$0.25 to HK$0.01
(the “Capital Reduction”); and (iii) immediately after the Capital
Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued Consolidated Shares
of par value of HK$0.25 each be sub-divided into twenty-five (25) new
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share Sub-division”).

The Share Consolidation became effective on 13 August 2024 and the
Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division became effective on 3
February 2025.

Details of the above capital reorganisation are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 4 July 2024, 9 August 2024, 18
November 2024, 3 December 2024, 8 January 2025 and 27 January
2025 and the Company'’s circular dated 24 July 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total of 14,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon exercise of
14,000,000 share options at exercise price of HK$0.084 per share
option. The difference of approximately RMB907,000 between
the proceeds from exercise of share options of approximately
RMB1,030,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,176,000) and
the nominal value of share capital of the Company issued of
approximately RMB123,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$140,000)
was recognised in share premium reserve.
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33. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Share premium

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share option reserve

This comprises the portion of fair value of unexercised
share options granted to eligible participants of the
Company that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-
based payments in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

Special reserve

Special reserve represents the aggregate of the difference
between the nominal amount of the shares issued by
the Company and the amount of share capital of Sanai
International Investment Company Limited (“Sanai
BVI") acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares in
2007.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
foreign investment enterprises in the PRC, the Company's
PRC subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of their
profit after tax to the reserve until such reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital and thereafter any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve
fund can be used to make up prior year losses, if any, and
can be applied in conversion into capital by means of a
capitalisation issue.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HEZZ-NF+—A=+—HIEFE

33. RESERVES (Continued) 33. fEfm(48)
Movement of the Company's reserves is as follows: NARREEEBIT ¢
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
BRGEE BRERE REtER HEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLT AREFTT AREFT ARBTI
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=%
—H—H 1,263,397 11,369 (1,094,113) 180,653
Issue of shares upon TR ELT
exercise of share 15 (B7232(b)
options (Note 32(b) 907 - - 907
Share options forfeited B8 W R (72 36)
(Note 36) - (1,647) 1,647 -
Loss and total FABER
comprehensive THAS B
expenses for the year - - (4,314) (4,314)
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=%
and 1 January 2024 +-A=+—H
R_ZT_MF
—A—H 1,264,304 9,722 (1,096,780) 177,246
Share options forfeited B W IR (f7 2 36)
(Note 36) - (4,704) 4,704 -
Issue of shares upon RER AR IR
conversion of BTG (5L 27)
convertible notes (Note 27) 49,846 - - 49,846
Loss and total FAEER
comprehensive 2HEATEHR
expense for the year - - (8,949) (8,949)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-NF
+=-HA=+—H 1,314,150 5,018 (1,101,025) 218,143
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. ELFIMBERAE

COMPANY

2024 2023
—EMmF —E-=F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T ARBTIT
(Restated)
(ge&Eah)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 76 76
Property, plant and equipment  #1% - /5 K& = 5
76 81
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H b pE U Gk I8 461 388
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEURHTE A B FIE Remark
ERE 286,513 277,858
Financial assets at FVPL BAVEABRZ
SREE 23 140 176
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 132 220
287,246 278,642
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b e3R8 19,773 10,701
Amounts due to an associate & — B & A B3R Remark
AR 5,446 -
Convertible notes designated JEERAFERFAERZ S
as financial liabilities at FVPL TR BB/ A IR R 27 = 53,214
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 6,919 7,697
32,138 71,612
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 255,108 207,030
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEATERABERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 255,184 207,111
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE 1,507 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 253,677 207,111
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EREHFE
Share capital Az 32 35,534 29,865
Reserves i 33 218,143 177,246
TOTAL EQUITY BRER 253,677 207,111

Remark:

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries/an associate are unsecured, interest-

free and repayable on demand.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
mainly includes convertible notes designated as financial
liabilities at FVPL, interest-bearing borrowings and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Group's strategy was unchanged. The directors
of the Company review the capital structure by considering
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed on 16 June 2017,
the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) for, amongst others, the senior
management and employees, which serves as incentives or
rewards to attract, retain and motivate staff. The New Share
Option Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on 21 June 2017 (save that the Company, by
ordinary resolution in general meeting or the Board may at any
time terminate the operation of the New Share Option Scheme).
Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to all full-time employees, directors of the Company
(including independent non-executive directors) and part-time
employees with weekly working hours of 10 hours and above,
of the Group, substantial shareholders of each member of the
Group, associates of the directors and substantial shareholders
of any member of the Group, trustee of any trust pre-approved
by the Board, and any advisor (professional or otherwise)
or consultant, distributor, supplier, agent, customer, joint
venture partner, service provider of the Group whom the Board
considers, at its sole discretion, has contributed or contributes
to the Group.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. MEERIERTEI(HE)

186

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the date
of adoption of the New Share Option Scheme (namely 5,308,890
shares (2023: 132,722,250 shares), representing approximately
3.47% (2023 4.33%) of the Company’s issued shares at 31
December 2024), without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time. No option may be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme if such limit is exceeded. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and to be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date of grant, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. The grant of share options
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates requires the
approval of the independent non-executive directors (excluding
an independent non-executive director who is the grantee of
the share options). Options granted in any 12-month period to
a substantial shareholder of the Company or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective associates
representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the Company’s
shares in issue at the date of grant or with an aggregate value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company's shareholders.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Upon acceptance of the share option, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.
A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the New Share Option Scheme at any time during the period
to be determined and notified by the Board to each grantee,
provided that such period of time shall not be more than ten
years from the date of grant. The New Share Option Scheme
does not specify a minimum period for which a share option
must be held nor a performance target which must be achieved
before a share option can be exercised. However, the Board
may, at its sole discretion, determine such terms and impose
such other restrictions on the grant of a share option. The
exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company,
and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the offer date which must be a
business day, (i) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (i) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Oon 29 April 2022, the Company granted a total of 174,000,000
share options at an exercise price of HK$0.084 per share of the
Company to certain eligible participants, of which 73,000,000
share options were granted to the executive and non-executive
directors of the Company, pursuant to the share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 16 June 2017.

In May 2023, there were 36,800,000 share options forfeited at
the end of the option’s life.

In June 2024, there were 15,000,000 share options forferited
upon resignation of certain directors of the Company.

On 13 August 2024, as a result of the Share Consolidation
detailed in Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements,
the number of the options available for grant will be adjusted
from 132,722,250 to 5,308,890, and the number of Consolidated
Shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding Share
Options already granted will be adjusted from 16,000,000 to
640,000 at an exercise price adjusted from HK$0.084 to HK$2.1
per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options had been granted,
exercised or forfeited during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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NEDE (GRS BRI
32(a)) - AIERHAERESE &
132,722,250 #1 % £5,308,890
n o MATEEREORITERE
fREMETHERERMDE B & H
16,000,0004% £ 2= 640,0000% * 17
FERSR0.084BTHEEZ2.1E
T o

BREXFEREEN REBEEZZT
TERZE=F+ZA=+—
AIEFE  @EEREERE - 17
FEek R -

—EREEXEEARAT « —B-NFFEHRS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—_Z _NMF+_A=+—HIFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No vesting period or vesting condition on the share options and
the share options may be exercised at any time from the date
of grant and within a period of ten years from the date of grant.
The weighted average remaining contractual life is 7.3 years
(2023: 8.3 years).

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s
share options during the year ended 31 December 2024:

36. FERRIERTEI(HE)

BRESETRBEMRNEE K
- BREBMEERE BB+
FHIRA Z BRI A] F170E © AN
BEHBTANFHRRTIF(=
F_=4F 83%F)

TEEaE T _mWE+ A
T HIFERRRRBEREZ

e
=

Exercise Numberof  Number of Number of Number of
price per share share options Cancelled share options share
share options at granted  orforfeited exercised Effect of options at
Category of option 1 January during during during the Share 31 December
the grantee HKS  Dateofgrant  Exercisable period 2024 the year the year theyear  Consolidation 2024
&
BREN St o F:3 R=2-m%
| -A-H FRRL ERz ERTE R +=R=1-A
BT ZBREHE ZEREHA gRN  ZBREHA ¥ ZEREYE
DIRECTORS
3
(a0 Borui (Mote (3) 0084 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - -
Bits(Hi ) 0088 —EF--f& “Z--EmA-tNRZE
mA-+AhH ZE-ZFMAZHN\R
Zhang Rongaing 0084 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 6,000,000 - - - (5,760,000) 240,000
FEE 0084 —Bo-E ZB-ZEMAZtARE
ME-thB  —B=—#mA-tAR
Xiu Yuan (Vote () 0084 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 10,000,000 (10,000,000)
BR(W D) 0084 —E-CF “Z-EMA-HARE
mA=+AH ZE-ZFMAZHN\R
Sub-total 21,000,000 - (15,000,000) - (5,760,000) 240,000
Nt
OTHER GRANTEES
BfREA
Employees in aggregate 0084 29 April 202 29 Apri 2022 to 28 April 2032 10,000,000 - - - (9,600,000) 400,000
EE2Y 0084 —B--% ZEZZFMAZTNRE
MAZ+hB  ZF=ZFmA=T/A
Total 31,000,000 - (15,000,000) - (15,360,000) 640,000
@it
Exercisable at
the end of
the reporting
period (Note (c)) 640,000
REEHRTFIHE
(W)
Weighted average
exercise price
(Note (c)) HKS2.1 - HKS2.1 - n/a HK$2.1
MEFHTEE
(Hit() 2% 2187 TER 2187
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Year ended 31 December 2024 H#E—ZE-—ME+-A=+—HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. MERRIEETEI(HE)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TRXBEEHZE-_ZT-_=F1+—_A
share options during the year ended 31 December 2023: = +—HIEFEAXRRERES
Number of Number of Nurmber of Number of
Brercise share options share options Cancelled or share options ~ share options at
price per at1laniary  grantedduring  forfeited during exercised 31 December
Category of the grantee share option Date of grant - Exercisable period 203 the year theyear  duringthe year 2023
R-E-=F W-Z-=F
BhiRED -A-H EREH ERiE ENfE TZA=t-A
EEARR L RUAE 1R BREHA ZBRESA SRl zEREHE ZEREHE
HKS (Remark)
BT (1E)
DIRECTORS
£z
Zhang Rongaing 0320 24May2018 - 24 May 2018 to 23 May 2023 22,000,000 - (22,000,000) - -
FEE 0320 Z2-\& ZE-)\ERAZTHRBEE
BAZTEE  ZECZ=FRA-TEA
Chen Chengging 033 30 May 2018 30 May 2018 t0 29 May 2023 2,800,000 - 2,800,000) - -
WAz 033 “Z-\§ Z5-)\fRR=THE
BAZTR  ZEZZERAZTARA
(6ao Borui (Note (g)) 0.084 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
B0 (3 () 0084 “EoCE CECCEMBCTARE
RAZTAR  ZEZZEWA-T/\A
Zhang Rongaing 0.084 29 April 202229 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
FEE 0084 “E-Cf CECCEMA-TARE
BAZthE ZEZEmA-tNA
Xiu'Yuan (Note (b) 0.084 29 April 2022 29 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000
() 0084 ZEoCE ZEC-EMACTARE
EAZTAR  ZEZZFWmA-T/\R
Sub-total 45,800,000 - (24,800,000) - 21,000,000

Bt

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. MERRIEETEI(HE)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TEREEHE T _=F+_A8
share options during the year ended 31 December = +—HIEFEALRRREREC
2023: (Continued) 2% : (&)
Number of Number of Nurmber of Number of
Exercise share options share options Cancelled or share options  share options at
rice per at1lanuary  grantedduring  forfeited during exercised 31 December
Category of the grantee share option Date of grant - Exercisable period 203 the year theyear  during the year 203
RZE-=F W-Z-=F
FhHERED -A-A R FRH ERfE  TZA=T-H
EEARR e RHAH 1118 BREHR ZERESA alk ZEREHE LERERA
HKS (Remark)
BT (*E)
OTHER GRANTEES
EfRRA
Employees in aggregate 0335 30 May 2018 30 May 2018 10 29 May 2023 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - -
EEQH 03% 2\ ZT-)\fRA=THE
BAZTE  ZEZ=FRAZAA
Non-employees in aggregate 0335 30 May 2018 30 May 20180 29 May 2023 2000000 - (2,000,000) - -
FEEEY 03% Z2-\& ZE-)\ERAZTEE
BAZTA  ZEZZERAZTAA
Employees in aggregate 0.084 29 April 202229 April 2022 to 28 April 2032 24,000,000 - - (14,000,000) 10,000,000
[EELY 0084 “E-CE CECCEMACTARE
EAZ+NAR  ZE=ZFEA-t/\A
36,000,000 - (12,000,000 (14,000,000) 10,000,000
Total 81,800,000 - (36,800,000 (14,000,000) 31,000,000
@it
Exercisable at the end
of the reporting period 31,000,000
REEHRTFAE
Weighted average
exercise price HKS0.19 - HKS0.33 HK$0.084 HK$0.084
MEFHHEE 0.19%7 03337 008ET 008437
Remark: JERE -
The weighted average share price at the date of share options exercised BE_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—HIEFE
during the year ended 31 December 2023 is HK$0.090. REERETT 6 B 89 N E F I A% (B A 0.090
BT e
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Gao Borui had resigned as an executive director on 28 June 2024.

(b) Mr. Xiu Yuan had resigned as a non-executive director on 28 June
2024.

(c) The number of share options outstanding and weighted average
exercise price have been adjusted to reflect the effect of Share

Consolidation during the year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in
Note 32(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Contracted but not provided for EERIAERFUED % -
net of deposits paid for acquisition B M EES TR
of property, plant and equipment BE PRI G

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in a state-managed scheme. The
employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by
the government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specified percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

36.

37.

38.

MR HEETBI(4E)

Miaz -

@ SEBETER=ZZ=ZMFA
—HN\BBIHITES -

b EEEER-_Z-MENA-TN
ABHEIFMITES -

(©  RITEFEERESE RINEFTE
BOEHAE  URBRHEE-Z
—HE+-—AZ+—BHULEFENR
BEHTE (WRETHRERME
320)FTEL) ©

BERE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEF T

52,244 -

BFEFIER
REERERBRHMEAESE
BB AZESRBIEHRENES
J—IEHIE AT A E([BE
S8 ) BESHER—EAH
B S AR TEEEIRKE
g - RIERFESTE - BEMEE
HEZRBRENEBRKA(EALR
#30,0007% 7T ) #95% 7 & &) 1E
H - FTEHKAERBRES -

AEET2HEERERNE - &
SENTHENBARZEEETE
BT R 2 BIRE IR RIKER S
ZHKE - nEEARARREET
B ZRE A0 L RERRAE R B
AR GURIKE A - REBFLRIK
BAGEIARTT 2 ETE/IELE
JEZ AR

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HItFE

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. EXRAEALTES
Except for the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in AR A B R E i IR ETE 2 32
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has no other S REESIN - AL BB EA T
transactions with its related parties. MEITHEMR S -
40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 40. XA B EME L FHE
THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting REBEBREZEWEB R RIMFBD
period are as follows: T
Proportion of effective
ownership interest held by the
Company
RARBENER
FARERLA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and fully
Name of subsidiaries and operation paid-up capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
HMRT
i) PEA REEHY BRARBRRAFR B B IEER
Sanai BVI The BVI 10,000 ordlinary 100% - Investment holding
shares of US$1 each (2023 100%)
=FBY EERARE 10,000 REREE 100% - REZR
1ZTNERR (Z8z=%
100%)

BAERBERE(HIERAT The PRC Registered capital of
Union Development RMB120,000,000
Financial Leasing (Shenzhen)

Company Limited * (Vore )

BAERBERE(RI)BRAT el HMERARE
(Hiita) 120,000,000 7T
Fujian Yongchun The PRC Registered capital of

RMB15,000,000

BRAE el HMERARS

15,000,000 7
Fujian Zhixin The PRC Registered capital of
RMB10,000,000
BRER el HMERARS
10,000,000 7T
* The English translation of the name is for reference only.

Sanai Health Industry Group Company Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

100%  Provision of finance
(2023 100%)  leasing Service

0% REFEEERE
(C§-z%:
100%)

Note 29(a)  Development, manufacture,
(2023:51%)  marketing and sales of
pharmaceutical products
MEve HE HE eHREE
(Z-=%#:  BiEgEnp
51%)

100%  Marketing and sales of
(2003 100%) pharmaceutical products
00% EEREEREER
(CF-Zf:
100%)
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40. FLFEZMBLFFR

THE COMPANY (Continued) (#8)
Proportion of effective
ownership interest held by
the Company
KAARENER
FARERLA
Place of Particulars of
incorporation issued and fully
Name of subsidiaries and operation  paid-up capital Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
AL
HWEAREH REEHE BRTRMEREFE EE Mg FEEK
Zentrogene HK Hong Kong 2,000,000 - Note 29(c) ~ Provision of genetic
ordinary shares of (2023:100%)  testing and molecular
HK$2,000,000 diagnostic services
Zentrogene HK Bk 2,000,000 7TH) - 90 REERBIRAF
2,000,000 R @ik (ZE-z#:  ENPERE
100%)
HEEREREFINERAT The PRC Registered capital of - Note 29(b)  Provision of finance
Zhonghuixin Financial Leasing US$200,000,000 (2023 100%) leasing service
(Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd. * (Note 4)
HEEBERECRINERLA HE HRER - W0 REREESRE
(Hiita) 200,000,000% 7 (CE-=#:
100%)
RERAREEXERAR The PRC Registered capital of - 100%  Marketing and sales of
Fujian RuiChuang Health RMB10,000,000 2023 100%) pharmaceutical
Industry Co., Ltd. * products
BRmERREXBRAF HE HMERARE - 00% HERHBEBREERD
10,000,000 70 (~F-=%:
100%)
Beijing Hangyang The PRC Registered capital of - 51%  Research, production and
RMB60,000,000 2023: i) sales of health products,
functional foods and
skincare products in
the field of soft capsule
dosage form
ERi# HE HMERARE 51% R BEREE
60,000,0007T (ZE-=F: HBERREM-
Tigm) g RmREER
* The English translation of the name Is for reference only.
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 40. x2S EMELATER

194

THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note:

a) These entities are wholly foreign owned enterprises established in
the PRC with limited liability.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 or at 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

41. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table shows the information relating to the
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests (“NCI")
to the Group during the reporting period. The recognised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

eliminations.

Proportion of NCI's
ownership interests

At 31 December:
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets
Net assets attributable to NCI

For the year ended 31 December
(or until the date of disposal):
Revenue
Other income
Loss and total
comprehensive expenses

Loss and total comprehensive
expenses attributable to NCI

Dividends paid to NCI

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash from investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

IR B L)

R+=—HA=+—8:

SERBEE

RBEE

VEI=RE

SERBIAE

BEFE

SEIE RS R E B R E

BE+-—A=t—-HILEE
(REZHERH) :

Uz

H AU A
B8 N 2 H 5 X AR

ESEver Sy s
PEJaEEE L
B IR R 2 B

LIRS
HaFER

RETBHAEREFR
MEEAREFE

SEREEXEEARAT « —R-METEES

41. FFiEBxiER

TRIFNBEREAEERRE
NI ([ FERER ) ©
M@ AR AR E R o R
BEFHEARIREHAT DR -

Fujian Yongchun

BEXE
2024 2023
—E-FE TEC=4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBEFIT
N/A 38 H 49%
N/A 38 10,904
N/A & H 5,081
N/A T F (4,716)
N/A T FH 612)
N/A 38 10,657
N/A i H 5,222
= 2,436
(520) (10,748)
(255) (5,266)
(520) (296)
= 202
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41. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 41. FERRBRER (|)
Beijing
Hangyang
Group
tEFEEE
2024
—EB-F
RMB'000
AR¥T T
Proportion of NCI's ownership interests VR A L 1) 49%
At 31 December: R+=—BA=+-—8:
Non-current assets EMEEE 99,738
Current assets MEVEE 22,370
Current liabilities mEaE (59.865)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE (1,144)
Net assets BEFE 61,099
Net assets attributable to NCI I R R B E R E 29,619
For the year ended 31 December BE+t-A=+t—HLEEBWKEHR
(since the date of acquisition): ) -
Revenue g 32,535
Other income H A 1,119
Loss and total comprehensive expenses EiEEREHERS 2% (1,174)
Loss and total comprehensive IR R B 2 M X 425
expenses attributable to NCI (1,236)
Dividends paid to NCI BRI R 2 RS -
Net cash used in operating activities WEEE AR ST 7,994
Net cash from investing activities KREEBMEHESFE (288)
Net cash used in financing activities RVE RS TR € 5 (3,195)
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE_-_Z_NFE+_-_A=+—HILtFE

42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 42. {F&8R&RKEXRMFE
CASH FLOWS
a) Major non-cash transactions (a) EXFEHRERH
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial e E B R R E bt 5 B
statements, the Group has following major non-cash WEEIN NEEEF T
transactions: BEAFELTS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group BHz_Z-_mWE+ = A
recognised right-of-use assets by incurring lease liabilities —t+—HLEE AEEB
of approximately RMB2,293,000 (2023: approximately BELXTHEABRHOAR
RMB1,009,000). 2,293,000 (= F — =4 :
A FE#1,009,000T ) T #E
REAREE -
b) cChanges in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEFTHMBARED
activities
Convertible Interest
notes payables
designated (included
as financial Interest- in “Trade
liabilities bearing and other Lease
atFVPL  horrowings payables”) liabilities Total
EEARAT EMREGEA
EitABHEZ [ERER
SREENT RER A
BRER GERE  ERRED HEaE ek
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-f—0 65,089 4,653 1814 1325 72,881
Changes from financing cash flows BEREHELE (10,864) 3,044 (2,033) (780) (10,633)
Changes in fair value of convertible  JEE BIRATEFTABEZ
notes designated as financial SRHEBRNITRRER
liabilities at FVPL (\ote 27) ATERE (M) (2,554) - - - (2,554)
New leases it - - - 1,009 1,009
Interest expenses FER% - - 1,970 82 2,052
Rent concession received BEhEeER - - - (68) (68)
Exchange difference ERER 1,543 - - () 1,542
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=§+-A=t+-H
and 1 January 2024 k-B-m&E-A-H 53,214 7,697 1,751 1,567 64,229
Changes from financing cash flows BER&HELE - (1,571) (795) (783) (3,149)
New leases T - - - 2,293 2,293
Interest expenses FERS - - 2,144 81 2,225
Rent concession received BEhEsER - - - (21) (21
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Wote 37)  WEMB R R (#17#31) - 34,300 - - 34,300
Disposal of subsidiaries (Vote 29) HENBRRI(MZ29) - - - (1,636) (1,636)
Issug of shares BIRH (55,515) - - - (55,515)
Exchange difference EAER 2,301 - - - 2,301
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+-A=1+-A - 40,426 3,100 1,501 45,027
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43. LITIGATIONS 43. Rk

198

As referred to the announcement of the Company dated 18
January 2021, the Company has received a civil judgement
(the "Judgement”) dated 22 December 2020 issued by 3t=
MEMNFFARZERT (the No. 4 Intermediate People’s Court of
Beijing*) (the “Intermediate People’s Court”) in relation to
a litigation (the "Litigation”) brought by 1t = XL BRI gt &
FAERM AR AF (Beijing Cultural Technology Finance Lease
Company Limited*) (the “Plaintiff”) against, among others, (a)
the Company; (b) then subsidiary, Fujian Sanai Pharmaceutical
Company Limited (“Fujian Sanai”) which was disposed of in
April 2019; (c) Lin Ouwen, a former executive director; and (d)
Lin Min, a former executive director.

The Plaintiff first filed a statement of claim (the “Statement
of Claim”) with the Intermediate People’s Court on 30 August
2018, whereby, among others, the Plaintiff alleged that (i)
Fujian Sanai had entered into a finance lease agreement (the
“Finance Lease Agreement”) with the Plaintiff on 21 March
2016, pursuant to which the Plaintiff agreed to lease certain
assets to Fujian Sanai for a term of 36 months with a total
leasing cost of RMB 134,954,600 and an interest rate of 8.3%; (ii)
each of the Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min, entered into a
guarantee agreement with the Plaintiff respectively to provide
joint guarantee (the “Guarantee”) for the debts owed by Fujian
Sanai under the Finance Lease Agreement; and (iii) Fujian Sanai
had failed to pay the rent payable under the Finance Lease
Agreement since 20 August 2017, and the Company, Lin Ouwen
and Lin Min had failed to fulfill their obligations as guarantors.
The Statement of Claim was received by the Company in July
2019.

As such, the Plaintiff demanded, among others, that (i) Fujian
Sanai immediately pay to the Plaintiff the unpaid due rent in the
amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest accrued
thereon, undue rent in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21,
default payment in the amount of RMB4,759,298.22 (being 10%
of the undue rent), the legal fees in the amount of RMB800,000,
the retention purchase price of RMB100 and the cost incurred
in relation to the Litigation; and (ii) the Company, Lin OQuwen
and Lin Min be jointly liable for the debts owed by Fujian Sanai
under the Finance Lease Agreement.
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43. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

The Plaintiff also submitted to the Intermediate People’'s
Court a copy of the alleged minutes of the Board meeting (the
“Board Meeting") held on 22 March 2016 on which resolutions
(the “Resolutions”) were passed to approve, inter alia, the
provision of the Guarantee by the Company. However, only two
of the then Directors, Lin Ouwen and Lin Qingping, were shown
to have attended and voted on the Resolutions.

Pursuant to the Judgement, among other things, Fujian Sanai
shall, within ten days of the Judgement, pay to the Plaintiff the
unpaid due rent under the Finance Lease Agreement in the
amount of RMB33,855,032.69 with the default interest accrued
thereon, the accelerated due rent under the Finance Lease
Agreement in the amount of RMB47,592,982.21, the default
payment in the amount of RMB4,759,298.22, the retention
purchase price of RMB100, the legal fees in the amount
of RMB800,000, the announcement fees in the amount of
RMB2,650, the preservation insurance fees in the amount of
RMB175,636.06 and the preservation fees in the amount of
RMB5,000 (collectively the “Litigation Amount”); and the
Company, Lin Ouwen and Lin Min shall be jointly liable for the
Litigation Amount, and they are entitled to claim against Fujian
Sanai after discharging of such joint liabilities.

As referred to the announcement of the Company dated
4 February 2021, the Company has lodged an appeal (the
“Appeal”) against the Judgement to it K=& A RIEE
(the Higher People’s Court of Beijing*) (the “Higher People’s

Court”) on 22 January 2021.

Pursuant to the Appeal, the Company has pleaded to the Higher
People’s Court to rule that the Finance Lease Agreement and
the Guarantee were invalid, and to reject all of the Plaintiff's
claims.

The Company has received a civil judgement dated 18
December 2023 (the “Civil Judgement”) on the Appeal from
the Higher People’s Court. Pursuant to the Civil Judgement,
among other things, (i) the judgement of the Intermediate
Court was dismissed; and (ii) the case was returned to the
Intermediate People’s Court for retrial (the “Retrial”).

* English name Is translated for identification purpose only.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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43.

44,

LITIGATIONS (Continued)

Up to the date of approving the consolidated financial
statements, the hearing of the Retrial is in progress.

Details of the Litigation were disclosed in the Company's
announcements dated 18 January 2021, 4 February 2021, 1 June
2023 and 19 December 2023.

The directors of the Company are of the view that no provision
should be provided concerning the Litigation as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 in light of the basis as stated in the Appeal.
However, the result of the Retrial was not yet available up to
the date of approving the consolidated financial statements,
which led to the uncertainties on the extent and financial
impact arising from the Litigation on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, there are no significant subsequent events
occurred to be disclosed.
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RESULTS

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and other gain, net
Distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Share of resuitts of associates
Other loss on assets

Finance costs

Profit/(l0ss) before tax
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year from
continuing operations

Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from
discontinued operation

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
— Profit/(loss) from
continuing operations
— Profit from discontinued operation

Profit attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests
— Profit/(loss) from
continuing operations

Profit/(loss) attributable to
non-controlling interests

Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Dividend paid

KEGERY
Yz
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Ht A REREFE
DHKE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T FEHMEHE
x|
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t-BLtEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
CECEE “E--£ “E-CE —F-=% —E-MmE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL ANREFT AREFT ANREFTL ARETR
(Re-presented)
(8 %5)

121,404 67,608 175,923 107,765 85,217
(90,483) (27,053) (84,248) (78,543) (68,353)
30921 40,555 91,675 29222 16,864
799 777 2919 6,930 5,279
(2,909 (638) (1,602 (779) (6,252)
(11933) (15,085) (35,265) (13,909) (26,178)
- - - - (456)

(225) (109) (164) (52) -

- - (1.792) (2028) (2,196)
16,653 25,500 55,771 19,384 (12,939)
(5,161) (8,625) (20,574) (8,442) (968)
11,492 16,875 35,197 10,942 (13,907)
- - - 2425 17,308
11,492 16,875 35,197 13367 3,401
6,422 9,025 29217 16,208 (12,416)

- - - 2425 17,308

6,422 9,025 29217 18,633 4,892
5,070 7850 5980 (5,266) (1,491)
5,070 7,850 5,980 (5,266) (1,491)
11,492 16,875 35,197 13,367 3,401
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMBHRE

Earnings/(loss) per share

Basic

— from continuing and
discontinued operations

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operation

Diluted
— from continuing and
discontinued operations

— from continuing operations

— from discontinued operation

SRERN/ (B8)
AR
— BREERERLEE

—BREERH

—BRLLRH

a3
—BELERCRILRR

—BERERK

—BRIEEH

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

REE

BaE

EEFE

Year ended 31 December

HETZA=T-HILER

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TECEE “E--F -E-CE —E-=k —E-mE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL AREFT AREFT AREFTL AEET
(Adjusted)
(lm5)
RMBO0.2 cent RMB0.3 cent RMB095cent  RMB14.52cent  RMB3.37 cent
ARE0.25 AR®03%  ARK09%  AR®U5S ARE337%
RMBO0.2 cent RMBO3cent  RMBO95cent  RMB12.63cent RMB(8.54) cent
AR%024 ARE03D  ARB09S7  AR®12637 ARE(8.54)%
- - - RMB1.89 cent  RMB11.91 cent
ARE1897 AR¥11.91%
RMBO0.2 cent RMB0.3 cent RMB0.89 cent  RMB12.73cent  RMB3.37 cent
AR#025 AR®0372 ARK0897  AR®12735 ARM3.37%
RMBO.2 cent RMBO.3cent  RMB0.89cent  RMB11.13cent RMB(8.54) cent
ARE0.25 AR®03%  AR%089% AR®11.135 ARE(8.54)%
- - - RMB1.60 cent  RMB11.91 cent
ARE1609 AR¥11.91%
BEERAR
Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=1+—BILFE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TF T —E--fF  ZECZ=fF  eielifd
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARETE BNEE0
290,650 311,237 384,819 383,440 468,964
(89,125) (91,686) (128,742) (113,769) (117,358)
201,525 219,551 256,077 269,671 351,606
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